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.2 External Auditor: Audit Management Report     

  (This paper has been withheld from website publication 
  on grounds of commercial confidentiality) 
 
A9 Estates Development  
 

(These papers have been withheld from website publication 
 on grounds of commercial confidentiality) 
 

continues………………. 



 2 

 Board of Governors 8th December 2015. Agenda (continued) 
 
A10 Director of Development: update       
 For information 
 
 (This paper has been withheld from website publication 
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 .7 Occupational Health & Safety Committee, 20th November 2015 B4.7 
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THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
 

 
Minutes:  9th October 2015    
 
Present: Ms Muriel Gray    Lay Governor (Chair) 
        

Ms Kerry Aylin Support Staff Representative 
Ms Alison Lefroy Brooks Lay Governor and Vice-Chair 
Professor Tom Inns Director 
Mr Douglas Kinnaird Lay Governor 
Ms Eleanor McAllister  Lay Governor 
Mrs Linda McTavish Lay Governor 
Professor Ken Neil    Academic Council Representative 
Mr Lewis Prosser President, Students’ Association 

 Ms Christa Reekie    Lay Governor 
Mr Ken Ross   Lay Governor 
Sir Muir Russell    Lay Governor and Vice-Chair 
Dr Sarah Smith    Academic Staff Representative 
Ms Lesley Thomson Lay Governor 
Professor Alison Yarrington Lay Governor 

 
Attending:     Ms Janet Allison Head of Policy and Governance 
 Mr Eliot Leviten                   Director of Finance and Resources 

Dr Craig Williamson    Registrar 
Mr John Martin    Assistant Secretary to the Board  
   

 
1. Welcome and Apologies for Absence 

 
The Board welcomed Dr Sarah Smith, newly elected as the Governor representing the 
School’s academic staff, Ms Janet Allison, recently appointed as Head of Policy and 
Governance, and Mr Lewis Prosser, the new President of the Students’ Association. 
Apologies were received from Mr Douglas Brown, Dr Janet Brown and Dr Simon Groom.       

 
2. Declarations of Interest 
 
 None. 
 
3. Minutes and Notes 

 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th June 2015 were approved. 

 
4. Report from the Chair 
 

.1 Re-appointments to the Board  
 

As previously agreed by correspondence, the Board had reappointed (on the 
recommendation of the Nominations Committee) three Governors for further 
terms: 
 
- Mr Douglas Brown, to serve from July 2015 to June 2018 (final term) 
 
- Ms Christa Reekie, to serve from January 2016 to December 2018 (final  

  term) 
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- Sir Muir Russell, to serve from November 2015 to October 2018 (final 

term) 
 

.2 Dr Simon Groom 
 
 Simon Groom’s term of office was about to expire and he would now leave the 

Board. The Board’s gratitude would be conveyed to Simon for his many 
contributions to the work of the School.   

 
.3 Staff Governors 
 
 Professor Ken Neil had been reappointed as the Academic Council’s 

representative on the Board. Ms Kerry Aylin had been reappointed (following an 
election) as the Governor representing the School’s support staff. Dr Sarah Smith 
had been appointed (following an election) as the Governor representing the 
School’s academic staff. 

 
.4 Appointment of new Lay Governors 

 

Further to the report made to the Board’s previous meeting, the Nominations 
Committee had approved a Role Description for inclusion in the forthcoming 
advertisement for new Lay Governors. The recruitment pack for these 
appointments would also reflect the Boards’ Guidelines on the Appointment and 
Renewal of Lay Governors and the Board’s Policy on Diversity and Equality, as 
approved in December 2014. Governors were invited to assist wherever possible 
in the identification of suitable new Lay Governors. 

 
5. Remuneration Committee 
 

The Remuneration Committee had just met and some of the matters considered would    
be reported to the Board’s next meeting.  There were two matters for immediate report: 
 
i) Severance Payments 
 

The Committee had considered an arrangement for the School’s administration of 
severance payments, which was consistent with the latest version of the Scottish 
Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum (December 2014). The proposed 
arrangement had been circulated to the Board as Paper A13.1, and was 
approved.  
 

ii) Guidance from Scottish Chairs on Remuneration Committees 
 
 The Committee of Scottish Chairs (of HE governing bodies) had issued guidance 

to member institutions on the operation of their remuneration committees 
(circulated to the Board as Paper A13.2). Included in this document was the 
principle that governing bodies should provide policy guidance to remuneration 
committees on the remuneration of senior staff. An overall guidance framework on 
the operation of the Remuneration Committee would now be prepared and 
presented to the Board’s next meeting. 

  
6. Report from the Director 

 
This minute has been withheld from the website version of the Minutes on the grounds of 
commercial confidentiality. 
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7. Estates Development 
 

This minute has been withheld from the website version of the Minutes on the grounds of 
commercial confidentiality. 
 

8. Student Recruitment 
 
The Director of Finance and Resources reported that the initial data on student 
registration for the new academic year suggested that the School would achieve, and 
possibly exceed, its budgeted recruitment target, which reflected an exceptional effort by 
all concerned.  

 
9. Health and Safety Update  

 
The Registrar introduced the Annual Report on Health and Safety Management (Paper 
A9.2), which demonstrated the major progress made in the past year. The Board also 
noted the Health and Safety Management Plan for 2015/16 (Paper B8.1) and the Fire 
Risk Assessment Programme for 2015/16 (Paper B8.2). 

 
10 Governance 
 
 .1 Higher Education Governance Bill 
 

The Board noted a response to the Scottish Government’s Higher Education 
Governance Bill (Paper A.10.1), prepared by the Director. The majority of 
governing bodies and leaders of Scottish HEIs were in agreement in still having 
strong reservations regarding the proposed legislation. Student bodies and 
representatives were perhaps more divided in their responses.  

 
.2 Statement of Corporate Governance 2015/16 
 

 The Board approved the School’s Statement of Corporate Governance for 
2015/16 (Paper B10.1)  
 

.3 Academic Council and Board Committees: Remits, Memberships and Procedures 
 2015/16 

 
The Board approved the remits, memberships and procedures for the Academic 
Council and the Board’s committees for the 2015/16 academic year, as contained 
in Paper B10.2.  
 

.4 Publication of Board Papers 
 
 The Board considered options for the future publication of its agendas, papers and 

minutes, as outlined in Paper A10.2. The Board was keen to be as transparent as 
possible in publication of these papers (Board minutes were already routinely 
published on the School’s website), while recognising that some of the content 
was commercially sensitive. The important role of paper authors in facilitating 
appropriate publication was recognised.  The Board agreed that its agenda, 
papers and minutes would be published on the GSA website, subject to the 
removal of commercially sensitive or other confidential information.  

 
11. Students’ Association: Report from the President  
 

The President of the Students’ Association reported that Fresher’s Week had been 
successful, with activities including safety initiatives and collaboration with the Students’ 
Association at the Royal Conservatoire. Trading had been healthy during September and 
the Association had raised funds to provide small grants for student projects.  
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12.   Glasgow School of Art Enterprises Ltd (GSAE) 
 

 This minute has been withheld from the website version of the Minutes on the grounds of 
commercial confidentiality. 

 
13.   Annual Accounts 2014/15 
 
  The Board noted a letter from the External Auditors (Scott Moncrieff), confirming the 

details of the audit of the School’s Annual Accounts for 2014/15. An early draft of those 
accounts had been circulated (Paper B7.2) and an updated version, containing two 
adjustments, was tabled. The final version of the accounts would be presented to the 
Board in December 2015, following scrutiny by the Audit Committee and the Business 
and Estates Committee.  

 
14.  Leadership Foundation Courses 2015/16 
 
  Members had been provided with printed copies of the Leadership Foundation for Higher 

Education’s Governor Development Programme for 2015/16 and the Chair reminded 
Governors that the School would be pleased to arrange for them to attend any of the 
courses listed in the publication.  

 
15. Action Points 
 

The Board noted its list of Action Points (Paper B1). It was confirmed that a visit by some 
Governors to Forres would be arranged in the near future.  

 
16. GSA/University of Glasgow Strategic Partnership 
 

The Board noted an initial report on the work of the working group set up to explore the 
definition of a formal Memorandum of Understanding between the School and the 
University of Glasgow (Paper B2), and the revision of the existing Memorandum of 
Agreement. 
 

17.  Strategic Plan 2015-18 and Risk Register 
 

 Further to the approval by the Board of the final version of the Strategic Plan 2015 -18 
(confirmed by correspondence in September 2015), the Board noted an update from the 
Director of Marketing, Communications and Strategic Planning (Paper B3), which 
included details of future reporting to the Board and Audit Committee on planning 
outcomes and the Risk Register.  

 
18.  National Student Survey (NSS) and Postgraduate Taught Experience Survey (PTES) 
 
 The Board noted a report on the NSS and PTES outcomes for 2015 (Paper B4). 
 
19. Annual report to SFC on Institution-led Review of Quality and Governing Body 

Statement of Assurance 
 
 The Board endorsed the Annual Report to the Scottish Funding Council on Institution-Led 

Review of Quality and Governing Body Statement of Assurance (Paper B5). 
 
20. Enhancement-Led Institutional Review (ELIR) Follow-Up Report 
 
 The Board noted the Follow-Up Report to the 2014 Enhancement-Led Institutional 
 Review (ELIR).  
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21. Reports from Board Committees 
 

 The Board noted the Minutes of the following meetings: 
 

 Audit Committee, 31st August 2015 (Paper B9.1) 
(including approval of a Letter of Variation from Barclay’s Bank) 

 Business and Estates Committee, 31st August 2015 (Paper B9.2) 

 Mackintosh Restoration Committee, 10th September 2015 (Paper B9.3) 

 Human Resources Committee, 8th September 2015 (Paper B9.4) 

 Occupational Health and Safety Committee, 13th July 2015 (Paper B9.5) 

 Occupational Health and Safety Committee, 2nd September 2015 (Paper B9.6) 
 

22.  Equality and Diversity 
 
 The Board noted the School’s Equality and Diversity Report 2014/15 and Operational 

Plan 2015/16 (Paper B11) 
 
23. Dates of Board and Committee Meetings 2015/16 
 
 The Board noted an updated list of the dates of its meetings in 2015/16, together with the 

dates of meetings of the Board’s committees (Paper B12) 
 
24. Date of Next Meeting 
 

Tuesday 8th December 2015 at 1.30 pm  
 

 
 
JM 
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STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
 
THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

 
Report to the Board of Governors on the Meeting held on 9th October 2015 
(based on the Minutes of the meeting, but with confidential personal information withheld) 

 
 
Present: Ms Alison Lefroy-Brooks Vice-Chair and Chair, Audit Committee (Chair) 
  Ms Muriel Gray  Chair of the Board of Governors  
  Sir Muir Russell  Vice-Chair, Board of Governors 

 
Attending: Professor Tom Inns  Director  

Mr Eliot Leviten             Director of Finance and Resources 
Dr Craig Williamson  Registrar  
Mr David Dalziel  Head of Human Resources 

  
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

Mr John Martin, Assistant Secretary to the Board 
 

2. Minutes of Meeting held on 9 March 2015 
 

A minor adjustment was made to section 2.1 of the minute to confirm that the increase 
applied had been phased, following which the minutes of the previous meeting were 
approved. 
 

3. 2015-16 Pay Round Update 
 

The Head of Human Resources presented a paper to the Committee providing an update 
on the current pay round. An offer of 1% (with a slightly greater increase for the first eight 
points on the national scale) had been made by the University and Colleges Employers 
Association (UCEA) and rejected by three of the five trade unions who were part of the 
bargaining structure.  
 
The disputes procedure had been invoked and meetings held to discuss the matter 
further. There had been no change to the offer and the unions were considering their next 
steps. 
 
The paper sought approval from the Committee that on the basis that 1% was applied to 
all staff that was part of the national pay structure, the same increase should be applied 
to staff whose salary were currently set by the Committee. This was agreed. It was noted 
that as was previously agreed, the four individuals who had received an adjustment to 
their salary level earlier in 2015 would not be entitled to a further increase.  
 

4. New Posts for Remuneration Committee consideration 
 
The Head of Human Resources presented a paper requesting that two additional posts 
be added to those currently dealt with by the Committee. The Committee agreed this 
proposal and also agreed salary increases for the two postholders concerned (salary 
range £50,000 - £60,000).  
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5. Guidance from Scottish HEI Chairs 
 

The Head of Human Resources presented a paper in respect of recent guidance on the 
operation of Remuneration Committees issued by the Committee of Scottish Chairs. 
 
The Committee discussed the paper in detail in relation to how it would impact on the 
current operation of the Committee and its link to the Board of Governors. It was 
recognised that the Board had a role to play in providing policy guidance to the 
Committee and consideration was given as to how this could effectively be achieved. 
 
A separate procedure dealing with Severance Arrangements had been approved earlier 
in 2015 in line with Scottish Funding Council guidelines, and this procedure had now 
been presented to the imminent meeting of the Board of Governors for approval. 
 
The Committee also discussed the requirement that there should be external review of its 
practices and considered that this would best be achieved by incorporating the operation 
of the Committee into the GSA internal audit plan. 
 
In order to bring the various strands of the guidance together, the Committee agreed that 
the Head of Human Resources should prepare a Framework document bringing together 
the following documents: 
 

 The remit of the Remuneration Committee 

 The procedure for Severance Arrangements 

 Guidance from the Committee of Scottish Chairs 
 
The draft document would be circulated to members for comment and approval before 
being submitted to the Board at their December 2015 meeting. 
 

6. Any Other Business 
 

There was no further business. 
 
 
 
 
 

(ends) 
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Board of Governors, December 2015, Paper A6.2 

 
Remuneration Committee Framework 
December 2015 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy control  
 

Reference  Remco Framework 

Date approved  December 2015 

Approving Bodies  
Remuneration Committee, Board of 
Governors 

Implementation Date  December 2015 

Supersedes  N/A 

Supporting policy  N/A 

Review date  Annual 

Author  David Dalziel 

Date of Impact assessment  TBC (EIA awaiting sign off) 
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The Glasgow School of Art 
 
Governance Framework – Remuneration Committee      
    
Background 
 
The School has a remuneration committee which operates under a remit agreed by the Board. The 
committee, which operates under delegated authority from the Board, agrees the salary levels for 
senior staff that are paid out with the range of the nationally agreed pay spine. 
 
This Framework document brings together the three key documents which govern the operation of 
the remuneration committee: 
 

A. The remit as agreed by the Board      Page 3 
B. Application of policy guidance issued by the Committee of Scottish Chairs Page 4 
C. The Administration of Severance Arrangements     Page 6 

 
This document and the constituent parts will be subject to annual review by the Board. 
 
Operational responsibility for the constituent parts of this Framework document is as follows: 
 

A. Remit – Assistant Secretary to the Board 
B. Policy Guidance issued by Committee of Scottish Chairs – Head of HR 
C. Administration of Severance Arrangements – Director of Finance and Resources 

 
David Dalziel 
Head of HR 
December 2015 
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A. The Remit of the Remuneration Committee 
 
Remit  
 
The Committee will be responsible for agreeing annually the remuneration of those senior staff not 
covered through national pay scales, and for considering the terms and conditions and severance 
payments for such staff (subject to Scottish Funding Council guidance).  
 
Membership  
 

 The Chair of the Audit Committee (Chair)  

 The Chair of the Board of Governors  

 The Vice-Chair(s) of the Board of Governors  
 

 The Director (In attendance)  

 The Director of Finance and Resources (In attendance)  

 The Registrar (in attendance)  
 
(The Director, Director of Finance and Resources, and Registrar shall leave meetings when their own 
cases are being discussed)  
 
The membership should have the required expertise to review and determine salaries, terms and 
conditions and, where appropriate, severance payments for the staff within its remit.  
 
Quorum  
 
Three full members  
 
Meetings  
 
The Committee will normally meet on an annual basis and have any further meetings as required.  
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B.  Application of policy guidance issued by Committee of Scottish Chairs 
 
Background 
 
In August 2015 the Committee of Scottish Chairs issued guidance notes on the operation of 
remuneration committees in Scottish higher education. 
 
By agreeing these arrangements the Board of Governors of the School undertakes to follow this 
guidance in principle. It is recognised that there may be variation from the guidance to meet specific 
School needs. If necessary these will be clearly stipulated and subject to Board approval and review. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The remit of the remuneration committee is subject to annual review and this shall take into account 
the published guidance. 
 
Method of Operation and Reporting 
 
The guidance states that: 
 
 “Each year, in advance of the committee’s annual review of senior salaries, the governing body 
should provide policy guidance to the committee.” 
 
The issue to be determined here is what constitutes “policy guidance”? What boundaries do the 
Board set the remuneration committee in terms of their scope to make informed decisions without 
the Board itself by default becoming the remuneration committee?  
 
For example, a recommendation from the Board to the remuneration committee that the nationally 
agreed pay increase should be applied to all staff including those staff whose salaries are set by the 
remuneration committee, would in effect mean that there was little point in the remuneration 
committee meeting to discuss this as the decision had already been taken by the Board. 
 
However, where the remuneration committee does have a clear decision making role is in 
determining what the remuneration package may be for senior members of staff, considering, for 
example: 
 

 What the starting salary should be, based on appropriate benchmark information 

 Whether the increase should be greater/lesser than that agreed for other staff 

 Any other aspect of a remuneration package which may be considered over and above the 
norm 

 
It is in these areas that the Board should provide guidance to the remuneration committee in 
respect of the decision making process. 
 
Procedure 
 

1. At the final meeting of the Board in each academic year, the Board should consider the 
policy guidance it wishes to provide to the remuneration committee. A report will be 
prepared by the Head of HR outlining areas which the Board may wish the remuneration 
committee to consider, for example, an update on the national pay negotiations.  
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2. The remuneration committee will then meet in order to consider the remuneration of senior 
staff based on the policy guidance received from the Board and information received from 
the Director and the Head of HR.  

 
3. The remuneration committee should then report back to the board, no later than the 

December meeting, on the outcome of its deliberations clearly stating the methodology 
used. The Board will consider the level of information that should be placed in the public 
domain but as a minimum the salaries of the group of staff considered by the remuneration 
committee shall be published in £10k salary bands and broken down by gender. 

 
Review of Remuneration Committee Practices 
 
The operation of the remuneration committee in relation to its remit and oversight of severance 
arrangements shall be subject to internal audit. Further to this the guidance also recommends that: 
 
 “There should be external review of the remuneration committee’s practices. This may take place 
through the appointment of an external expert to act as an observer on the panel and/or through a 
periodic effectiveness review, conducted by an external expert.” 
 
The guidance does not specify what the role of the external expert is, or how or to whom, they 
would raise any concerns or observations regarding the operation of the remuneration committee.  
 
Procedure 
 

1. The remuneration committee should be subject to annual internal audit carried out by GSA’s 
Internal Auditors, currently BDO, and that this should be built into the audit plan. This shall 
be reported to the Audit Committee of the Board and then to the Board itself.  

 
2. Additionally the Board may undertake periodic effectiveness reviews of the remuneration 

committee as it deems appropriate. This may include external input. 
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C. The Administration of Severance Arrangements 
 
Background 
 
Under the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum, which came into effect on 1 December 
2014, the School is required to formalise the current practice in respect of the administration of 
severance payments. 
 
The SFC require that institutions set a limit over which any payment must be referred to the SFC’s 
Chief Executive (the “Accountable Officer”) for consultation prior to the payment being made. 
 
Settlement Agreements 
 
Settlement agreements are legally binding agreements entered into between an employer and 
employee in order to terminate a contract of employment. Under the Agreement, the employee will 
waive their right to raise a claim against the employer and an amount of compensation for loss of 
office will be agreed. Additional payments which may also be included in a Settlement Agreement 
include – pay in lieu of notice (PILON), holiday pay, and legal fees (this list is not exhaustive). 
 
Negotiations in respect of Settlement Agreements are by nature highly sensitive. It is necessary to 
ensure that there is a proper level of management oversight and governance to ensure that 
Agreements are scrutinised effectively. 
 
Authorisation Arrangements 
 
The following authorisation arrangements will apply: 
 
The Head of HR and/or Depute Head of HR will normally lead all negotiations in respect of 
Settlement Agreements. This will involve discussion with the appropriate Head of School/Service and 
with members of senior management as required in respect of the parameters of the Agreement.   
 
Agreements up to a value of £75,000 
 
Once the negotiations in respect of the Settlement Agreement have concluded and a final position 
has been reached, the approval of the Director, Director of Finance and Resources, and Registrar 
must be obtained (see attached form). The Settlement Agreement itself will be signed in the normal 
manner. 
 
Agreements with a value between £75,001 and £99,999 
 
In addition to the approval of the Director, Director of Finance and Resources, and the Registrar; the 
approval of the Remuneration Committee must also be obtained. It is recognised that whilst it is 
desirable for the Committee to meet to discuss cases, it may not always be possible to arrange this 
within an appropriate time scale and therefore approval may be sought by email. In order to ensure 
security, information will be provided via a password protected file.  
 
Agreements with a value of £100,000 and above 
 
In addition to the arrangements above, details of any payment of £100,000 and above must be 
forwarded to the SFC’s Chief Executive (the “Accountable Officer”) for consultation prior to the 
payment being made. 

16 of 182



 

7 
 

 
Other Arrangements 
 

1. The drafting of Settlement Agreements shall be carried out by the School’s solicitors who 
shall advise on any legal issues. 

 
2. Should the Settlement Agreement relate to the Director, Director of Finance and Resources, 

the Registrar or any other member of the Executive Group; this must be approved by the 
Remuneration Committee irrespective of the value of the Agreement.  

 
3. The Board of Governors shall receive an annual report through the Remuneration 

Committee providing information on the number of Settlement Agreements approved 
during the previous financial year and their total cost.  

 
4. Where the School is engaged in an Employment Tribunal case, and as part of this engages in 

Judicial Mediation, it may be necessary to seek delegated responsibility to agree a 
settlement within a specified limit.  

 
5. This arrangement does not apply to compulsory redundancy payments, for example, on the 

completion of a fixed term contract.  
 

6. This arrangement shall be reviewed in line with any future changes made to the SFC’s 
Financial Memorandum or following operational considerations. 
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STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 
The Glasgow School of Art 
Voluntary Severance Approval Form 
 

Name  

Role Title  

Area  

 

Grade  Salary  FTE  Leaving date  

 
Background 

 

 
Amounts Agreed 

 £ Equivalent No. of 
Months’ Salary 

Pay in Lieu of Notice   

Compensation for Loss of Office   

Outstanding Holiday Pay   

Legal Fees (over normal £250)   

Relocation Expenses   

Other (please specify):   

   

Total   

 
Comments 

 

 
Signed:  Date:  

 Head of HR/Depute Head of HR   
 
Signed:  Date:  

 Head of School/Service   
 
Authorised by: 
 
Signed:  Date:  

 Director   

Signed:  Date:  

 Director of Finance and Resources   

Signed:  Date:  

 Registrar    
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The Glasgow School of Art 

 
Board of Governors 

 
8th December 2015 

 
Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account for the year to 31 July 2015 
 
The consolidated Income and Expenditure Account for the above period is attached. The Accounts 
now show a surplus of £ 2,948k, an increase of £ 504k on the draft accounts submitted to the 
Business Committee. This is due to the auditors, upon completion of the GSA Development Trust 
audit fieldwork, taking the view that the GSA Development Trust should recognise £ 504k of 
income receivable from the Scottish Government under their matched funding arrangement. 
 
These accounts now show a surplus of £ 2,948k, arrived at as below: 
  
Operational surplus (Note 1)       £     46 k   
Net AXA insurance income retained re Heritage assets (Note 2)   £ 3,449 k 
FRS 17 pension valuation charge (Note 3)     £   (263)k 
Triennial revaluation of unfunded pension liability (Note 4)   £   (394)k 
Cost of Mackintosh Restor’n/Recovery works not yet recovered (Note 5) £   (535k) 
Consolidation of GSA Development Trust surplus    £     141k 
Inclusion of Scottish Government matched funding 
receivable via GSA Development Trust     £     504k 
          ------------  
Surplus per annual accounts          £  2,948k 
          =======  
 
Note 1 
The original budgeted surplus for 2014/15 was £324k but after worse than budgeted student 
recruitment and an anticipated increased deficit at the DDS, an outcome of an £107k surplus was 
forecast. At the date of the August ’15 Business and Estates Committee a small deficit of £61k was 
forecast but the final accounts presented to our auditors show instead a small surplus of £46k.   
 
Note 2 
Whereas we would chose, if it were possible, to exclude insurance proceeds from our operational 
results, current accounting standards require us to include the net un-spent insurance proceeds 
from Axa Art (mainly in respect of our lost Mackintosh Furniture) as operating income. This 
therefore results in a significant £m surplus for the current year – and will result in a significant £m 
deficit when those funds (at some future point) are spent. 
 
Note 3 
Accounting standard FRS17 requires our Annual Accounts to reflect an annual actuarial review of 
our Strathclyde Pension Fund pension scheme in a specified manner – which has added a £263k 
charge in our Accounts. It should be noted that this charge is not a ‘cash’ cost and is purely an 
accounting adjustment and this charge – which cannot be calculated by the actuary until after the 
year-end – is being borne by all HEIs in the SPF (and their other pension schemes) in proportion to 
the size of their payroll. If the relevant pension schemes do not hold sufficient assets to match their 
liabilities, there will eventually be an increase in pension contributions and/or a change in scheme 
benefits – and most probably an actuarial credit to our accounts as a result. It should also be noted 
that these annual actuarial reviews can result in either credits or charges, depending on how well 
the previous annual actuarial review forecast the future. It is therefore impossible to reflect the 
outcome of these actuarial reviews in our budgets. It should also be noted that the School’s other 
significant pension scheme, the Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme, is not subject to this 
actuarial review as it is an unfunded pension scheme. Finally, it should also be noted that a further 
change in accounting standards, FRS102, will affect our Accounts for 2015/16 and is likely to result 
in an even larger (but still non-cash) charge to those Accounts, based on the outcome of this year’s 
FRS17 actuarial review. This is also of concern to other HEIs and a Paper on this impact will be 
produced for the next Audit and BEC Committees to consider.    19 of 182



 
 
 
Note 4 
About 20 years ago the School offered a number of academic staff early access to their pensions, 
on the basis that the School agreed to pay the cost of part of those pensions to reflect that this 
gave the staff, effectively, early retirement benefits. It is unfortunate that this did not result in a 
significant reduction in salary costs as many of these staff were subsequently offered part-time 
contracts. A provision was set-up 20 years ago to reflect the forecast cost of those future pensions. 
Every three years we have the provision actuarially reviewed and depending on how our 
pensioners have lived, on average, compared to how the actuaries predicted at the previous 
triennial review, there is an adjustment – which can be favourable or unfavourable. Over the past 
20 years the initial provision of less than £1m has been increased by well over £1m more. The 
£394k charge for 2014/15 is also not a cash charge. 
 
Note 5 
The School has expended £535k during the year on costs of ‘recovery’ from the Fire that relate 
directly to the Fire but which will not be met by the Insurer (e.g. Archaeological recovery of Library 
debris, increased insurance premiums for Mack, staff and student uninsured losses, Venice & 
Glasgow Symposia etc). We expected to match this expenditure with a debtor from the 
Development Trust in our 2014/15 Annual Accounts but as the Trust currently has no Chair, the 
Director of Development feels it would not be appropriate for him to authorise such a debtor in the 
Trust’s 2014/15 Annual Accounts. He has confirmed that he expects we can recover this sum in 
2015/16 and our Accounts for next year will therefore have a credit of £535k plus any additional 
‘income’ required for further ‘recovery’ expenditure incurred by the School during 2015/16.  
 
Other Notes 
  
The insurance related income and expenditure to maintain operations subsequent to the fire and 
the stabilising works on the Mackintosh Building has now been separately identified in these 
accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alistair Storey 
Head of Finance 
 
November 2015 
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Strategic Report 

Results for the year ended 31 July 2015 
 
1. Status and Ambition 

 
1.1 Status 
The Glasgow School of Art holds a unique and enviable position within UK higher education. We are Scotland’s specialist university-level 
institution for the visual creative disciplines and through the success of our graduates, the quality of our teaching and research and our 
heritage inextricably rooted in the work of Charles Rennie Mackintosh, we enjoy both global significance and influence as one of Europe’s 
leading Centres for studio-based learning and research. Alongside our global position is our place within Glasgow and Scotland and the role 
we have played in the economic and cultural renaissance of the City. 
 
1.2 Ambition 
Our ambition is to be a global leader in studio-based learning and research, collaborating locally, nationally and internationally, transforming 
thinking by developing creative approaches with new audiences. We have the following values: 

 Disruption  - encouraging critical thinking and experimentation 
 Diversity - in our students and staff, thought and outlook 
 Responsibility -  to our planet, each other and those we work with 
 Place -  our heritage, traditions and our locations 
 Collaboration – with our students, colleagues and external parties 

 
 
2. Performance in Year 
 
2.1 Financial Performance 
The Income and Expenditure Account on page 19 shows a surplus of £2,948k (£11,142k surplus 2013/14) on a revaluation basis, for the 
year ended 31 July 2015. These results include the consolidation of the GSA Development Trust for the first time, and the comparative 
figures for 2013-14 have been restated to include the Trust.   
The total net assets of the Group increased by £736k to £83.7m and the cumulative Income and Expenditure Account, (excluding pension 
reserve), increased from £2,878k as at 31 July 2014 to £5,767k as at 31 July 2015. Cash balances have decreased slightly from £7.0m to 
£5.9m during the year. The group shows net current assets of £11.9m (£3.2m 2013/14). This increase is in the most part due to an increase 
in the debtors within the Development Trust, relating to donation monies due from the UK Government, and a reduction in creditors due to 
the release of insurance monies.  
The return on Endowment Asset Investments comprising dividend and bank interest was 8.08%, compared with 6.36% last year.  The 
market value of the total Endowment assets held by the School increased from £3,334k to £3,624k an increase of £290k. The Board 
appointed Investment Committee oversees execution of appropriate investment strategies and monitors performance. 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows a net outflow of £1,231k in the financial year (2013/14 outflow £8,484k).  
 
2.2 Financial Objectives 
The financial sustainability of GSA is as important as its academic sustainability and between 2015/16 and 2017/18 the School will move 
towards an annual surplus of 5%. This will be achieved through growth across our entire portfolio including student numbers, diversification 
of research income, efficiencies through harmonisation of academic programme and academic school structures, more efficient use of our 
estate, improved environmental sustainability, procurement, and the highest levels of Governance.  
 
2.3 Treasury Management, Cashflow and Liquidity 
The financing and liquidity and the School’s exposure to financial risk is overseen by the Board though the Audit Committee and the 
Business and Estates Committee. Each year, forecasts are prepared which consider the cash position of the School given the assumed 
operational movements and planned investment in fixed assets and working capital. This enables the Business and Estates Committee to 
consider any future borrowing requirements in a timely manner. The School’s non-endowment cash balances are primarily held in the form 
of interest bearing deposits with financial institutions. These balances can be invested in major clearing banks. The investment at 31 July 
2015 was £4m invested for a period of 7 months at a rate of 0.95% per annum. Interest rates have remained low for some years now, but 
the situation is monitored regularly.  
 
2.4 Going Concern 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  
 

24 of 182



 

 
3

Strategic Report – continued 
2.5 Public Benefit 
The School has charitable purposes that are only for the public benefit, as defined by the Charities Legislation. These purposes must be 
carried out for the public benefit, which is an integral part of the purpose of the School. It is the opinion of the Board that the School has met 
its charitable objectives.  
 
2.6 Strategic Plan 
The GSA Strategic Plan 2015-18 was approved by the Board of Governors during Academic Year 2014/15. This is a high-level document 
setting out GSA’s ambitions over the next three years. These ambitions will be achieved through a series of strategies, strategic enablers, 
work streams and projects. This is a step change in approach and the ambitions and key performance targets will be achieved through 
multiple developments and the engagement of staff across GSA. This aligns with the three-year Outcome Agreement with the Scottish 
Funding Council 2015-18. 
 
2.7 Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is presented annually with Key Performance Indicators compared to targets covering a series of areas, the principal indicators 
being detailed below.  

KPI measures   Actual Actual Actual Target  
    2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2014/15  
      
% Income non SFC *   39% 42%    36% 26%  
Total Research & KTP income   £2.2m £2.3m £4.0m £2.8m  
Value of (non EU) overseas student income  £4.0m £4.3m £4.1m £4.2m  
% PG students**   18% 19% 21% 25%  

UG Applicants: Enrolments       9.8:1 
   

10.7:1   
 

9.1:1        9.4:1  
% Positive student feedback NSS  80% 78% 80% 85%  
% Graduates in education/working after 6 months 89% 92% 92% 89%  
% Students from under-represented groups 19% 19% 19% 18%  

 

  
 
*excludes insurance income 
** Includes Diploma students 
 
The KPIs and Targets shown above were contained in the School’s 2008-2012 Strategic Plan. Targets for 2015/16 onwards are contained 
within the new Strategic Plan 2015-2018. 
 
2.8 Capital Projects 
Capital Expenditure in the year was £1,423k, considerably lower than the previous year’s figure of £17,731k. The work on the Reid Building 
was completed during the previous year and following the Mackintosh Building fire in May 2014, efforts have been concentrated on the 
relocation of students and staff in temporary locations in various parts of Glasgow.  
 
2.9 Curriculum Developments 
There were no major new programmes commencing in September 2015, however, there are several new Postgraduate programmes going 
through the approvals process currently, with a view to a commencement date of September 2016. These are in the School of Design and 
the Mackintosh School of Architecture.  
 
2.10 Quality Assurance 
Subsequent to GSA’s 2014 ELIR Review, which found that GSA had effective arrangements for managing academic standards and the 
student learning experience and that these arrangements are likely to continue to be effective in the future, on 24 August 2015 the Follow-
Up Report was submitted to QAA Scotland.  
 
GSA student participation in the National Student Survey continue to be above the UK national average (81% compared to 71%) and our 
overall satisfaction improved to 80% in academic session 2014/15 from 78% in the previous academic year. GSA will continue to build on 
the excellent student engagement evidenced by the strong response rate as we seek to further improve our NSS performance.  
Our student retention remains one of the UK’s highest at 95.9% and in challenging economic times, our graduate destinations remain high 
with 92.3% of students either in employment or further study six months after leaving GSA.  
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Strategic Report – continued 
 

2.11 Equality Statement 
Working with difference and promoting equality underpins our ambition and purpose. Our studio based learning, research and collaboration 
transforms thinking and our individual and collective contributions influence the day to day lives of people across local and global 
communities. As a community we are committed to creating and sustaining learning and working environments where difference is 
respected and the widest possible range of cultural and social perspectives are valued. We treat each other fairly, according to need, and 
minimise barriers to participation for all. By fostering environments in which difference nourishes new questions and possibilities and where 
respect is a catalyst for the removal of barriers, we support the learning and development of individuals and our collective contribution to the 
common good. 
 
3. Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
3.1 Key Risks 
The Board has identified a number of risks which could materially affect the GSA’s reputation, income, resources and its ambitions.  In 
general, while the School aims to minimise its exposure to risk, we recognise that to achieve its objectives, a degree of risk should be 
accepted and managed appropriately.  Specifically, the Board has identified significant risks faced by the School relating to: 
 
 

 The possibility of funding cuts following the Comprehensive Funding Review; 
 Mitigating the financial consequences of REF 2014 whilst continuously improving research performance in preparation for REF 

2020; 
 Retaining, recruiting, motivating and developing the required calibre and number of staff to deliver on our ambitious strategy for 

growth; 
 Developing and progressing an affordable Estates Strategy to fit in with GSA’s academic ambitions; 
 Successfully  funding and restoring the Mackintosh Building; 
 Ensuring that our Information Technology infrastructure keeps pace with changing academic needs and delivers operational 

efficiency; and   
 Maintaining our international standing and achieving our internationalisation ambition, which extends our global reach and the 

international experience of our staff and students. 
    

 
The nature of risk is such that other risks may arise, or risks not currently considered material may become so in the future. The School has 
reviewed its School-wide risk management process and how it identifies, evaluates and manages risk with appropriate controls and actions 
put in place to mitigate risks identified. The current process is outlined in the Statement of Corporate Governance with a revised process to 
be implemented in Academic Year 2015/16 as part of the Strategic Plan 2015-18 implementation. 
 
 
3.2 Financial Risk Management 
Foreign Currency Risk 
The School does not enter into any significant foreign currency transactions. The Governors therefore consider the School is not exposed to 
any material foreign currency movement risk. 
Credit Risk 
The School is exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-performance by transaction counterparties but mitigates such risk by 
selecting only counterparties with high credit ratings. 
Liquidity Risk 
Operations are financed by SFC grants, student fees, research and consultancy contracts and bank balances. In addition the School has an 
overdraft facility which it has not utilised. The objective is to ensure a mix of funding methods offering flexibility and cost effectiveness to 
match the needs of the School. 
Cash Flow Risk 
The School currently has £4m on deposit with Barclays Bank. This is due to mature in January 2016, and will most likely be reinvested at 
that point. Interest rates remain low currently, with no indication that this will change in the near future.  
 
 
3.3 Health and Safety 
The Director, on behalf of the Board of Governors, is responsible for the health and safety of all staff, students and visitors to the School and 
for adherence to the School’s Health and Safety Policy. The School employs a Health and Safety Officer, a Health and Safety Advisor and a  
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Strategic Report – continued 
 
Fire Regulatory Compliance Officer to provide advice and assistance. Under the School’s Health and Safety Policy, managers, staff and 
students all have individual responsibilities for health and safety. 

 
 
4. Future Developments  
 
4.1 Funding 
The outlook for public sector funding for 2015/16 and onwards is very challenging, and there is the risk that the Scottish Funding Council will 
seek to reduce the teaching funding provided to HE institutions from 1 August 2016. Scenario planning is currently being undertaken to 
investigate various options for mitigating any reduction in core teaching and research funding.  
 
4.2 Estate 
Following the Mackintosh Building fire in May 2014, major restoration work is due to start shortly. Enabling work is nearing completion and 
the tender for the main contractor will be issued in February 2016, with a view to commencement of the restoration in May 2016.  An Estates 
Strategy is currently being implemented to further improve the Garnethill Campus. The School completed a project with an external 
developer to provide a new student residence at Blythswood House, with 224 bed spaces created. The development was completed in 
August 2015, and an occupancy rate of 98% from September 2015 was achieved.  
 
4.3 Student Recruitment 
The School continues to receive many more undergraduate applications than it has funded places and it has more Scottish/EU applicants 
per funded place than any other Scottish higher education institution.  The School is able to attract a significant proportion of overseas 
students and it is the School’s intention to increase the number of full-fee paying overseas students as well as the number of Home/EU PG 
students, as it is not allowed to offer more undergraduate places to Scottish/EU applicants.  The marketing strategy for recruitment of 
students is regularly reviewed, as future recruitment may be significantly affected by changes to the tuition fees systems, the state of the 
economy and difficulties in obtaining visas in certain countries from which the School recruits on a regular basis.  
 
Student Fee income increased to £9.22m compared to £8.72m in the previous year, against a backdrop of increasing competition within the 
sector. For entry 2015/16 the School has increased both its total undergraduate and postgraduate applications, from 5,331 in entry year  
2014 to 5,955 in entry year 2015.  International applications have increased by 26% to 1,461 for entry 2015/16, reflecting GSA’s continuing 
international standing and popularity against other leading international art schools. The School was ranked as one of the top ten art schools 
in the world in the highly influential 2015 QS World Subject Rankings. 

 
Our fourth cycle of recruitment to our undergraduate programmes in Singapore was successfully completed.  The programme, in partnership 
with the Singapore Institute of Technology and Temasek Polytechnic, continues to be a popular choice for students, attracting a high calibre 
of applicant.  The second Degree Show and graduation was held in Singapore in June 2015. Interior Design students in Singapore won 8 
student awards at the Singapore Design Awards 2015. 

4.4 Research Excellence Framework (REF) 
Despite an improved result in GSA’s REF 2014, the financial consequences of improved research performance by other institutions resulted 
in a reduction in Scottish Funding Council allocated funding for research. GSA continues to increase both the quality of research and, in 
particular, the value of external research income.  
 
4.5 Small Specialist Institution Status 
The School has been designated by SFC as a Small Specialist Institution (SSI) which has led to additional funding to compensate for 
recognised diseconomies of scale. 
 
4.6 Sustainability 
The staff and student-run Sustainability in Action Group is working across the School to drive forward environmental issues within the 
curriculum and across the School’s operations. The GSA community is being encouraged to reduce energy, water and resource use, and 
supported to explore how Scotland’s future artists, designers and architects can react to, work with and communicate climate change in a 
positive, creative way. Funding was awarded from Zero Waste Scotland during 2014/15 for the Volunteer and Community Advocate 
Programme, which recruits champions and teams of volunteers to reduce food waste, encourage re-use and raise recycling levels. GSA 
demonstrated its improving sustainability credentials by moving from 91st to 32nd position out of 150 universities in the Green League.  
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Strategic Report – continued 
 
5. Staff and Students  
 
5.1 Student, graduate and staff successes 
The Phoenix Bursary Programme supported 100 final year fine art students who were impacted by the fire in the Mackintosh Building to take 
up residencies in art schools around the world and at The Whisky Bond in Glasgow, to rebuild their practice. The programme culminated in a 
major show at GSA in August 2015.  
MFA alumnus Duncan Campbell became the 30th winner of the Turner Prize. Campbell is the fifth GSA graduate to win the award since 
Douglas Gordon in 1996 and the fourth MFA graduate in the last ten years. 
The Marketing and Communications team were recognised for “excellence in the face of adversity” for their response to May 2014’s events 
and collected the Outstanding Marketing and Communications Team Award at the Times Higher Education Leadership and Management 
Awards. They also won two prizes at the prestigious Heist Awards for Education Marketing – Marketing Department of the Year and Best 
Prospectus from a Specialist Institution.  
Olivia Qi (Textiles 2015) won Designer of the Year, the top award at New Designers 2015. Silversmithing and Jewellery graduates were also 
successful, the Silversmithing Award was won by Karen Westland and the Jewellery Award was won by Leva Mikutaite.  
Mackintosh School of Architecture alumna Clare Wright made the shortlist for Architects’ Journal Woman Architect of the Year Award 2015. 
Sound for the Moving Image alumnus Kevin Walls won a BAFTA Scotland New Talent Award in the Sound category for his Master’s film 
“Identical”.  
GSA co-hosted the European League of Institutes of the Arts (ELIA) biennial conference with the Royal Conservatoire of Scotland in 
November 2014.  
The Alasdair Gray Season, marking GSA alumnus, writer and artist Alasdair Gray’s 80th birthday, celebrated Gray in a major series of 
exhibitions and events across Glasgow, venues including the Glasgow School of Art, GOMA, Kelvingrove Museum and Glasgow Print 
Studio.  
 
5.2 Staff 
During the year, Liz Davidson, OBE, was appointed as Senior Project Manager for the Mackintosh Restoration, along with Project Manager 
Sarah MacKinnon. Dr Stephen Love was recruited as a Senior Researcher in DDS. Thomas Greenhough was appointed as Interim Director 
at GS of A Singapore and Janet Allison was appointed as Deputy Registrar.  Professor Brian Evans was awarded a personal chair in 
recognition of his work in the Urban Lab within the Mackintosh School of Architecture.  
 
5.3 Board of Governors 
 
In 2014/15, the Board continued to play a central role in supporting the Director and his Executive Group in responding to various 
challenges, including the School’s response to the Mackintosh Building fire of May 2014. A new Board Committee – the Mackintosh 
Restoration Committee – was established to oversee the restoration of the Mackintosh Building. The Board also reviewed the School’s 
health and safety arrangements during 2014/15 and converted the Occupational Health and Safety Committee into a full Board committee.  
 
As mentioned elsewhere in this Report, the Board oversaw development of the School’s Strategic Plan for 2015 -18. The Board’s Statement 
of Corporate Governance was, as usual, revised and updated to ensure compliance with the Scottish Code of Good Practice in Higher 
Education Governance, as were the remits of all the Board’s various committees (see elsewhere in this report for details of the Board’s 
committee structure).  
 
Professor Linda Drew, Deputy Director, left the Board in January 2015, following her appointment as Director of Ravensbourne. Daniel 
Ibbotson left the Board in May 2015 and Dr Simon Groom in October 2015. Will Judge served on the Board as the President of the 
Students’ Association in 2014/15 and was succeeded for 2015/16 by Lewis Prosser. Nicholas Oddy, Academic Staff Governor, left the 
Board in September 2015, having served the maximum term of office. Elections were held in the summer of 2015 for Staff Governors, with 
Kerry Aylin re-elected as Support Staff Governor and Dr Sarah Smith elected as Academic Staff Governor. Professor Ken Neil’s 
appointment as the Governor nominated by the Academic Council was renewed for a further term.  
 
 
 
 
Professor Tom Inns      Muriel Gray 
Director       Chair  
   
   
8 December 2015 
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Directors’ Report 
(incorporating the Responsibilities of the Board Of Governors) 

Governors Ex Officiis 

B, MR, N Prof. Tom Inns BEng (Hons) DIC MDes (RCA) PhD FRSA Director of the School   
 
B,M,N Prof. Linda Drew PhD MA BA (Hons) FRSA FDRS Deputy Director of the School  
      (until January 2015) 
B,MR,M,H, Mr Will Judge   President Students’ Representative Council 
N, OHS     (until 31st July 2015) 
 
B,MR,M,H, Mr Lewis Prosser     President Students’ Representative Council 
N, OHS    (from 1st August 2015) 
 
Appointed by the Governing Board 
A,I,N,R Ms Alison Lefroy Brooks BA (Hons) ACA MCT* 

A, B, I, MRC Mr Douglas Brown BA (Hons) Dipl Arch (Oxford) FRIAS RIBA*      

A, N, OHS Dr Janet Brown BSc PhD FInstP FRSE* 

B,MRC,N,R Ms Muriel Gray BA (Hons)* 

MR Dr Simon Groom MA (Hons) PhD* (until October 2015) 

B Mr Daniel Ibbotson BA (Hons)* (until May 2015) 

 Mr Douglas Kinnaird BA CA* 

B,MRC,N Ms Eleanor McAlister OBE MA MSc FRSA*   

H,N Mrs Linda McTavish CBE MA(Hons)* 

B, MRC Ms Christa Reekie Mag.phil Dip Ed LLB Dip NP * 

B, OHS Mr Kenneth Ross OBE* 

A,B,I,N,R Sir Muir Russell KCB FRSE*  

 Ms Lesley Thomson* 

M,N Professor Alison Yarrington BA (Hons) PhD FRSE FSA FRSA *  

Elected Members 

M Prof. Ken Neil MA (Hons) MFA PhD PGCert FHEA Appointed by the Academic Council  

H Ms Kerry Aylin BA (Hons) FHEA EADiM  Elected by the Support Staff  

 Mr Nicholas Oddy BA (Hons) PGDipDes MA(RCA) Elected by the Academic Staff  

      (until September 2015) 

 Dr Sarah Smith BA MA PhD     Elected by the Academic Staff (from October 2015) 

Secretary to the Board of Governors           

B,MR,H,I Mr Eliot S Leviten BSc (Hons) FCA     

  (until October 2014)      

B,MR,H,OHS Dr Craig Williamson LLB (Hons), MSc, PhD (Registrar) 

  (from October 2014) 

      A – Member of Audit Committee     B – Member of Business & Estates Committee 
MRC– Member of Mackintosh Restoration Committee H – Member of Human Resources Committee 
I – Member of Investment Committee    M– Member of Museum & Archive Committee  
N – Member of Nominations Committee   R – Member of Remuneration Committee 
OHS – Member of Occupational Health & Safety Committee 

 
* denotes Independent Board Members 
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Directors’ Report - continued 

 
 
Employment of Disabled Persons 
 
People with disabilities are offered equal opportunities to enter employment and progress within the School.  The School follows procedures 
designed to provide for fair consideration and selection of disabled applicants and to support their training and career development needs. 
 
Employee and Student Involvement 
 
Academic employees of the School elect one Governor to the Board of Governors and through the Academic Council appoint a second 
Governor. Support staff elect one Governor to the Board. The Students’ Representative Council plays a full role in the life of the School and 
the President is a full member of the Board of Governors. 
Governors, academic and support staff and students are represented on the Human Resources Committee, together with trade union 
representatives. 
 
Creditor Payment Policy 
 
It is the School’s policy that payments to suppliers are made in accordance with those terms and conditions agreed between the School and 
its suppliers, provided that all trading terms and conditions have been complied with.  The School endorses the CBI Prompt Payment Code.  
At 31 July 2015 the School had an average of 27 days purchases outstanding in trade creditors. With regard to the late payment of 
Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 there are no matters to disclose. 
 
Disclosure of information to the auditor 
 
To the knowledge and belief of each of the persons who are directors at the time the report is approved: 
 
- So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant material audit information of which the School’s auditor is unaware; and 
 
- He/She has taken all the steps that ought reasonably to have been taken as a member of the Board, in order to make himself/ herself 
aware of any relevant information, and to establish that the School’s auditor is aware of the information. 
 
Statement of Primary Responsibilities 
 
The following statement is an extract from the Scottish Code of good Higher Education Governance: 
 
The governing body shall adopt a Statement of Primary Responsibilities which shall include provisions relating to: 

 approving the mission and strategic vision of the Institution, long-term business plans, key performance indicators (KPIs) and 
annual budgets, and ensuring that these have due regard to the interests of stakeholders; 

 appointing the Head of the Institution (the Director) as chief executive officer of the Institution and putting in place suitable 
arrangements for monitoring his/her performance. Both the appointment and the monitoring of performance of the Director shall 
include consultation with all members of the governing body; 

 ensuring the quality of Institutional educational provision;  
 ensuring adherence to the funding requirements specified by the Scottish Funding Council in its Financial Memorandum and other 

funding documents; 
 ensuring the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability, including financial and operational controls 

and risk assessment, clear procedures for handling internal grievances and “whistleblowing” complaints, and for managing 
conflicts of interest; and 

 monitoring institutional performance against plans and approved KPIs which, where possible and appropriate, should be 
benchmarked against other comparable institutions. 

 
See later in this report for details of the School’s Statement of Corporate Governance. 
 
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Governors for Accounting and Financial Statements 
 
In accordance with the School’s formal governance arrangements, the Board of Governors is responsible for the administration and 
management of the affairs of the School and is required to present audited accounts for each financial year. 
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Directors’ Report - continued 

 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resources to continue its operations for the foreseeable future. For this reason it 
continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the School and to enable it to ensure that the accounts are prepared in accordance with the School’s Memorandum and Articles of 
Association, the Statement of Recommended Practice on Accounting in Further and Higher Education Institutions and other relevant 
accounting standards.  In addition, within the terms and conditions of the Financial Memorandum agreed between the Scottish Funding 
Council and the Board of Governors, the Board, through its designated office holder, is required to prepare financial statements for each 
financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the School and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that year.   
 
In causing the accounts to be prepared, the Board has ensured that: 

 suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 
 judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent; 
 applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 

statements; 
 accounts are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the School will continue in operation. 

 
 
The Board has taken all reasonable steps to: 
 

 ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council are used only for the purposes for which they have been given and in 
accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Funding Council and any other conditions which the Scottish Funding 
Council may from time to time prescribe; 

 ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other 
sources; 

 safeguard the assets of the School and prevent and detect fraud; 
 secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the School’s resources and expenditure. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By order of the Board 
 
     
Ms Muriel Gray      Professor Tom Inns 
Chair of the Board of Governors      Director 
 
8 December 2015 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
The Glasgow School of Art’s governance arrangements are defined through an Order of Council (Scottish Statutory Instrument) derived from 
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992. The School is also a Company Limited by Guarantee. The School is committed to 
employing best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. The School complies with the Scottish Code of Good HE Governance, 
published in July 2013. The School’s own Statement of Corporate Governance (revised and approved by the Board of Governors annually) 
complies fully with the Scottish Code. The School also complies with the appropriate accounting standards and the Scottish Funding 
Council’s Financial Memorandum. 
 
Governing Body, Risk Management and Internal Controls 
The School’s Board of Governors is responsible for the School’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness.  Such a 
system is designed to manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The process for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control is 
through management reports and reports from the internal auditor to the various committees and, in particular, the Audit Committee, 
including scrutiny of the School’s Risk Register and Business Continuity plans.  
 
The Board of Governors comprises lay and academic persons appointed under the Statutes of the School. The majority of Governors are 
non-executive and independent, serving alongside ex-officio and elected staff and student Governors. Lay Governors are not remunerated. 
Governors are appointed for a term of office not exceeding three years, at the conclusion of which they may be reappointed for up to two 
further terms. The Clerk to the Board maintains a Register of Interests of members of the Board. All governors are able to take independent 
professional advice in furtherance of their duties at the School’s expense and have access to both the Company Secretary of the School 
and the Registrar, who are responsible for ensuring that all applicable procedures and regulations are complied with. The Board is 
responsible for the appointment of the Director, Deputy Director (if applicable) and the Registrar (Secretary to the Board). 
 
The roles of Chair and Vice-Chairs of the Board are separated from the role of the School’s chief executive, the Director.  The matters 
specially reserved to the Board for decision are set out in the Statutes of the School, by custom and under the Financial Memorandum with 
the Scottish Funding Council. The Board holds to itself the responsibilities for the ongoing strategic direction of the School, approval of major 
developments, and receipt of regular reports from Executive Officers on the day-to-day operations of its business.  The Board meets at least 
five times a year (including an all-day strategic meeting) and has the following committees: Business and Estates, Audit, Investment, Human 
Resources, Mackintosh Restoration, Museum and Archive, Occupational Health and Safety, Remuneration and Nominations.  All of these 
committees are formally constituted with terms of reference and all are chaired by lay members of the Board.   
 
The Business and Estates Committee, inter alia, recommends to the Board the School’s annual revenue and capital budgets and monitors 
performance in relation to the approved budgets, together with the Audit Committee.  It also recommends to the Board the Annual Accounts 
for approval.  The Business and Estates Committee is also responsible for the preparation of policy for the adequate provision of space to 
meet the requirements of the strategic plan and the monitoring of the effective management of the School’s estate. The Business and 
Estates Committee normally meets four times per annum. 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for meeting with the External Auditor and Internal Auditor of the School and reviewing their findings.  
They consider detailed reports together with recommendations for the improvement of the School’s systems of internal control and 
management’s response and implementation plans.  They also receive and consider reports from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) as 
they affect the School’s business and monitor adherence with the regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee usually meets four times 
per annum.  
 
The School’s Internal Audit service is outsourced to a professional firm of auditors, which operates in accordance with the requirements of 
the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum. The work of the internal audit service is informed by an analysis of the risks to which 
the School is exposed, and annual audit plans are based on this analysis. The analysis of risks and the internal audit plans are endorsed by 
the Board on the recommendation of the Audit Committee. The Internal Auditor provides the governing body with an annual report on 
internal audit activity in the School. The report includes their independent opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the School’s system 
of risk management, controls and governance processes. 
 
The Investment Committee is responsible for recommending investment strategy to the Board and for monitoring investment performance, 
including oversight of the School’s ethical investment policy. The Committee usually meets twice per annum. 
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Corporate Governance Statement – continued 
 

The Human Resources Committee is responsible for the review of policy relating to the employment of staff and the monitoring of the 
effective management of these affairs and recommending policy to the Board. The School is responsible for ensuring that appropriate 
training is provided as required. The Committee usually meets four times per annum. 
 
The Mackintosh Restoration Committee is responsible for oversight of the process of restoring the Mackintosh Building following the major 
fire of May 2014. The Committee meets as and when required. 
 
The Museum and Archive Committee considers and makes recommendations on all matters relating to the School’s Museum and Archive 
Collections. The Committee usually meets four times per annum. 
 
The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of the most senior staff, including the Director. Details of remuneration for the 
year under review are specified in this report. The Committee meets as and when required. 
 
The Nominations Committee oversees and recommends to the Board the appointment and renewal of independent lay governors, and the 
appointment of Board office-holders.  The Committee meets as and when required. 
 
The Occupational Health and Safety Committee reviews and monitors various aspects of health and safety management. The Committee 
meets at least four times each year.  
 
Quality Assurance 
 
Formal and informal mechanisms enable the Board to ensure that its strategic responsibilities for quality are discharged effectively; that the 
School continues to maintain a high quality learning experience for its students; and that both students and external agencies are satisfied 
with the quality of education provided. These mechanisms, which exercise delegated powers of the Board, include the responsibilities of the 
Director, formal reports to the Academic Council, the Annual Report to SFC on Institution-led Review of Quality, an Annual Report to the 
Senate of the University of Glasgow, and the annual monitoring of Key Performance Indicators, all of which are reported to the Board on a 
regular basis. They are supplemented by active student and staff participation and engagement, as demonstrated in the School’s 
submissions to QAA Enhancement-Led Institutional Reviews. 
 
Corporate Strategy 
 
The Director is responsible to the Board for the School’s day-to-day management, policy, and the development and execution of the 
School’s Strategic Plan.  In respect of its strategic direction and responsibilities, the Board receives recommendations and advice from the 
Director. 
 
The Director 
 
The Director is the School’s Chief Accountable Officer, is responsible for the proper use of funds received from the SFC, and has 
responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control.  The Director chairs the Directorate, the School’s Executive 
Group and the Academic Council.  The Director represents the School on Universities Scotland and other external bodies. Academic policy 
is devolved by the Board to the Director, as advised by Academic Council. 
 
 
Going Concern 
 
The Board considers that the School has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason 
it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.   
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Corporate Governance Statement – continued 
 
Attendance at meetings 2014/5 
 
The attendance of the individual Governors at Board and major Committee meetings during 2014/15 was as follows: 

   
 Board of 

Governors 
Audit Business & 

Estates 
 5 4 4 
Ms Kerry Aylin 5/5 - - 

Ms Alison Lefroy Brooks  5/5 4/4 - 

Mr Douglas Brown  4/5 4/4 4/4 

Dr Janet Brown  4/5 2/4 - 

Professor Linda Drew 2/2 - 2/2 

Ms Muriel Gray 5/5 3/4 * 3/4 

Dr Simon Groom  3/5 - - 

Professor Tom Inns 5/5 3/4* 3/4 

Mr Daniel Ibbotson**  - - - 

Mr Will Judge 5/5 - 4/4 

Mr Douglas Kinnaird  3/5 - - 

Ms Eleanor McAlister  5/5 - 4/4 

Mrs Linda McTavish  2/5 - - 

Professor Ken Neil  5/5 - - 

Mr Nicholas Oddy 4/5 - - 

Ms Christa Reekie  4/5 - 2/4 

Mr Ken Ross 5/5 - 2/4 

Sir Muir Russell  5/5 4/4 3/4 

Ms Lesley Thomson 4/5 - - 

Professor Alison Yarrington  4/5 - - 

    

Mr Eliot Leviten, Company Secretary 5/5* 4/4* 4/4 

Dr Craig Williamson, Registrar 5/5* 4/4* 4/4* 

 
* denotes attendee not full member 
** in voluntary suspension on grounds of ill-health 
 
 
 
 
Ms Muriel Gray         Professor Tom Inns 
Chair          Director 
          
8 December 2015 

34 of 182



 

 
13

Governors’ Biographies 
 
Ms Muriel Gray BA (Hons) 
Chair of the Board of Governors  
Muriel Gray is a graduate of GSA and worked as a professional illustrator before joining the National Museum of Antiquities in Edinburgh as 
assistant head of design. A full time career spanning over two decades in the media followed, from presenting many diverse network radio 
and television programmes, to producing and directing, and then founding her own award winning production company which grew into the 
largest in Scotland.  She is also known as a political opinion writer in many publications and continues to contribute regularly to The 
Guardian. She has won several prizes for journalism including columnist of the year at the Scottish press awards. 
She is the author of five books, three novels and two nonfiction, and many short stories and essays. Two of her books have been shortlisted 
for the prestigious British Fantasy Award. She was the chair of the judges for the 2007 Orange Prize for Fiction, and serves annually on both 
BAFTA and the Royal Television Society Awards juries. 
Muriel is a former rector of Edinburgh University, still the only woman to have held this post, and has been awarded honorary degrees from 
the University of Abertay, Glasgow School of Art and Glasgow University. She has served as a trustee on the boards of Lomond Shores, 
Event Scotland, The Lighthouse, The Glasgow Science Centre, The National Maritime Museum, The Children's Parliament, and the GSA 
Development Trust. She is a working patron of Trees for Life, The Craighalbert Centre, and the Scottish Additional Needs Mediation Forum. 
 
 
Professor Tom Inns BEng (Hons) DIC MDes (RCA) PhD, FRSA  
Director 
Tom Inns took up the post of Director of the Glasgow School of Art in September 2013. Tom studied Engineering at the University of Bristol 
and Design at the Royal College of Art. In 1990 he cofounded the Design Research Centre at Brunel University, becoming Director in 1996. 
His PhD explored the impact of design on innovation in small companies. In 2000 he moved to the University of Dundee, becoming Head of 
Design at Duncan of Jordanstone College of Art & Design (DJCAD) and then Dean. Between 2005-2010 he was Programme Director for the 
AHRC/EPSRC funded Designing for the 21st Century Initiative. Tom has an active interest in how strategic design can apply principles of 
traditional design to society’s systemic challenges. He regularly designs and facilitates knowledge sharing workshops with innovation 
agencies across Europe, working with organisations such as NESTA, UK Design Council, ARDI Rhone Alps, UKERC, Swedish Industrial 
Design Foundation, South West Screen, PopVox, VINNOVA and Guimaraes 2012. In September 2014, Tom was appointed as a Council 
Member of the Arts & Humanities Research Council.  
 
 
Ms Alison Lefroy Brooks BA (Hons) ACA MCT 
Vice-Chair  
Alison is a chartered accountant and worked for KPMG in London before specialising in treasury. She worked for the BOC Group plc and 
was Assistant Treasurer at the TPG Group NV, based in the Netherlands. She moved to Scotland in 2001 and until 2013 was Group 
Treasurer for Aggreko plc, the global leader in the rental of power, temperature control and oil-free compressed air systems to customers 
around the world.  She was previously chair of the Scottish discussion group for the Association of Corporate Treasurers. 

Sir Muir Russell KCB FRSE  
Vice-Chair  
Muir was the first Permanent Secretary to the Scottish Executive following devolution and then Principal and Vice-Chancellor of the 
University of Glasgow from 2003 to 2009, when he was Convener, Universities Scotland, member of the boards of UUK and UCAS and 
trustee of USS. Currently he chairs the Judicial Appointments Board for Scotland, the Board of Trustees of the Royal Botanic Garden 
Edinburgh and the Dunedin Concert Trust; and is a board member of the Moredun Research Institute. He is a member of the board of 
NHBC (the National House-Building Council) and chairs its Scottish Committee. He is also a member of the Council of the Royal Society of 
Edinburgh. A graduate of the University of Glasgow in Natural Philosophy, Muir was created KCB in 2001 and FRSE in 2000 and given 
honorary degrees by the Universities of Strathclyde, Glasgow and Edinburgh. 
 
Professor Linda Drew BA (Hons) MA PhD FRSA FDRS 
Deputy Director and Director of Academic Development (until January 2015) 
Linda joined the GSA in August 2011 from the University of the Arts London (UAL) where she was Dean of the Graduate School for 
Camberwell, Chelsea and Wimbledon. She is currently the Chair of CHEAD (Council for Higher Education in Art and Design) and is an 
associate member of the Associate Parliamentary Design and Innovation Group. She is also an External Quality Reviewer for arts higher 
education at the Singapore Ministry of Education. Linda was Head of College at Chelsea College of Art and Design (UAL 2006-7). Before 
joining the University of the Arts as Dean at Chelsea in 2003, she was Co-Director of the Art, Design and Communication subject centre 
based at the University of Brighton. She is founding editor of the highly regarded peer-reviewed research journal Art, Design and 
Communication in Higher Education, published by Intellect books for over 12 years. Linda is an alumna of Saint Martins School of Art, a 
Fellow of the Design Research Society (FDRS) and a Fellow of the Royal Society of the Arts (FRSA). Linda left GSA in early 2015 to take up 
the post of Director of Ravensbourne College.  
 

35 of 182



 

 
14

 
Governors’ Biographies (continued) 

 
Ms Kerry Aylin BA (Hons) FHEA EADiM 
Kerry graduated from The Glasgow School of Art in 1983. After 11 years in industry, she returned to GSA as a member of staff. She has 
been running her own design business since 1994, where her creative work has been mostly in communication design, primarily publishing 
and interactive technology. Amongst her accomplishments are a Scottish Design Award, Europrix winner, Prix Mobius shortlist and British 
Interactive Media Awards finalist. She is a Fellow of the Higher Education Academy and member of European Academy of Digital Media. At 
GSA, Kerry supports all schools as a specialist in assistive technologies and in the innovative application of technology to traditional industry 
techniques and divergent thinking. Kerry has been an Adobe Education Leader and contact for the Adobe Partnership for a number of 
years. 
 
Mr Douglas Brown BA (Hons) Dipl Arch (Oxford) FRIAS RIBA 
Douglas Brown is a chartered architect who spent most of his professional career with international strategic design consultancy DEGW, a 
firm whose reputation was built on innovation in workplace, research and learning environments.  From 2001 to 2008 he was Group 
Managing Director of DEGW Plc with responsibility for leading growth and managing the performance of the firm’s worldwide operations 
from 14 offices in 9 countries across Europe, Asia and North America.  He left the firm in February 2009.  From 1998 to 2001 Douglas was 
also a partner at Dutch Management Consultancy Twynstra Gudde Group.  He is a past Board Member of the British Council of Offices. 

 
Dr Janet Brown BSc PhD FInstP FRSE 
Janet is Chief Executive of the Scottish Qualifications Authority, having previously been Managing Director of Industries at Scottish 
Enterprise.  Prior to this she spent 19 years working in the private sector in the United States and has extensive experience in science, 
research and technology as well as business management.  A graduate of the University of Birmingham, with a BSc in Physics and a PhD in 
Physical Metallurgy and Materials Science, Janet is also a Fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh and a Fellow of the Institute of Physics.  
 
  
Dr Simon Groom MA (Hons) PhD (term of office expired October 2015) 
Simon has been Director of the Scottish National Gallery of Modern Art, Edinburgh since November 2007. He graduated in English 
Literature from Edinburgh University before spending a year in Japan and three years in Italy. In 1994 he returned to London to complete an 
MA and a Doctorate in Art History at the Courtauld Institute. For three years he worked as the curator at Kettle’s Yard, Cambridge before 
being appointed Head of Exhibitions at Tate Liverpool, where he curated numerous exhibitions of modern and contemporary international 
art, including “The Real Thing: Contemporary Art from China” in 2007 as well as leading the Tate’s acquisition strategy in Asia.  
 
Mr Daniel Ibbotson BA (Hons)  (left the Board in May 2015) 
Daniel graduated in Fine Art Photography at Glasgow School of Art in 1996. After six years working within the creative community in 
Scotland he cofounded Graphical House design consultancy, where he works as a designer and director. In 2006 he was awarded the 
Scottish Design Awards Designer of the Year title. Between 2004 and 2007 Daniel was a member of the UK Design Skills Advisory Panel, 
formed by The Design Council and Creative and Cultural Skills in order to develop 'The Creative Blueprint' sector skills agreement. He now 
sits on the UK Design Alliance Scotland panel, a partnership of regional design organisations working together to strengthen the sector. 
 
Mr. Will Judge 
President, Students’ Association 2014/15. 
 
Mr Douglas Kinnaird BA CA 
Douglas is a business graduate from Strathclyde University and a Chartered Accountant.  He runs MacDonald Kinnaird which has the 
reputation of recruiting for many of the major roles in Scotland’s public and private sectors and is founder and deputy chairman of Scotland 
International. In 2004 he bought the former Lady Artists Society building in Blythswood Square, whose door and entrance is featured in 
every Charles Rennie Mackintosh book in the world. He occasionally returns to Strathclyde University to lecture in Marketing, was on 
Cancer Research UK’s Scottish Council, a Director of Scotland the Brand and a governor of Hutchesons’ School. 
 
Ms Eleanor McAllister OBE MA MSc Hon FRIAS FRICS FRSA                                                                                                                                     
An economist and town planner, Eleanor McAllister has managed a number of urban regeneration projects throughout her career. She 
retired in March 2012 from her most recent post as managing director of Clydebank re-built, designated as one of the Scottish Government’s 
Pathfinder urban regeneration companies. She was made OBE for services to architecture and regeneration in 2007 and was awarded 
honorary fellowships with the Royal Society of the Arts (2008), the Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland (2009) and the Royal 
Incorporation of Chartered Surveyors (2012). She is currently a member of the Heritage Lottery Fund, Scotland Committee and the Scottish 
Historic Environment Forum. She is also Vice Chair of the Glasgow Film Theatre and a Director of the Workshop and Artists Studio 
Provision (Scotland) Ltd. 
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Governors’ Biographies (continued) 
 
Mrs Linda McTavish CBE BA (Hons) 
Former Principal of Anniesland College, Linda studied at Strathclyde University, followed by research at Edinburgh University and TQFE at 
Jordanhill College.  She taught at Cardonald College and Langside College before becoming Depute Principal at Anniesland in 1993 and 
Principal in 1997. She has been a SQA assessor/verifier, member of Scottish Executive Lifelong Forum, New Deal Taskforce, Scottish 
Refugee Integration Forum, SE Glasgow, Community Learning Scotland and the Glasgow Economic Forum and is currently a member of 
the Education Commission for Glasgow. Linda was awarded the Lord Provost’s Medal for education, a CBE for services to further education 
and a Fellowship of the SQA.  
 
Professor Ken Neil MA (Hons) MFA PhD PGCert FHEA 
Ken Neil studied Painting and the History and Philosophy of Art at Edinburgh University as an undergraduate, before achieving an MFA in 
Painting from Edinburgh College of Art in 1995. He completed a PhD in art theory in 2003, while teaching Humanities and History of Art at 
ECA and the Universities of Edinburgh and Glasgow. From 1999 he was lecturer in Contextual and Critical Studies at Gray's School of Art, 
taking on the Headship of Fine Art and Fine Art Critical Studies in 2002. In 2005 he led a new MFA in Critical Social Art Practice for Gray's 
before being appointed Head of Historical and Critical Studies at The Glasgow School of Art in 2006. His research relates to three fields: 
contemporary art and art theory; issues around access, inclusion and tradition in creative education; and theories of the real and the 
everyday. Since joining GSA he has been a Sector Lead for creative and cultural practice disciplines for the Scottish Enhancement Theme 
'Research-Teaching Linkages' and has served on the AHRC Fellowships Review Panel. Ken is on the Editorial Board of the journal 'Art & 
Research' and is a member of the AHRC Peer Review College and a Fellow of the Higher Education Academy. In April 2012, Ken took on 
the role of Acting Head of Research for GSA. From January 2014, he was appointed a Trustee of the UK Association of Art Historians, and 
currently chairs the Association’s Further and Higher Education Special Interest Group. Ken was awarded a Personal Professorship in Art 
and Design in July 2014, and was formally appointed as GSA’s Head of Research in August 2014.   
 
Mr Nicholas Oddy BA (Hons) PGDipDes MA (RCA) (left the Board in September 2015) 
Nicholas studied at Edinburgh College of Art and was awarded a scholarship to the Royal College of Art and Victoria & Albert Museum to study 
design history. He taught at Teesside and Duncan of Jordanstone before joining Glasgow School of Art in 1993 where other roles have included 
representative of the Design History Society and President of the GSA UCU.  His research interests focus on late 19th and 20th century mass 
manufactures, particularly the cycle and toy industries; he is chair of the Cycle Touring and Countryside Trust and advises auction rooms for 
specialist sales of cycles and cycling memorabilia and collectors’ items. 
 
Mr Lewis Prosser 
President, Students’ Association 2015/16. 

Ms Christa Reekie Mag.phil. Dip Ed LLB NP 
Christa was a school teacher in Austria, moved to Scotland and re-qualified as a teacher here. She joined the University of Edinburgh as a 
tutor teaching German before moving into the software industry (Adobe) as a translator and later a project leader, thus funding her 
accelerated law degree at Edinburgh University. She trained with Brodies in Edinburgh, became a commercial property lawyer and joined 
Burness in 1996, where she specialised in construction law before concentrating on PFI/PPP large infrastructure projects, becoming a 
partner in 2000. She was appointed as commercial director of the Scottish Futures Trust Limited in November 2009. 
 
Mr Kenneth Ross OBE 
Ken currently has property interests in land, commercial and residential property and recently became Chairman of a renewable energy 
company operating throughout Scotland. He graduated in 1970 and qualified as a Surveyor in 1972.  He was President of the Scottish 
Housebuilders Association in 1987/1988 and was a founding Director when Homes for Scotland was formed.  He went on to become 
Chairman of the Scottish Property Federation during 2007.  In 2006, he was appointed to the Regeneration Board advising the Executive 
and Scottish Ministers on matters relating to regeneration in Scotland. He was a member of the Climate Change Business Delivery Group. 
In 2007, Ken was a member of the Sullivan Committee advising the Scottish Ministers on a low carbon strategy for Scotland and is now a 
Member of the 2020 Group actively involved in sustainability and renewable projects throughout Scotland.  In 2008, he was invited to join 
the National Economic Forum and in 2009 was invited to become a Member of the Housing Supply Task Force.  In 2010, he was appointed 
to the Housing Policy Advisory Board, advising Scottish Ministers on housing matters in Scotland.  Ken is a Member of the Executive 
Committee of SCDI and continues to chair the Building Standards and Sustainability Committee for the SPF. He is also actively involved in 
projects involving the arts, social and educational sectors in Scotland. 
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Governors’ Biographies (continued) 
 
Dr Sarah Smith, BA, MA, PhD (joined the Board from October 2015) 
Sarah Smith has a BA in Fine Art Painting from the National College of Art and Design (NCAD), Dublin (1994), an MA in Film Studies from 
University College Dublin (UCD), (1995) and a PhD in Artists’ Films from University of Glasgow (2007).  Early appointments included 
Education Assistant at the Irish Film Institute (1995-97), Lecturer in Film Studies at UCD (1995-98), Adviser of Studies at University of 
Glasgow (2000-2002) and Researcher in Lifelong Learning, The Lighthouse (1999-2001).  She was appointed Lecturer in Historical and 
Critical Studies at GSA in 2002, taking up the role of Joint Acting Head of the Forum for Critical Inquiry from 2012 until 2015, at which point 
she became Joint Head of Department as well as Head of the newly forming Department of Art Context and Theory (ACT) within the School 
of Fine Art (SoFA).  Sarah is a member of a number of professional organisations such as the British Association of Irish Studies (BAIS) and 
the Media, Communication and Cultural Studies Association (MeCCSA).  She is currently the only European member of College Art 
Association’s (CAA) International Committee and is also a member of the Advisory Board of the peer-reviewed journals: Screen Bodies and 
Visual Culture in Britain. 
 
Ms Lesley Thomson 
Lesley is Managing Director of the Liddell Thomson Consultancy and a Director of Spreng & Co. She is an experienced communications 
professional working across the private, public and third sectors. Lesley is often commissioned to design and facilitate planning sessions for 
boards or executive teams seeking to develop business, communication or brand strategies. Her experience spans projects for the Scottish 
Government, banking and financial services, food and drink, government agencies, local authorities and academia as well as major private 
sector-led developments. Lesley is a Trustee of the Dewar Arts Awards and a member of Entrepreneurial Scotland’s Leaders Exchange.  
 
Professor Alison Yarrington BA (Hons), PhD, FRSE, FSA, FRSA 
Alison Yarrington is Dean of the School of the Arts, English and Drama at Loughborough University, prior to which she was Professor of Art 
History and Dean of the Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences at the University of Hull. Professor Yarrington, an expert in sculpture, took a 
foundation course at Chesterfield College of Art and Design before moving into higher education. She gained her undergraduate degree in 
fine art and history of art at the University of Reading before undertaking a doctorate at Darwin College, Cambridge University. Professor 
Yarrington was appointed to a lectureship in the history of art at the University of Leicester, promoted to a Personal Chair of Art History and 
then was elected Dean of the University’s Faculty of Arts. She was appointed Richmond Chair and Head of the Department of Art History at 
the University of Glasgow in 2003, during which time she was also Honorary Keeper of Fine Art of the Hunterian Gallery and Museums. She 
was Chair of the Association of Art Historians 2011-14, and is a member of the Advisory Council of the Paul Mellon Centre for Studies in 
British Art. 
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Independent auditor's report to the Board of Governors of Glasgow School of Art 
 
 

We have audited the financial statements of The Glasgow School of Art (‘the School’) for the year ended 31 July 2015 which comprises the 
Group and School Income and Expenditure Account, the Group Statement of Historical Cost Surpluses and Deficits, the Group Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains and Losses, the Group and School Balance Sheets, the Group Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council and the 2007 Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education. 
 
This report is made solely to the Board of Governors and Directors, as a body, in accordance with the Financial Memorandum of the School; 
and in accordance with section 44(1)c of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and under Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Board those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Board, as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 
Respective responsibilities of The Board of Governors and Directors and the auditor 
 
As explained more fully in the Responsibilities of the Board of Governors and Directors set out on pages 8 and 9, the Board is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
 
We have been appointed auditor under the Financial Memorandum of the School, section 44(1)c of the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and also under the Companies Act 2006 and report in accordance with those Acts. Our responsibility is to audit and 
express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s (APB’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s web-site at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 
 
We are also required to report to you whether, in our opinion, funds, from whatever source, administered by the School for specific purposes 
have, in all material respects, been properly applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with the terms and conditions attached 
to them and whether income has, in all material respects, been applied in accordance with the relevant legislation and with the Financial 
Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
In addition to our audit of the financial statements, the Board have engaged us to review their Corporate Governance Statement. We review 
whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the group’s compliance with the 2013 Scottish Code of Good HE Governance specified for 
our review by those rules, and we report if it does not. 
 
 
Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 
 

・ give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the School and of the Group as at 31 July 2015 and of the surplus of the School’s and the 
Group’s income over expenditure and the Group’s cash flows for the year then ended; 

・ have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, the Accounts Direction 
issued by the Scottish Funding Council and the 2007 Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education; and 

・ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the Companies Act 2006. 
 
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Glasgow School of Art continued 
Opinion on other matters 
 
 
In our opinion: 

・ funds from the Scottish Funding Council, grants and income for specific purposes and from other restricted funds administered by 
the School have, in all material respects, been applied only for the purposes for which they were received; and 

・ income has, in all material respects, been applied in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, and, 
where appropriate, with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council. 
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and 
the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
 

・ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the School, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 
branches not visited by us; or 
 

・ the School’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 

・ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 
 

・ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 
 
The part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the group’s compliance with the provision of the 2013 Scottish Code of Good HE 
Governance specific for our review.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Nick Bennett 
Senior Statutory Auditor 
For and on behalf of Scott Moncrieff 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
25 Bothwell Street 
Glasgow 
G2 6NL 
8 December 2015 
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Restated
Group School Group School

Notes Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

INCOME 

Funding Council grants 1 14,897               14,897             13,462               13,462              
Funding Council loan support grants 1 664                    664                   609                    609                   
Tuition fees and education contracts 2 9,419                 8,458               9,047                 8,158                
Research  grants and contracts 3 3,959                 3,959               2,325                 2,325                
Other income 4a 3,627                 3,431               4,053                 3,721                
Insurance income 4b 7,609                 7,609               -                         -                        
Development Trust income 4c 647                    -                        10,958               -                        
Endowment and investment income 5 338                    338                   412                    412                   

Group turnover 41,160               39,356             40,866               28,687              

less : Share of joint venture's turnover  (188)                        -                   (266)                        -                   

Total income 40,972               39,356             40,600               28,687              

EXPENDITURE

Staff pay costs 6 19,168               18,857             17,334               16,968              
Pension revaluation 16 394                    394                   -                     
Depreciation 11 3,212                 3,212               1,952                 1,952                
Other operating expenses 8 14,145               13,896             9,371                 9,145                
Interest payable 9 1,001                 1,001               773                    773                   

Total expenditure 37,920               37,360             29,430               28,838              

Surplus/ (deficit) on continuing operations after 

depreciation of assets at valuation 3,052                 1,996               11,170               (151)                  

Share of operating surplus in joint venture 1                        -                   11                      -                    

Surplus on continuing operations 

before taxation 3,053                 1,996               11,181               (151)                  

Taxation 10 (36)                     -                   (36)                          -                   

Surplus on continuing operations after 

depreciation of assets at valuation and taxation 3,017                 1,996               11,145               (151)                  

Accumulated income retained within specific endowments 18 (69)                     (69)                   (3)                       (3)                      

Surplus for the year retained within general reserves 2,948                 1,927               11,142               (154)                  

The income and expenditure account is in respect of continuing activities.

Notes Year Ended Year Ended
 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000
Surplus/ (deficit) on continuing operations after 
depreciation of assets at valuation 3,052               11,170              

Difference between an historical cost depreciation charge
and the actual depreciation charge for the year calculated on 
the re-valued amount 19 322                   322                   

Historical cost surplus before taxation  3,374               11,492              

Historical cost surplus after taxation  3,338               11,456              

THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART

GROUP AND SCHOOL INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNTS
For the year ended 31 July 2015

GROUP STATEMENT OF HISTORICAL COST SURPLUSES AND DEFICITS

For the year ended 31 July 2015
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Restated
Notes Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000

Surplus on continuing operations after
depreciation of assets at valuation and taxation 3,017               11,145              

Appreciation of endowment asset investments 18 221                   85                     

Impairment of heritage assets 11 -                   (4,048)               

Actuarial loss in respect of pension scheme 29 (1,166)              (3,191)               

Total recognised gains relating to the year 2,072               3,991                

Total  recognised gains since last report 2,072               3,991                

Reconciliation of movement in funds

Opening reserves and endowments as previously stated 28,329             24,338              

Total recognised gains for the year 2,072               3,991                

Closing reserves and endowments 30,401             28,329              

GROUP STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
For the year ended 31 July 2015

THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART
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Restated

Group School Group School

2015 2015 2014 2014

Notes           £000           £000           £000           £000

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets 11 70,530               70,530             72,319               72,319              

Assets held for the nation: Heritage Assets 11 8,827                 8,827               8,827                 8,827                

Investments in joint ventures 11 12                      -                        11                      -                    

Endowment Assets 12 3,624                 3,624               3,334                 3,334                

Debtors greater than one year 13 11,250               11,250             21,250               16,250              

Current Assets

Stocks 68                      68                     75                      75                     

Debtors 13 19,076               7,394               13,180               7,652                
Cash at bank and in hand 5,850                 4,677               7,019                 5,789                

24,994               12,139             20,274               13,516              

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (13,100)             (13,086)            (17,094)             (17,157)            

Net current assets / (liabilities) 11,894               (947)                 3,180                 (3,641)               

Total assets less current liabilities 106,137             93,284             108,921             97,089              

Creditors: amounts falling due 

after more than one year 15 (12,576)             (12,576)            (17,709)             (17,709)            

Provisions for liabilities and charges 16 (1,453)               (1,453)              (1,269)               (1,269)               

Net assets excluding pension liability 92,108               79,255             89,943               78,111              

Net pension liability 29 (8,440)               (8,440)              (7,011)               (7,011)               

Net assets including pension liability 83,668               70,815             82,932               71,100              

Deferred capital grants 17 53,267               53,267             54,603               54,603              

Endowments

Specific 18 3,265                 3,265               2,993                 2,993                

General 18 359                    359                   341                    341                   

3,624                 3,624               3,334                 3,334                

Reserves

Revaluation reserve 19 17,668               17,668             17,990               17,990              

Income and expenditure account excluding pension reserve 20 5,767                 4,696               2,878                 2,184                

Restricted reserve 20 11,782               -                        11,138               -                        

Pension reserve 21 (8,440)               (8,440)              (7,011)               (7,011)               

Total reserves 26,777               13,924             24,995               13,163              

Total 83,668               70,815             82,932               71,100              

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements

The financial statements on pages  19 to 39 were approved on 8 December 2015 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Muriel Gray Chair

Professor Tom Inns,  Director

THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART

GROUP AND SCHOOL BALANCE SHEETS

As at 31 July 2015

SC002271

Company Register No. SC002271
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Restated

Notes Year Ended Year Ended
 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000

Cash (outflow) / inflow from operating activities 22 (251)                 2,676                

Returns on investments and servicing of finance 24 264                   333                   

Taxation 23 (36)                   (36)                    

Capital expenditure and financial investment 25 (1,075)              (2,460)               

Financing 26 (133)                 207                   

Decrease in cash in the year (1,231)              720                   

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net (debt)

Decrease in cash in the period (1,231)              720                   

Movement in capital debt 5,133               (7,701)               

Change in net debt 3,902               (6,981)               

Net debt at 1 August 
(15,552)            (8,571)               

Net debt at 31 July 27 (11,650)            (15,552)            

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements

For the year ended 31 July 2015

GROUP CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 
 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material in relation to the 
financial statements. 

 
1 Accounting Convention 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of endowment asset investments ,land and 
buildings at valuation and heritage assets at valuation, and in accordance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education 2007 (SORP), the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council and applicable Accounting Standards and relevant 
legislation. They conform to guidance published by the Scottish Funding Council. 
 

2       Basis of consolidation 
The group financial statements include the School and its subsidiary, GS of A Singapore Pte Ltd, and its joint venture with Historic Scotland, CDDV 
LLP. The group financial statements also include The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust which has been deemed as being controlled by GSA. 
Intra-group income and surpluses are eliminated fully on consolidation. In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 2, the activities of the 
GSA student union and GSA Enterprises Ltd have not been consolidated because the School does not control those activities.  
 

3      Recognition of Income 
Recurrent grants from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) represents the funding allocations attributable to the current financial year and are credited 
direct to the income and expenditure account. Recurrent grants are recognised in line with planned activity. Any under-achievement against this 
planned activity is adjusted in-year and reflected in the level of recurrent grant recognised in the income and expenditure account. 
Non-recurrent grants from the SFC or other bodies received in respect of the acquisition of fixed assets are treated as deferred capital grants and 
amortised in line with depreciation over the life of the assets. 
Income from grants, contracts and other services rendered is included to the extent of the completion of the contract or service concerned. 
Income from tuition fees is recognised in the period for which it is received and includes all fees payable by students or their sponsors. All income from 
short term deposits is credited to the income and expenditure account in the period in which it is earned. Income from specific endowments, not 
expended in accordance with the restrictions of the endowment, is transferred from the income and expenditure account to specific endowments. 
 

4     Pension Schemes 
The School participates in two pension schemes providing benefits based on final pensionable pay, the Scottish Teachers Superannuation  Scheme 
(STSS) and the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF). All schemes are available to staff of more than one employer, are contracted out of the State 
Earnings-Related Pension Scheme, and the assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the School. The Funds are valued by actuaries, 
the rates of contributions being determined by the trustees on the advice of the actuaries. 
 
Strathclyde Pension Fund 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme and is accounted as a defined benefit scheme under Financial Reporting Standard 17, Retirement Benefits 
(FRS17). 
Pension scheme assets are measured using market values. For quoted securities the current bid price is taken as market value. Pension scheme 
liabilities are measured using a projected unit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term 
and currency to the liability. 
The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full. The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split 
between the income and expenditure account and, in the statement of total recognised gains and losses, in respect of actuarial gains and losses. 
 
Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme 
Members of the academic staff are covered by the Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation  Scheme to which the School contributes. The scheme is 
available to staff of more than one employer and it is not possible in either case to identify each participating institution’s share of the underlying assets 
and liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis. Accordingly, the School has utilised the provisions of FRS17 whereby the contributions to the 
scheme are recognised as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The cost recognised within the School’s income and expenditure account will be 
equal to the contribution payable to the scheme for the year. Under statute, accounts for this scheme are prepared by the relevant body.   
A small number of staff are in other pension schemes but the School would only contribute if the employee was ineligible to join one of the two main 
public sector schemes. 
 

5      Land and Buildings 
Tangible Fixed Assets land and buildings are stated at cost or valuation, less a provision for depreciation. The basis of the valuation is depreciated 
replacement cost. The last valuation was carried out on 31 July 1995 by Grimleys, Chartered Surveyors. All additions since that date have been 
included at historical cost and their value is deemed to be at least equal to the cost incurred.  Buildings are depreciated over their expected useful lives 
of up to 50 years. 
 
Costs incurred in increasing the value of a building are capitalised if the cost of the improvement is over £5,000. If the cost incurred is over £5,000, but 
not considered to increase the value of the building, it will be written off in the year it is incurred. Where the property improvement cost that  is to be 
capitalised has been incurred with the aid of a specific grant, it is depreciated as above. The related grant is treated as a deferred capital grant and 
released to the income and expenditure account over the period stated above. 
 
Assets under construction are accounted for at cost, based on the value of architects’ certificates and other direct costs, incurred to 31 July. They are 
not depreciated until they are brought into use. 

45 of 182



 

 
24

 
Statement of Principal Accounting Policies continued 

 
 
6      Assets held for the Nation: Heritage Assets 

The School holds and conserves heritage assets for future generations. As a general policy, heritage assets are recognised in the Balance Sheet 
where the School has information on the cost or value of the asset. Where information on cost or value is not available, and the cost of obtaining the 
information outweighs the benefits to the users of the financial statements, the asset is not recognised on the balance sheet. 
The carrying amount of heritage assets are reviewed where there is evidence of impairment e.g. where an item has suffered physical deterioration or 
breakage. The School does not intend to dispose of heritage assets. The carrying value is based on the insurance value as at 31 July 2014 and was 
carried out by Axa Art, independent valuers.  
 

7      Investments 
 
       Subsidiary undertakings  
       Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less provision for impairment in the School’s balance sheet. 
  

The joint venture with Historic Scotland, CDDV LLP, is accounted for under the gross equity method. 
 
 
8      Equipment 

All equipment and minor building improvements costing less than £5,000 for an individual item, or group of related items, is written off to the income 
and expenditure account in the year of acquisition.  All other equipment is capitalised at cost.  
Capitalised equipment is depreciated over its useful economic life as follows: 

Telephone equipment 10 years straight line 
Other IT equipment and software 4 years straight line 
Furniture, fittings and minor building improvements 10 years straight line 
Other equipment 5 years straight line 

Where the equipment that is to be capitalised has been acquired with the aid of a specific grant, it is depreciated as above.  The related grant is 
treated as a deferred capital grant and released to the income and expenditure account over the period stated above. A review for impairment is 
carried out if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of any fixed assets may not be recoverable. Depreciation is 
charged from the date of acquisition. 

 
9      Leased assets 

Operating leases and the total payments made under them are charged to the Income and Expenditure account on a straight line basis over the lease 
term.  
 
Leases agreements which transfer to the School substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership of an asset are treated as if the asset had been  
purchased outright. The assets are included in fixed assets and the capital element of the leasing commitments are shown as obligations under 
finance leases. The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. The capital element is applied in order to reduce 
outstanding obligations and the interest element is charged to the income and expenditure account in as straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term or the useful economic lives of equivalent owned assets.  

 
10    Investments 

Endowment Asset Investments are included in the balance sheet at market value as at the year-end. 
 
11     Stocks 

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
 

12     Maintenance of Premises 
The cost of routine maintenance is charged to the income and expenditure account as incurred. 
 

13    Taxation Status 
The School is a charity within the meaning of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and as such is a charity within the meaning of 
Para 1 of Schedule 6 to the Finance Act 2010 and is recorded on the index of charities maintained by the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator 
(Charity No. SC012490). Accordingly, the School is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories 
covered by sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) (formerly enacted in Section 505 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 
1988 (ICTA)) or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that such income or gains are applied to exclusively charitable 
purposes. The School receives no similar exemption in respect of Value Added Tax.  Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such 
inputs.  Any irrecoverable VAT allocated to tangible fixed assets is included in their cost. 
The School’s subsidiary company is subject to corporation tax and VAT in the same way as any commercial organization.  
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies continued 
 
 
 
14     Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the School has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and if it is probable that a transfer 
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. 

 
 
15     Endowment funds 

Where charitable donations are to be retained for the benefit of the institution as specified by the donors, these are accounted for as endowments. 
There are three main types: 
 Restricted permanent endowment – the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an income stream to be 

applied to a particular objective. 
 Unrestricted permanent endowment – the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate an income stream for the 

general benefit of the School. 
 Restricted expendable endowment – the donor has specified a particular objective and the School can convert the endowed capital into income. 

 
16    Agency arrangements 

Funds the School receives and disburses as a paying agent on behalf of a funding body or other body, where the School is exposed to minimal risk or 
enjoys minimal economic benefit related to the receipt and subsequent disbursement of the funds, are excluded from the income and expenditure 
account. 

 
17   Foreign currencies 

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. The resulting exchange differences are taken to the income and 
expenditure account in the year. 

 
18    Cash flows and liquid resources 

Cash flows comprise increases or decreases in cash.  Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts.  Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.  No investments, however liquid, are included as cash. 
Liquid resources comprise assets held as a readily disposable store of value.  They include term deposits, government securities and loan stock held 
as part of the School’s treasury management activities.  They exclude any such assets held as endowment asset investments. 
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1           Funding Council Grants Notes Group and School Group and School

Year Ended Year Ended
 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000

SFC recurrent teaching grant 7,438               7,194                

SFC research grant 2,106               2,081                

Small specialist institution grant 2,820               3,079                

Other SFC grants 1,364               679                   

Deferred capital grant released in year:

  Buildings 17 1,069               400                   

  Equipment 17 100                   29                     

 14,897             13,462              

SFC Loan support grant 664                   609                   

2           Tuition Fees and Education Contracts Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

Scottish / EU higher education students/ RUK (old fees) 2,600                 2,600               2,770                 2,770                

RUK students (new fees) 2,189                 2,189               1,397                 1,397                

Non EU students 4,117                 3,156               4,267                 3,378                

Non credit bearing courses 313                    313                   283                    283                   
Other contracts 200                    200                   330                    330                   

9,419                 8,458               9,047                 8,158                

3           Research Grants and Contracts Group and School Group and School

Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000

Research councils 424                   355                   

UK Charities 140                   5                       

UK governmental contracts 2,006               576                   

Other grants and contracts 112                   102                   

UK industrial and commercial contracts 1,277               1,287                

3,959               2,325                

4a Other Income Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

Residences 833                    833                   864                    864                   

Release from deferred grants ( Non SFC) 17 646                    646                   479                    479                   

Other income generating activities 334                    334                   290                    290                   

Public realm improvement grant -                         -                        317                    317                   

Share of joint venture income 188                    -                        266                    -                        

Other income 1,626                 1,618               1,837                 1,771                

3,627                 3,431               4,053                 3,721                

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS
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4b Insurance Income Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

AXA Insurance claim 3,600                 3,600               -                     -                    

RSA Insurance monies 4,009                 4,009               -                     -                    
7,609                 7,609               -                     -                    

The AXA insurance income is in relation to the heritage assets lost in the fire.

The RSA insurance income is in relation to business continuity costs as a result of the fire.

4c Development Trust Income Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

Development trust income 647                    -                   10,958               -                    

647                    -                   10,958               -                    

The Development Trust income relates to the incoming resources of The Glasgow School of Art Development Trust, a trust controlled by the School.

5           Endowment and Investment Income Group and School Group and School

Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

          £000           £000

Income from specific endowments 18 289                   206                   

Income from general endowments 18 4                       6                       

Bank interest 45                     200                   

338                   412                   

 NOTES TO ACCOUNTS - continued
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6           Staff Costs Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

The average monthly number of persons (including senior postholders) employed

by the School during the period, expressed as full-time equivalents, was: Number Number Number Number

Teaching departments 126                    121                   124                    118                   

Teaching support services 86                      86                     84                      84                     

Research grants and contracts 48                      48                     37                      37                     

Other support services 44                      44                     43                      43                     

Administration and central services 42                      42                     39                      39                     

Premises 44                      44                     40                      40                     

Residences 2                        2                       2                        2                       
Total 392                    387                   369                    363                   

Analysed as :Staff on permanent contracts 365                    360                   345                    339                   

                    :Staff on temporary and other contracts 27                      27                     24                      24                     

Total 392                    387                   369                    363                   

Group School Group School

Staff costs for the above persons: Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

          £000           £000           £000           £000

Wages & salaries 15,682               15,382             14,323               13,957              

Social security costs 1,212                 1,212               1,106                 1,106                

Pensions 2,108                 2,097               1,905                 1,905                

Severance and redundancy costs 166                    166                   -                         -                        

Total 19,168               18,857             17,334               16,968              

Staff on permanent contracts 18,236               17,925             16,505               16,139              

Staff on temporary and other contracts 932                    932                   829                    829                   

Total 19,168               18,857             17,334               16,968              

Staff costs by activity Group School Group School
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014
          £000           £000           £000           £000

Teaching departments 7,286                 6,975               7,070                 6,704                
Teaching support services 3,063                 3,063               2,869                 2,869                
Research grants and contracts 2,792                 2,792               2,028                 2,028                
Other support services 1,994                 1,994               1,935                 1,935                
Administration and central services 2,563                 2,563               2,312                 2,312                
Premises 1,241                 1,241               1,058                 1,058                

Residences 63                      63                     62                      62                     
Severance costs 166                    166                   -                         -                        

Total 19,168               18,857             17,334               16,968              

Group Group
The number of senior management staff (the Executive Group), including staff governors,who received Year Ended Year Ended
 emoluments,excluding pension contributions, in the following ranges was:  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£30,001 -      £40,000 2                       2                       
£50,001 -      £60,000 1                       -                        
£60,001 -      £70,000 -                        2                       
£70,001 -      £80,000 4                       3                       
£80,001 -      £90,000 1                       3                       
£90,001 -      £100,000 2                       -                        

£100,001 -      £110,000 1                       1                       
£110,001 -      £120,000 1                       2                       
£130,001 -      £140,000 1                       -                        

13                     13                     

The number of staff, excluding governors and Executive Group members,who received emoluments,excluding pension contributions, in the following ranges was:
£60,001 -      £70,000 4                       2                       
£70,001 -      £80,000 1                       1                       

-                        
5                       3                       

 NOTES TO ACCOUNTS - continued

 28 
50 of 182



7 Governors' Emoluments 

The emoluments of the Governors including staff governors, excluding pension contributions,fall into Year Ended Year Ended
the following bands:  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Number Number

NIL 19                     19                     
£10,001 -          £15,000 -                        1                       
£35,001 -          £40,000 2                       1                       
£55,001 -          £60,000 1                       1                       
£65,001 -          £70,000 1                       1                       
£85,001 -          £90,000 -                        1                       

£110,001 -          £115,000 -                        1                       
£130,001 -          £135,000 1                       -                        

24                     25                     

The Governors' emoluments are made up as follows: Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Salaries 338                   368                   

Pension contributions 54                     51                     

Total emoluments 392                   419                   

The above emoluments include amounts payable to the Director (who is also the highest paid post-holder) of:

Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Highest paid Director 

The Director of the School

Current Director From September 2013 Salary 135                   112                   

Pension contributions 20                     17                     

Former Director Until August 2013 Salary -                        11                     

Pension contributions -                        2                       

Total 155                   142                   

The pension contributions in respect of the Director of the School and senior post holders are in respect of employer's contributions
to the respective schemes and are paid at the same rate as for other employees
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8           Other Operating expenses by Activity Group School Group School

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Teaching departments 2,439                 2,194               2,924                 2,676                

Contracted-out lecturing services 12                      12                     26                      26                     

Research grants & contracts 1,268                 1,268               785                    785                   

Teaching support services 359                    359                   273                    273                   
Other support services 512                    512                   460                    460                   
Administration and central services 1,157                 1,153               1,188                 1,188                
General education 74                      74                     25                      25                     

Premises costs 1,145                 1,145               1,188                 1,188                

Utilities 625                    625                   482                    482                   

Maintenance and repairs 749                    749                   719                    719                   

Insurance related expenditure ( business continuity costs) 4,341                 4,341               -                     -                    
Other income generating activities 179                    179                   185                    185                   
Catering and residence operations 574                    574                   546                    546                   
Other expenses 711                    711                   570                    592                   

14,145               13,896             9,371                 9,145                

Other Operating expenses include: Group and School Group and School
Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Auditor's remuneration: external audit financial statements audit 18                     14                     
external audit financial statements: subsidiaries 3                       3                       
internal audit 14                     14                     

internal audit other services 4                       4                       

9           Interest Payable Group and School Group and School

Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014
£000 £000

Mortgages and loans 74                     79                     
Interest paid by SFC on loan support for Reid Building 664                   609                   
Net charge on pension liability 263                   85                     

1,001               773                   

10        Taxation Group Group
Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014
£000 £000

Tax re GSofA Singapore Pte Ltd 36                     36                     

36                     36                     
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11 a Tangible Fixed Assets

Group and School Freehold Asset

Land and under

Buildings Construction     Equipment             Total

 £000  £000            £000              £000

Valuation / Cost

At 1 August 2014 85,760                  -                     8,887               94,647              

Additions at Cost 402                       359                    662                   1,423                

Disposals (74)                        -                     (3,962)              (4,036)               

At 31 July 2015 86,088                  359                    5,587               92,034              

At valuation 1995 15,889                  -                     -                   15,889              

At cost 70,199                  359                    5,587               76,145              

86,088                  359                    5,587               92,034              

Depreciation

At 1 August 2014 16,733                  -                     5,595               22,328              

Charge for Year 2,513                    -                     699                   3,212                

Disposals (74)                        -                     (3,962)              (4,036)               

At 31 July 2015 19,172                  -                     2,332               21,504              

Net Book Value  

At 31 July 2015 66,916                  359                    3,255               70,530              

At 1 August 2014 69,027                  -                         3,292               72,319              

The School's policy is that assets are retained at either their 1995 valuation or their historical cost for additions since that date.

Land and Buildings were valued in 1995 by a firm of independent chartered surveyors on a depreciated replacement cost basis. 

All additions since that date have been included at historical cost and their value is deemed to be at least equal to the cost incurred.

Buildings with a net book value of £8,512,682 ( 2013/14: £ 9,178,610) have been funded from Treasury sources. Should these particular buildings be sold, the School would have to surrender

the proceeds to the Treasury or use them in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council.

Included within fixed assets are assets held under finance leases or hire purchase contracts with a net book value of £ 180,594 (2013/14 £ 243,371).

The depreciation charge for the year includes £60,198 ( 2013/14 £ 5,158) in respect of assets leased under finance leases or under hire purchase contracts.
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Valuation of Land & Buildings (Including Inherited Land & Buildings)

Land and buildings have been included at valuation with  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

the following amounts: £000 £000

Increase from valuation of inherited buildings 15,013             15,013              

Increase from valuation of purchased buildings 877                   877                   

Aggregate depreciation on revalued amount (7,049)              (6,727)               

Net book value 8,841               9,163                

The inherited land and buildings concerned were all inherited prior to the 1995 valuation at nil cost. The net book value is £8,313k ( 2013-14 £ 8,617k)

The revalued buildings were purchased prior to the revaluation in 1995.

11 b Assets held for the nation: Heritage Assets  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000  

Valuation or cost

Balances as at 1 August 8,827               12,875              

Adjustment to valuation or cost -                        (4,048)               

Balances as at 31 July 8,827               8,827                

The heritage assets include, amongst others, the School's Charles Rennie Mackintosh furniture and art collections. It also includes the Library's rare and valuable books collection.

In May 2014 the School's Mackintosh Building was badly damaged by a major fire. The building housed a large proportion of the heritage assets and unfortunately some of

the collection was destroyed.  The fall in valuation in 2013-14 is a result of the damage caused by the fire but the School is insured in respect of this loss and received £ 3,600k insurance

monies in respect of this loss.

The valuation disclosed in the balance sheet is based on the assessment of the School's insurance replacement value for the combined collections. These insurance valuations

are updated annually and the most recent valuation was performed at 31 July 2014 by Axa Art, independent valuers who are appropriately qualified to perform the valuation. 

In addition, individual collections are reviewed periodically to ensure the adequacy of the valuation.

Further information about the School's collections is publicly available on the School's website.

5 year Heritage asset summary

2015 2014 2013 2012

£000 £000 £000 £000

Value of heritage assets acquired by donation 8,827                    12,875               12,875             12,875               

Impairment recognised in period -                            (4,048)               -                   -                     

Balances as at 31 July 8,827                    8,827                 12,875             12,875               

It is not practical to provide analysis of a full 5 year period as 2012 was the first year that FRS30 was applied. No comparative figures are available for periods prior to July 2012.

11 c Investments in joint ventures

The school has a 50% interest in The Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation LLP. This is a joint venture arrangement with Historic Scotland.

This joint venture digitally documents heritage sites both in Scotland and internationally and the School undertakes work, at arms length prices for this joint venture.

Located at the School's Digital Design Studio on Pacific Quay the Centre specialises in the precise documentation and 3D representation of heritage 
objects, architecture and environments utilising state of the art high resolution laser scanning technology and 3D visualisation software.

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Investment in joint venture £000 £000  

Share of gross assets 224                   63                     

Share of gross liabilities (212)                 (52)                    

12                     11                     
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12        Endowment Assets  ( Group and School)  31 July  2015  31 July  2014
£000 £000  

 Balances as at 1 August 3,334               3,246                
Additions (note 25) 636                   339                   

Disposals (note 25) (505)                 (92)                    

(Decrease) in cash balances held at fund managers (62)                   (244)                  
Appreciation of endowment asset investments 221                   85                     

Balances as at 31 July 3,624               3,334                

Represented by:

Equities (listed) 3,427               3,075                

Bank balances (note 27) 197                   259                   

Total 3,624               3,334                

13        Debtors Restated

Group School Group School

31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014

£000  £000 £000  £000  

Due in less than one year

Trade debtors 433                    433                   776                    776                   

Debts due from students 399                    399                   263                    263                   

SFC Loan debtor within one year 5,000                 5,000               5,000                 5,000                

Development funding debtor 11,062               -                        5,701                 -                        

Amounts due from related parties 461                    461                   320                    320                   

Amounts due from subsidiary -                         139                   -                         321                   

Amounts due from joint venture 106                    106                   27                      27                     

Prepayments  and accrued income 1,615                 856                   1,093                 945                   
19,076               7,394               13,180               7,652                

Due in more than one year

Development funding debtor -                         -                        5,000                 -                        

SFC Loan debtor greater than one year 11,250               11,250             16,250               16,250              

11,250               11,250             21,250               16,250              

14        Creditors: Amounts Falling Due Within One Year Restated

Group School Group School

31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014

£000  £000 £000  £000  

Trade creditors 573                    573                   700                    700                   

Social security and other taxes payable 55                      (14)                   56                      56                     

Loans (secured) (note 15) 5,070                 5,070               5,070                 5,070                

HP creditor 51                      51                     51                      51                     

Payments in advance 1,132                 1,132               913                    913                   

Deferred SFC funding 2,372                 2,372               2,372                 2,372                

Research contracts accruals 2,721                 2,801               3,547                 3,681                

Insurance funds received -                         -                        2,470                 2,470                

Accruals 1,126                 1,101               1,915                 1,844                

13,100               13,086             17,094               17,157              

As a result of the fire at the Mackintosh Building, insurance claims of £3,600,000 were received in the year to 31 July 2015. This amount has been fully released to income in the current year.

The School is in on-going discussions with its insurers regarding the cost of restoring the Mackintosh Building and the value of the heritage assets destroyed in the fire, for which it is insured.

This is disclosed as a contingent asset at note 31b.
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15        Creditors: Amounts Falling Due After One Year Group School Group School

31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014
£000 £000 £000 £000  

Combined loan (secured) 1,206                 1,206               1,288                 1,288                
Estate redevelopment loan 11,250               11,250             16,250               16,250              
HP creditor 120                    120                   171                    171                   

12,576               12,576             17,709               17,709              

Instalments on the loans above are payable as follows

Between one and two years 5,138                 5,138               5,131                 5,131                

Between two and five years 6,611                 6,611               11,650               11,650              

After five years 827                    827                   928                    928                   

12,576               12,576             17,709               17,709              

Details of loans:

Combined loan: Repayable by quarterly instalments until December 2026

Loan rate 5.59 % (fixed) secured on the Sir Harry Barnes Building and the Margaret MacDonald House Residence

The School entered into a loan funding arrangement with the SFC for the Garnethill Estate redevelopment on 23 October 2012. This  loan facility has been

arranged with Barclays for £25.0m. The SFC have given a guarantee to the bank to cover all costs associated with the loan, negating any risk to the School. 

The interest rate on the loan is fixed at 3.44% p.a. Repayments are quarterly and are due to finish on 23rd October 2018.

A debtor for the future instalments receivable from SFC is included in debtors.

Obligations under finance leases and higher purchase agreements are secured by the underlying assets they relate to (see note 11a).

16        Provision for Liabilities and Charges ( Group and School)
 Provision for 

past service Property
pensions lease Total

£000 £000               £000

Balances as at 1 August 2014 1,041                    228                    1,269

Expenditure in year (104)                      (106)                   (210)                  

Triannual revaluation 394                       -                         394                   

At 31 July 2015 1,331                    122                    1,453                

The provision for past service pensions relates to unfunded enhanced early retirals given in prior years. The provision was calculated by a firm of actuaries in July 2015.

The onerous lease provision relates to the lease for the former Students Union premises on Sauchiehall Street and was calculated over a period of 32 months.

17        Deferred Capital Grants ( Group and School)

Funding Other Grants

Council  and Benefactions          Total
£000 £000            £000

At 1 August 2014
Buildings 49,407                  4,209               53,616              
Equipment 987                       -                   987                   

50,394                  4,209               54,603              

Capital grants received in year 
Buildings -                        479                   479                   

Equipment -                        -                   -                    

-                        479                   479                   

Released to Income and Expenditure

Buildings (1,069)                   (646)                 (1,715)               
Equipment (100)                      -                   (100)                  

(1,169)                   (646)                 (1,815)               

At 31 July 2015

Buildings 48,338                  4,042               52,380              

Equipment 887                       -                   887                   

49,225                  4,042               53,267              
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18        Endowments (Group and School)
Permanent Expendable Total

£000 £000 £000

At 1 August 2014 2,993                    341                   3,334                

Income for year 289                       4                       293                   
Expenditure for year (223)                      (1)                     (224)                  

Accumulated income retained 66                         3                       69                     

Appreciation of endowment asset investments 206                       15                     221                   

At 31 July 2015 3,265                    359                   3,624                

Representing

Prizes funds 3,265                    -                   3,265                
Other funds -                        359                   359                   

3,265                    359                   3,624                

19        Revaluation Reserve Group School Group School

31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014
£000 £000 £000 £000  

Balances as at 1 August 17,990               17,990             22,360               22,360              
Impairment of fixed asset value -                     -                   (4,048)               (4,048)               
Released in year to Income & Expenditure Account (322)                   (322)                 (322)                   (322)                  

At 31 July 17,668               17,668             17,990               17,990              

20        Income and Expenditure Account Group School Group School

General Funds 31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances as at 1 August 2,878                 2,184               2,280                 1,931                
Surplus/ (deficit) after depreciation  at valuation 2,304                 1,927               191                    (154)                  
Transfer from pension reserve 263                    263                   85                      85                     
Release of Revaluation Reserve 322                    322                   322                    322                   

At 31 July 5,767                 4,696               2,878                 2,184                

20        Restricted Reserve Group School Group School

GSA Development Trust 31 July 2015  31 July  2015 31 July 2014  31 July  2014
£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances as at 1 August 11,138               187                    
Surplus after depreciation at valuation 644                    -                   10,951               -                    

At 31 July 11,782               -                   11,138               -                    

21        Pension reserve Group School Group School
31 July 2015 31 July 2015 31 July 2014 31 July 2014

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balances as at 1 August (7,011)               (7,011)              (3,735)               (3,735)               

Employer contributions 1,141                 1,141               1,024                 1,024                
Current service cost (1,618)               (1,618)              (1,215)               (1,215)               
Interest cost (1,306)               (1,306)              (1,242)               (1,242)               
Losses on curtailment (4)                       (4)                     -                     -                    
Return on employer assets 1,524                 1,524               1,348                 1,348                

(263)                   (263)                 (85)                     (85)                    
Actuarial (loss) in pension scheme (1,166)               (1,166)              (3,191)               (3,191)               

At 31 July (8,440)               (8,440)              (7,011)               (7,011)               
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Restated

22        Reconciliation of operating surplus to Net Notes  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Cash Flow from Operating Activities £000 £000

Surplus after depreciation of assets at valuation 3,017               11,145              

Funding council loan support grants (664)                 (609)                  

Depreciation 11 3,212               1,952                

Deferred grants released to income 17 (1,815)              (908)                  

Endowment & investment income 5 (338)                 (412)                  

Interest payable 9 1,001               773                   

Decrease  in stock 7                       3                       

Taxation 10 36                     36                     

(Increase) in debtors 13 (896)                 (8,778)               

(Decrease) in creditors 14 (3,994)              (358)                  

Share of operating surplus in joint venture (1)                     (11)                    
Increase / (Decrease) in provisions 16 184                   (157)                  

Net cash (outflow) from operating activities
(251)                 2,676                

23        Taxation Year Ended Year Ended
 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Tax re GSofA Singapore Pte Ltd (36)                   (36)                    

Net cash (outflow)  from taxation (36)                   (36)                    

24        Returns on Investments and Servicing of Finance Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Income from endowments 5 293                   212                   

Interest received on current accounts 5 45                     200                   
Interest paid on long term loans 9 (74)                   (79)                    

Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance 264                   333                   

25        Capital Expenditure and Financial Investments Notes Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Payments to acquire tangible assets 11 (1,423)              (17,731)            

Payments to acquire endowment investments 12 (636)                 (339)                  

Deferred capital grants received 17 479                   15,518              

Receipt from sale of  endowment investments 12 505                   92                     

Net cash (outflow) from capital expenditure and financial investments (1,075)              (2,460)               

26        Financing Year Ended Year Ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Capital element of loan repayments (51)                   289                   

Net HP (repayment ) / drawdown (82)                   (82)                    

Net cash outflow from financing (133)                 207                   

The loan repayable to Barclays during the year was fully funded and directly paid by the Scottish Funding Concil. There was no cash inflow or outflow from Glasgow School of Art in respect of the

Barclays loan capital repayments or loan interest. There was no cash inflow to GSA from the Scottish Funding Council in respect of the capital repayments or interest paid. Therefore these items are 

 excluded from the Cashflow Statement.
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27        Analysis of Changes in Net (Debt)  As at  Other  As at  

  1 Aug 2014 Cash Flow Changes  31 July 2015 

Notes £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

 

Endowment Cash Assets 12 259                       (62)                     -                   197                   
Cash in hand, and at bank 7,019                    (1,169)               -                   5,850                

7,278                    (1,231)               -                   6,047                
Due within one year 14 (5,121)                   -                     -                   (5,121)               
Due after one year 15 (17,709)                 -                     5,133               (12,576)            

Total (15,552)                 (1,231)               5,133               (11,650)            

28a Related Party Transactions
Due to the nature of the School's operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn from local public and private sector organisations), it is inevitable tha
transactions will take place with organisations in which a Governor may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a Governor may have an interest are
conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the School's financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.

The Board of Governors consider the relationships that the School has with GSA Enterprises Ltd and GSA Students Association has the characteristics of related parties under
the Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 8.

GSA Enterprises Ltd. (GSAE)
In the year ended 31 July 2015 the School received £22,700 from GSA Enterprises  (2013/14 £7,000) including Gift Aid contributions. GSA also entered into a loan agreement with
GSAE to allow GSAE to continue trading post-fire. The balance at 31 July 2015 is £230,000 (2014: £80,000 ) and is included in amounts owed by related parties in debtors. There were also recharges in
the year with a year end debtor balance in respect of these recharges of £1,200 ( 2013/14: £nil)

GSA Student Association.(GSASA)
During the year to 31 July 2015 GSA advanced a further loan to GSASA to assist them following the fire and the transfer of trading operations to the new premises in the Assembly Building
The loan balance at 31 July 2015 is £230,000 (2014:£ 240,000) and is included in amounts owed by related parties in debtors.

28b Subsidiary and Joint Venture Undertakings
GSofA Singapore pte ltd
The school has a wholly owned subsidiary in Singapore. The School owns 100% of the share capital being 1SGD. Its financial results have been consolidated into the accounts 
for the year to 31 July 2015.
The transactions between GSA and GSofA Singapore related to management costs paid from GSofA Singapore to GSA of £139,247 (2013/14 £321,000)
As at 31 July 2015, a debtor is included in the accounts of the School for this amount. 
Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation  LLP 
The School has entered into the above joint venture arrangement with Historic Scotland.  This joint venture digitally documents heritage sites both in Scotland and internationally
and the School undertakes work, at arms length prices, for this joint venture. Located at the School's Digital Design Studio on Pacific Quay the centre specialises in the precise
documentation and 3D representation of heritage objects, architecture and environments utilising state of the art high resolution laser scanning technology and 3D visualisation software.
The share of the operating surplus was £ 1,000 (2013/14: £  11,000).The value of the investment in the joint venture at the year end is £12,000 (2013/14: £ 11,000).
£105,700 (2013/14 £27,000) is included in debtors at the year end. The accounts are made up to 31 March annually to coincide with the year end of Historic Scotland
Glasgow School of Art Development Trust
This was established in 2010 to manage the philanthropic capital appeal for the new Graduate and Research Centre. It is an independent charitable trust governed by a deed of trust
and is registered with OSCR. Its financial results have been consolidated into the aacounts for the year to 31 July 2015.

29        Pensions

The School's employees belong to two principal pension schemes; the Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme (STSS) and a Local Government Pension Scheme administered
by the Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF) which are of the defined benefit type.

The cost of the SPF scheme was £1,141,000 (2013/14- £ 1,024,000) and the cost of the STSS was £896,000 (2013/14  £837,000). Other pension costs totalled £71,000 (2013/14: £ 44,000)

Strathclyde Pension Fund (SPF)  

The Strathclyde Pension Fund provides benefits on final pensionable salary for employees of local government and some other institutions. This  scheme, a multi employer defined benefits 

scheme, covers both past and present employees. A valuation of the School's benefit obligations has been estimated by a qualified independent actuary based on the 31 March 2011

valuation results, rolled forward into the FRS17 assumptions as at 31 July 2015. The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 August 2014 to 31 July 2015 was 19.3% of pay.

The employee contribution rate was variable during 2014-15 depending upon the individual level of remuneration. The range was from 5.5% to 10.4%. There were no outstanding

pension contributions at the year end. Principal actuarial assumptions ( expressed as weighted averages) at the end of the year were as follows:

Financial assumptions  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Pension increase 2.60% 2.70%

Salary increase rate 4.50% 5.00%

Expected return on assets 3.60% 6.00%

Discount rate 3.60% 4.00%

Mortality assumptions

The average future life expectancies at age 65  used to determine benefit obligations are as follows: Male Female

Current pensioners 22.1 years 23.6 years

Future pensioners 26.3 years 26.2 years
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Fair value of the plan assets and the return on those assets were as follows:

2015 2014

rate of return Value rate of return Value

% £000 % £000

Equities 3.60% 21,034                  6.60% 19,001              

Bonds 3.60% 3,366                    3.50% 3,000                

Property 3.60% 3,366                    4.70% 1,750                

Cash 3.60% 280                       3.60% 1,250                

28,046                  25,001              

Analysis of the amount shown in the balance sheet  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Fair value of plan assets 28,046             25,001              

Present value of funded benefit obligations (36,486)            (32,012)            

Net liability (8,440)              (7,011)               

Analysis of amount charged to operating surplus  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Current service cost 1,618               1,215                

Total operating charge 1,618               1,215                

Analysis of amounts included in other finance income/costs  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Expected return on employer assets (1,524)              (1,348)               

Losses on curtailment 4                       -                    

Interest cost 1,306               1,242                

Net (return) (214)                 (106)                  

Net income and expenditure charge 1,404               1,109                

Employer contributions (1,141)              (1,024)               

Net charge on pension liability 263                   85                     

Analysis of amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses (STRGL)  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 686                   117                   

Changes in financial assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (1,852)              (3,308)               

Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (1,166)              (3,191)               

Analysis of movements in present  value of the scheme liabilities  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Opening defined benefit obligation 32,012             26,530              

Current service cost 1,618               1,215                

Interest cost 1,306               1,242                

Contribution by members 395                   361                   

Actuarial losses 1,852               3,308                

Loss on curtailment 4                       -                    

Benefits paid (701)                 (644)                  

Closing defined benefit obligation 36,486             32,012              

Analysis of movements in fair value of the scheme assets  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

£000 £000

Opening fair value of employer assets 25,001             22,795              

Expected return on assets 1,524               1,348                

Contributions by members 395                   361                   

Contribution by employer 1,141               1,024                

Actuarial gains 686                   117                   

Benefits paid (701)                 (644)                  

Closing fair value of employer assets 28,046             25,001              

The School expects to contribute approximately £ 1,175k to the Strathclyde Pension Fund in the next year. The cumulative actuarial loss at 31 July 2015 was £4,158k (2013/14: £2,992k)

The return on the Fund in market value terms for the period to 31 July 2015 is estimated based on the actual Fund returns provided by the Administrating Authority and index returns where 

necessary. The actual return for the period from 1 July 2014 to 31 March 2015 was 11.3% and the estimated return for the period from 1 August 2014 to 31 July 2015 was 10.5%.
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History of experience gains and losses Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

 31 July  2015  31 July  2014  31 July  2013  31 July  2012  31 July  2011

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Difference between the expected and actual return on assets 686                    117                    2,746               (116)                   595                   

Value of assets 28,046               25,001               22,795             18,445               16,729              

Percentage of assets 2.4% 0.5% 12.0% -0.6% 3.6%

Experience gains/(losses) on liabilities 481                    8                        -                   (283)                   -                    

Present value of liabilities (36,486)             (32,012)             (26,530)            (24,269)             (19,421)            

Percentage of the present value of liabilities -1.3% 0.0% 0.0% 1.2% 0.0%

Actuarial (losses)/ gains recognised in the STRGL (1,166)               (3,191)               2,295               (3,165)               (2,635)               

Present value of liabilities (36,486)             (32,012)             (26,530)            (24,269)             (19,421)            

Percentage of the present value of liabilities 3.2% 10.0% -8.7% 13.0% 13.6%

Scottish Teachers' Superannuation Scheme (STSS)
The scheme is an unfunded multi employer defined benefit scheme. Contributions, on a pay as you go basis, are credited to the exchequer under arrangements governed by the
Superannuation Act 1972. A notional asset value is ascribed to the Scheme for the purpose of determining contribution rates. Under the definitions set out in the Financial Reporting
Standard 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’, the STSS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The School is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme
Accordingly the School has accounted for its contributions as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The pension cost is assessed every five years in accordance with the advice
of the Government Actuary. The assumptions and other data that have the most significant effect on the determination of the contribution levels are as follows:

Valuation date 31 March 2010
Valuation method Prospective benefits
Investment return per annum 4.6%
Rate of real earnings growth 1.5%
Present  value of liabilities at date of valuation £ 24.37 million
Pension increases per annum 2.8%

The employer contribution rate for the period from 1 August 2014 to 31 July 2015 was 14.9% ( 2013/14: 14.9%) of pay. The employee contribution rate was 6.4% during 2014/15 ( 2013/14: 6.4%)
The scheme is an unfunded scheme and it is not intended that the scheme will have a level of financial assets which match the liabilities of the scheme. The full actuarial review of the schme is
available from the Government Actuary’s Department. There were no outstanding pension contributions at the year end

30        Capital Commitments ( Group and School)  31 July  2015  31 July  2014
£000 £000

Committed and contracted as at 31st July 2015 -                        -                        

There are no other financial commitments  (2013/14: none)

31a Contingent Liabilities (Group and School)

There were no contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.

31b Contingent Asset (Group and School)

GSA is currently in negotiations with its insurer regarding the basis of it funding the reinstatement of the Mackintosh building, following the fire and no agreement has yet been reached

32        Bursary and Other Student Support Funds  2014 -  2015  2013 -  2014
Hardship Childcare Total Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

Balance brought forward at 1 August 2014 -                        -                     -                        -                   
Funds received in year 121                       24                      145                   137                   

Expenditure (121)                      (24)                     (145)                 (137)                  

Balance carried forward at 31 July 2015 -                        -                     -                   -                    

Grants are available solely for students; the School acts only as paying agent. The grants and related disbursements are therefore excluded from the Income and Expenditure Account.

33        Segmental Reporting Year Ended Year Ended

The group activities are carried out in Glasgow and Singapore.  31 July  2015  31 July  2014

Group Turnover for these two markets is split as: £000 £000

Glasgow 40,003             39,645              

Singapore 969                   955                   

Total 40,972             40,600              

34        Operating Lease Commitments  2014 -  2015  2013 -  2014

Land and Other Total Total

Buildings Equipment

£ £ £ £

Due less than 1 year 16,583               -                     16,583             -                    

Due within 2 and 5 years 370,821             -                     370,821           344,322            

Due greater than 5 years -                     -                     -                   -                    

387,404          -                 387,404         344,322         

NOTES TO ACCOUNTS - continued

 39 
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Glasgow School of Art  

Students’ Association 

The Art School 

20 Scott Street, 

Glasgow 

G3 6PE 

 

www.theartschool.co.uk 
Report to the BoG 
December 2015: GSA Students’ Association 

 
The students association has had a truly exciting first term, from welcoming new and returning students at 
the beginning of term to helping facilitate and fund their pioneering projects. The Students association has 
certainly grown in its engagement with students wanting to make work outside of their studio, which 
demonstrates that the choice to study at the GSA is down to a deep need to live and work creatively and 
not just for a process of accreditation. While there are still many issues facing the students association 
and the GSA, we remain excited and confident that what we have to offer for 2016 will be truly 
spectacular.  
 
The Associations' strength as a pioneering creative centre is not just dependent on the support and 
commitment of its members but also from the wider creative community in Glasgow. While we require 
patronage from a diverse community to remain commercially viable it is also for a more holistic sense, to 
nurture the students’ connection to the world beyond art school: the association should act as the 
confluence between two parallel creative rivers, ultimately connecting students, practitioners, alumni and 
the public. This growing sense of belonging to a creative community puts the association in a sturdy 
position to represent, rejuvenate and reach out to the waves of new students choosing to enter an 
increasingly brutalised industry. 
 
 

(i) Student Representation 
 

The association recently held its first Directors forum for the year (Friday the 20
th
 of November). The 

forum was implemented as an opportunity for any student to raise and discuss any aspect of the 
student experience with Director Tom Inns, Head of Learning and Teaching, Vicky Gunn, Head of 
Academic and Student Services Craig Williamson. This is a horizontal level of representation which 
should allow for students to convers over issues which may be affecting the whole school and a 
chance to bypass the fore formal nature of the SSCC meetings. It was also useful to have Head of 
estates Michael Quigley in attendance as most of the issues raised related directly to the space 
provisions at the GSA (especially in the face of rising student numbers) and the management of H&S. 
This is always a useful platform to encourage open discussion which reinforces a culture of active 
representation and a cross school awareness of different issues occurring in different departments. 
Many positive action points have come out of this which will be carried forward into next term. 
 
From this meeting we have been in conversation with TSD (as much of the discussion was centred 
around space and workshop provisions) to see how we can improve the Workshop Monitoring Group 
as a forum. The WMG was set up last year to improve the quality and provisions of the TSD. While 
the group had previously been open to both staff and students we felt that this format may hinder an 
open student lead discussion around workshop facilities when there may also a departmental agenda. 
This is scheduled for the 20th of December 
 
At the beginning of the term there were a number of students actively abstaining from the SSCC 
process, believing it did not properly affect change as a result of the student voice. While this is 
worrying it demonstrates that while formal representation may be paramount to a successful and 
equal institution, the most potent aspect of the student voice will always be informal, peer critique. 
During term 2 I will work with the SRC to investigate better ways of representing this facet of the 
student voice in the structures of the GSA. It is good to see that the second round of SSCC meetings 
is going ahead and students are being made more aware of the changes that are happening as a 
result. 
There has now been an almost full implementation of the RES RES scheme which has vastly 
improved the parity of representation within each respective school. I do, however, believe there still 
needs to be a better level of communication feeding back down from AC to the students, this is 
something I will investigate further in terms 2 and 3 for the benefit of the GSA in 2016/17/18.   
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(ii) Looking ahead to 2015 

 
This academic year we aim to excel in the delivery of activities, events, and engagement across all 
platforms with a specific focus on self-organised learning and academic provisions outside the curriculum. 
 
A few things to watch out for: 
  

 As with last year we look to host a week of activities at the beginning of the new year, using 
archives and collections as a point of reference we will look at our refreshers week as a step 
toward a reinstatement of the activity week, this week also coincides with LGBT awareness 
month which the societies have chosen to inform their schedule of events.  

 We are working with students to put on a range of workshops exploring creative practice and the 
materiality of protest with an aim to encourage a DIY approach to artmaking within and beyond 
the GSA  

 As ever we are looking to expand our extracurricular, academic provision to students by working 
closely with our societies and with the library to develop an archive of extracurricular work at the 
from GSA Students and student made readily available reading lists which will help to inform 
academic investigation outside the designated routes studied within school, we will be looking to 
allocate more funds to this element of the operation, this also includes working in partnership to 
develop Studio + to include and promote the activities of the student initiated societies as part of 
a pioneering extra/curricular creative framework 

 A recent fundraising restructure  has meant that term 2 will see a rise in student lead fundraising 
activity at the assembly building, including the fashion show, P&P’s annual Alt Night, Com Des 
W.I.P show and many new editions which will all aid in paying for degree show catalogues and 
taking work across the UK to various fayres and exhibitions 

 We will continue to work with big name programmers around the city to encourage a diverse 
range of activities within the association club schedule. Matt, along with the bookings team have 
devised a  regular programming schedule which will launch in February with: Night of the Jaguar 
& Shoot Ur Shot happening monthly and: All Caps, Balkanarama, Headstrong, Animal Farm, 
Freaky Freaky Highlife Mungo’s Handpicked & Frog beats all happening on a bi monthly basis 
which will provide a level of continuity and expectation which will in turn help to support a stable 
financial position whilst also  

 A special springtime End of Term party themed around Ovid’s Metamorphoses is being devised 
for the spring break and a new run of big Bank Holiday parties and a super charged series of 
PVCs for Term 2 and 3!  
 
 
 

(i) Societies development 
 

As the result of both an increase in dedicated space and personnel resource within the 
Association, we have been able to develop and implement a more robust and appropriate 
framework for facilitating and developing student led activities and initiatives - particularly in 
regards to our student led clubs and societies. At the close of the first term of this academic year 
we have an additional 5 new societies, each exploring an area of creative practice not formally 
accommodated for within the current academic programmes at Glasgow School of Art.  

Through their diverse and often progressive activities, events and other public outcomes, we 
support the autonomy these groups to explore and identify alternative pedagogical strategies and 
new modes of learning through practices driven by ‘self-organised’ activity. As such, with the 
proper support and resources, these groups provide an invaluable opportunity to bring together 
new perspectives and approaches to teaching and learning within the context of art and design 
education. 
As the appetite for these forms of activities continue to grow within the student population, over 
the coming months, the Students’ Association will initiate a scoping exercise with our current 
groups to gain further insight into their current needs in order to develop a more long term and 
sustainable strategy for supporting both current and future activities, with the GSA and with 
knowledge of plans laid out in the strategic plan.  
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(iii) Commercial Business Activity/Performance 
 

 
From October we have trading has been very strong, with a weekly income averaging around 
£25K.  
 
November has been stronger than budget and we feel confident that we should see a decent 
surplus on both months. The October Accounts are being finalised by our Accountant as I write 
and will be presented within days. 
 
There has been a mass of activity in the venue over the past few months with many big acts 
choosing our venue for club nights and ticketed gigs which are always a healthy income stream, 
which shows a healthy growth in public awareness.  
 
An added bonus in November especially has been the number of catering events we have 
supplied. This will noticeably boost profitability in November especially. 
 
Unfortunately there was an isolated incident where a promoter went AWOL without paying the 
hire fee or paying the artists, the box office sales were also stolen. Incidents like this have 
developed the rationale for a more reliable framework for bookings, by where for events of a 
certain cost we will only work with trusted promoters with experience in the sector. 
 
We are currently busy planning the Christmas end of term party ‘antifreeze’ which will be held on 
the 11

th
 of December featuring a live karaoke band and some incredible visuals created by alumni 

and students, as ever this event will help to fundraise for our increasing student activity  
(please promote it!!) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As ever, I will be happy to go through anything with you in person,  
 
All the best 

 
 
 
Lewis Prosser 
Student President 
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THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
Board of Governors December 2015: Action Points 

 
 

 
 
 

    

 
 
 

First discussed Minute Item Action By Update Report 

     

  Completed: to be removed    

     

16.06.14 7 Risk Reporting to Board 
Mechanism to be devised 

SP Now on future Board agendas 

     

  Ongoing Items   

     

15.10.13 9 Board Agenda Timetable 
To be reviewed  

ESL/CW/JM Ongoing 

17.02.14 15 Reports on GSAE  
To be provided to the Board 

ESL/JM On agenda, December 2015 meeting 

09.03.15 9 Recruitment and Admissions 
Presentation on Recruitment Processes 

SP For meeting during 2015/16 

09.03.15 13 Visit by Governors to Forres Campus 
To be arranged 

MG Ongoing 

18.06.15 14 Relationship between GSA and GSASA 
Under review 

CW/SP Ongoing (via Internal Audit) 

09.10.15 5 Remuneration Committee 
Framework to be prepared 

Head of HR On agenda, December 2015 meeting 
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BoG 
08.12.15 

Paper B2 
THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 

 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS, 8th December 2015  
 
Report from the Audit Committee to the Board of Governors for the year 2014/15 
(1 August 2014 to 31 July 2015) and thereafter.  
 
 
1. Administration 
 

.1 The membership of the Audit Committee during the year and at the date of this          
report was: 

 
Ms Alison Lefroy Brooks (Chair)   Lay Governor 
Mr Douglas Brown    Lay Governor  
Dr Janet Brown     Lay Governor  
Sir Muir Russell     Lay Governor 
      
Other regular attendees (by invitation) at meetings included the Chair of the Board 
of Governors, the Director of the School, the Director of Finance and Resources, the 
Registrar, the Deputy Director of Finance and Resources, the Head of Finance, and 
representatives from the Internal Auditors (BDO) and the External Auditors (Scott 
Moncrieff). 

 
.2 The Audit Committee met on four occasions during the 2014/15 year: 

 
- 3rd September 2014 
- 27th October 2014 
- 15th January 2015 
- 21st April 2015 

 
Subsequent to the 2014/15 financial year-end, the Committee met on 31st August 
2015 and is scheduled to meet on 4th December 2015, 4th February 2016 and 20th 
April 2016. 

  
.3 An updated version of the Committee’s ‘Remit, Membership and Procedures’ was 

considered at the meeting of September 2014 and approved by the Board of 
Governors in October 2014, and this process has been repeated in August 2015 
and October 2015 respectively.  

 
.4 The Audit Committee’s annual review of its effectiveness for 2014/15 is underway at 

the time of writing and will be reported to the next meeting of the Committee. The 
review is again using an online version of the template provided in the CUC 
Handbook for Members of Audit Committees in HEIs.  

 
 
 

............/ 
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2 Internal Audit 
 

.1 During the 2014/15 year (and at the first meeting of 2015/16), BDO, the Internal 
Auditors, presented the following reports to the Audit Committee on reviews carried 
out during 2014/15:  

 

 Review of Risk Management 

 Review of UKVI Tier 4 

 Review of Health and Safety Reporting  

 Review of Health and Safety Policies 

 Review of Health and Safety Plan 

 Review of Accounts Payable 

 Review of Technical Support 

 Review of IT Strategy, Security and Support 
 

In addition, follow-up reports on implementation of Internal Audit recommendations 
were provided to the Committee and the Internal Auditors’ own Annual Report for 
2014/15 will be presented to the Committee in December 2015 (see .3 below).  
 
A number of the above reviews were commissioned by the School following a 
restructuring of the School’s administration, in order to confirm the School’s views 
on areas of activity which required particular attention. In respect of the areas 
audited, Health and Safety, IT, and Technical Support moved to the remit of the 
Registrar during 2014/15. 

      
.2 In respect of each of their audit reviews carried out during 2014/15, BDO 

summarised its conclusions as follows: 
 

Review of Risk Management: this report provided valuable guidance on the School’s 
future reporting of risk to the Audit Committee and Board of Governors. The report 
contained seven recommendations, two at ‘high risk’ level, four at ‘Medium risk’ and 
one at ‘low risk’.  
 
Review of UKVI Tier 4: this report was largely positive, indicating that “the processes 
in place in relation to UKVI Tier 4 compliance are well designed and operating 
effectively”. There were two recommendations at the ‘low priority’ level.  
 
Review of Health and Safety Reporting: this review coincided with a number of steps 
already being taken by the School in relation to Health and Safety, including 
additional staffing and a major strengthening of the role, remit and membership of 
the School’s Occupational Health and Safety Committee. The report contained four 
‘high priority’ and two ‘medium priority’ recommendations, all of which were 
accepted and actioned by the School.  
 
Review of Health and Safety Plan: This report indicated that the School’s Health and 
Safety Plan would be “a sound system of internal control” provided that it was 
accompanied by a detailed operational plan (which was subsequently presented to 
the OHS Committee and Board of Governors).  
 
Review of Health and Safety Policies: The report on this review (which contained 
four ‘medium priority’ recommendations) indicated a significant requirement for the 
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School’s wide range of H & S policies to be reviewed and updated. A policy 
framework has subsequently been incorporated within the Health and Safety Plan.  
 
Review of Accounts Payable: this favourable report identified four medium priority 
recommendations, all accepted by the School.  
 
Review of Technical Support: This was a broadly favourable report, containing four 
medium priority recommendations and one low priority recommendation, all of which 
were accepted by the School. 
 
Review of IT Strategy and Support: This report (containing one high priority 
recommendation, six medium priority recommendations and one low priority 
recommendation) identified a number of challenges in the area of IT strategy, 
security and support. The School accepted the recommendations and 
acknowledged that this was an area of activity requiring significant attention and 
continuing scrutiny.  

 
.3 In summary, the Internal Auditors stated in their Annual Report that: 
 

A number of high priority recommendations were raised in the period, and there 
were four reviews where limited to no assurance was given. However, during our 
follow up work we were able to confirm that many of the key recommendations had 
been addressed in a timely manner, mitigating the risks identified. However, there 
remains a priority one recommendation which has not yet been implemented 
relating to the removal of system access rights for persons who have left the 
organisation. 
 
In our view, based on the reviews undertaken during the period, and in the context 
of materiality: 
 
• The risk management activities and controls in the areas which we 

examined, with the exception of the IT security point noted above, were 
found to be suitably designed to achieve the specific risk management, 
control and governance arrangements in the period under review.  
 

• Based on our verification reviews and sample testing, and with the 
exception of the IT security point noted above, the risk management, 
control and governance arrangements were operating with sufficient 
effectiveness to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance that the 
related risk management, control and governance objectives were achieved 
by the end of the period under review.   

 
• The arrangements we examined to promote economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness were suitably designed to achieve the objectives under review 
and were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable, but 
not absolute, assurance that the related objectives were achieved during 
the period under review.  

 
.4 The fee for Internal Audit for the year was £15,153 (£16,200 in 2013/14)  
 
.5  The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the service provided by BDO in 2014/15 

was acceptable and that the fees paid provided value for money. 
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3. External Audit 
 

 Details of the audit process in relation to the School’s Annual Accounts for 2014/15 were 
presented to the Committee at its meeting of August 2015, and to the Board of 
Governors in October 2015. Scott Moncrieff’s Audit Management Report was due to be 
presented to the Committee at its December 2015 meeting and to the subsequent Board 
of Governors meeting, also in December 2015. The Audit Conclusion indicated that: 
 

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view and comply with the 
Companies Act 2006, the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts 
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). The financial statements also comply with 
the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish Funding Council, the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education and all 
relevant accounting standards. 

In our opinion, the financial statements comply with the Scottish Funding Council’s 
Financial Memorandum and we have not identified any instances where funds 
administered for a specific purpose have not been properly applied to those 
purposes or where funds provided by the Scottish Funding Council have not been 
applied in accordance with the Financial Memorandum. 

We are pleased to report that our audit report, which is included in the financial 
statements, is unqualified. In our opinion, from information provided to us during the 
audit, no events or conditions appear to exist which cast doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. We are therefore satisfied with the disclosure in the 
financial statements.  

 

The Audit Management Report (provided to both the Committee and the Board of 
Governors) also outlined audit risk areas considered by the auditors: 

 Management override of controls 

 Revenue recognition 

 Impairment of freehold land and buildings 

 Completeness of expenditure 

 Treatment of pension schemes 

 Heritage assets 

 Endowment assets 

 Deferred capital grants 

 Consolidation 

 Insurance monies 

 Mackintosh restoration and improvement 

 SFC Financial Memorandum and Accounts Direction 

 Scottish Code of Good HE Governance 

 Depreciation  
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With the exception of immaterial issues in relation to ‘completeness of expenditure’, the 
auditors reported ‘satisfactory assurance’ in relation to these various risk areas. 

The fee for external audit for the year is expected to be £19,500 (£19,446 in 2013/14) 
 

The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the services provided by Scott Moncrieff over 
the last year have been acceptable. 
 

4. Risk Management 
 
Further to the report from the Internal Auditors on the School’s Risk Management (see 
above), the Audit Committee and Board of Governors considered the School’s revised 
Risk Management Framework, prepared alongside the Strategic Plan 2015-18.  
 

5. Severance Payments 
 

As indicated in the Scottish Funding Council’s Financial Memorandum, the School’s 
approach to severance payments (approved by the Board of Governors in October 2015) 
will include scrutiny by both the internal auditors (through regular review of the work of the 
School’s Remuneration Committee) and the external auditors. The external auditors 
examined the School’s recent severance payments during audit of the Annual Accounts 
2014/15 and confirmed that these were consistent with the SFC Financial memorandum. 

 
6. Value for Money 
 

The School recognises its responsibility to achieve value for money from all its activities 
and developed a Value-for-Money Strategy, which was approved by the Board in June 
2003.  The School has continued its arrangement with APUC (Advanced Procurement for 
Universities and Colleges) whereby APUC staff are seconded to the School to assist with 
implementation of the School’s Procurement Strategy (updated in November 2013), with 
APUC agreements being used whenever possible. 

 
7. Other Matters Discussed by the Committee during 2014/15 
 

- Revised GSA Statement of Corporate Governance 2014/15 
- Business Continuity and Incident Management 
- Employment Tax Risk Review 
- Transparency Review (TRAC) 
- Annual Review of Board of Governors Effectiveness 
- GS of A Singapore Annual Accounts 
- GSA Depreciation Policy 
- Impact of FRS 102 Adjustments 
- GSA Cheque Signatories 
- Sectoral Developments (standing item at all meetings) 

 
8. Private Meetings between Lay Governors and Auditors 
 

During the Committee’s meeting in October 2014, GSA employees temporarily left the 
meeting, to provide the External and Internal Auditors with the opportunity to discuss any 
issues of concern with the Lay Governors. No issues were raised. This process will also 
take place during the Committee’s meeting in December 2015 and any concerns reported 
to the subsequent Board meeting and the February 2016 meeting of Audit Committee. 
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9.   Final Comments 
 

The Committee is of the opinion that, as far as can reasonably be expected, it is satisfied: 
 
-   On the adequacy and effectiveness of the School’s internal financial and management 

systems and on the adequacy and effectiveness of the arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, based on the assessments provided by the 
external and internal auditors. 

 
-   That the Board’s responsibilities, as described in its Statement of Primary 

Responsibilities, have been satisfactorily discharged. 
 
-   That the Funding Council’s Code of Audit Practice has been complied with. 
 
 

 
Alison Lefroy Brooks 
Convenor 
November 2015  
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THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 

ACADEMIC COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES: 30 September 2015 
 
Present: Professor Tom Inns (Convenor), Professor Vicky Gunn, Dr Alison Hay, Professor Elizabeth 

Moignard, Professor Ken Neil, Dr Alistair Payne, Professor Nick Pearce, Professor Christopher 
Platt, Mr Lewis Prosser, Ms Barbara Ridley, Dr Frances Robertson, Professor Johnny Rodger, 
Professor Tim Sharpe, Ms Alison Stevenson, Dr Craig Williamson. 

 
Attending: Dr Daniel Livingstone 
 
Secretary: Ms Lisa Davidson, Policy and Governance 
 
Apologies: Ms Janet Allison, Professor Paul Anderson, Mr Stuart MacKenzie, Professor Irene McAra-

McWilliam, Ms Sally Stewart. 
 
PART A  ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION AND DECISION 
 
1516.01 Welcome and Introduction from the Convenor 
 

The Convenor welcomed Mr Lewis Prosser, President of the Students’ Association to his first 
meeting of Academic Council. 

 
1516.02 Remit and Membership of Academic Council 2015/16 [AC/30Sep15/A2] 
 

Members considered the following changes to the membership of Academic Council: 
 
 The membership for 2015/16 updated to reflect the new academic structure of GSA; 
 

 The Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar) and the Head of Academic Registry to 
become ex officio members of Academic Council. 

 
Members approved the Remit and Membership of Academic Council for 2015/16. 
 

1516.03 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 May 2015 [AC/30Sep15/A3] 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of Academic Council held on 6 May 2015 were approved. 
 
1516.04 Matters Arising from the Meeting of 6 May 2015 [AC/30Sep15/A4] 
 

i. School of Fine Art: Feedback to Students Following Final Assessment 
 

The Head of the School of Fine Art confirmed that he had met with the President of the 
Students’ Association to discuss the potential options for delivering feedback to students 
following final assessment and that proposals for taking this action forward would be offered to 
Academic Council in December 2015. 

[Action: Head of the School of Fine Art] 
 

ii. Start of Year Rallies 
 
Academic Council noted that all Schools had implemented a form or variation of the Start of 
Year Rally for new students in 2015/16. 
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iii. Heads of Schools’ Surgeries 
 
Academic Council noted that from 2015/16, all Schools would offer a Head (or Deputy) Head of 
School Surgery to students in their cognate areas. 
 
iv. Effectiveness of the Implementation of the Recommendations from the RES-RES Project 

 
Academic Council agreed that at Boards of Studies in October 2015, members would consider 
the implementation of the recommendations from the RES-RES project and report on their 
effectiveness to Undergraduate and Postgraduate Committee, Academic Council, and the 
President of the Students’ Association. 

[Action: Heads of Schools/Director of the Digital Design Studio] 
v. Boards of Studies 

 
 Academic Council noted that the working group to explore the functionality of the Board of 

Studies structure, in conjunction with the convenors of Boards of Studies, would be held in 
Term 1 of 2015/16.  An update would be provided to Academic Council in December 2015.   

[Action: Head of Academic Registry] 
 
1516.05 Convenor’s Report 
 

i. GSA’s Financial Stability  
 
The Convenor reported an increase in student numbers of between 8.5-9% (subject to final 
confirmation of student enrolments) for session 2015/16 and highlighted that this was a 
positive step toward reaching the ambitious target of 25% growth over three years. The 
Convenor acknowledged the significant contribution of the Admissions Target Group in 
achieving this growth.   
 
Academic Council noted that in Westminster and Holyrood, governments were working 
through the Comprehensive Spending Review process, which would determine how much 
funding GSA would receive for its teaching and research activities from 2016/17 onwards. 
 
In London, this involved discussion on the way the Department for Business, Innovation and 
Skills allocated funding to research through the UK’s research councils.  Any changes would be 
announced in November 2015 and these would impact on the way GSA might apply for 
research funding in the future.  
 
The Convenor highlighted that Scottish HEIs were anticipating a cut of 10% in Scottish Funding 
Council funding from September 2016. 
 
ii. Scottish Higher Education Governance Bill 
 
In June 2015, the Scottish Government introduced the Scottish Higher Education Governance 
Bill to make provision about the composition of and appointment to the governing bodies and 
academic boards of higher education institutions.  

 
 

iii. Strategic Partnership with the University of Glasgow 
 

Work towards the renewal of GSA’s Memorandum of Agreement (MoA) with the University of 
Glasgow would continue in 2015/16.  
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Moving forward, the Convenor reported that the University and GSA saw significant benefits in 
reframing the MoA arrangements as part of a broader and deeper strategic partnership 
between the two institutions. A working group had been established to explore the 
opportunities that would be created through strategic partnership which would culminate in a 
new Memorandum of Understanding between the two institutions.  This would outline the 
high level ambitions of the strategic partnership and a new Memorandum of Agreement 
detailing specific arrangements and joint ventures between the institutions. 
 
GSA would also explore the possibility of a strategic partnership with the Royal Conservatoire 
of Scotland. 

 
iv. Health and Safety 
 
GSA’s Health and Safety policy base continued to be revised and several key appointments 
would be made shortly.  The Convenor highlighted that there had been a notable positive shift 
in the Schools’ approaches to degree show preparations. 
 
v. Staffing 
 
Academic Council noted the following staff appointments: 
 

 Ms Janet Allison, Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar) 

 Ms Irene Bell, Programme Leader, BDes/MEDes Product Design 

 Dr Donna Leishman, Programme Leader, BA (Hons) Communication Design 

 Mr Mick McGraw, Programme Leader, MLitt Fine Art Practice 

 Dr Emma Murphy, Programme Leader, MDes Design Innovation suite 
 
GSA had advertised for a new Head of Academic Registry and interviews would be held shortly.  
It was anticipated that the successful candidate would be in post by the end of 2015. 
 
The School of Fine Art would advertise for a Programme Leader for the BA (Hons) Fine Art. 
 
The School of Design would re-advertise for the post of Programme Director for GSA 
Singapore.   
 
vi. Estates Development 

 
a. Restoration of the Mackintosh Building 
 
A range of works had taken place in the Mackintosh Building over the summer months and 
the project’s full-site start would commence in spring 2016.  The restoration was scheduled 
to complete in advance of session 2018/19. 
 

 Since the start of session 2015/16, a series of on-site visits had been organised for staff and 
students to view work in progress and comment on restoration activity to date. In the first 
two weeks of October, discussion sessions would be held with staff from the three Schools, 
Learning Resources, Technical Support, Exhibitions and GSA Enterprises to discuss plans in 
more detail.  These sessions would lead to detailed workshop sessions with the design team 
later in Term 1 to explore the technical issues of heating, IT, lighting, security and 
equipment needs.   
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 The concept design was being progressed on the basis that potentially all first year students 
from across GSA, in addition to higher level School of Fine Art Painting and Printmaking 
students, would be located in the Mackintosh Building.  Internal consultation on the final 
end users would continue and a final decision as to occupancy principles and users of 
specific spaces was anticipated towards the end of 2015. 
 
b. Altyre Campus, Forres 
 
This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 
 
c. Blythswood House 
 
GSA’s newly renovated 216-bed halls of residence Blythswood House opened at the start of 
2015/16 and was running at full capacity. 
 
d. Mclellan Galleries, 299 Sauchiehall Street, and Stow College 

 
 Work continued on GSA’s proposals for the Mclellan Galleries.  In addition, GSA was scoping 
potential accommodation offered by 299 Sauchiehall Street and Stow College with a view to 
securing additional space. 

 
vii. National Student Survey Results 
 
Overall student satisfaction in the National Student Survey for 2014/15 had increased from 
78% to 80%.  The Convenor noted that 80% overall satisfaction was below the national average 
(86%) and, moving forward, analysis of the comments in the free text sections would be key for 
GSA in identifying areas for improvement.    

 
viii. Personal Professorships and Readership 

 
The Convenor reported that in July 2015, the Glasgow School of Art received confirmation from 
the University of Glasgow that nominations for recognition of academic excellence and 
leadership had been approved through the award of Personal Professorships and Readerships.   

 
Personal Professorships had been awarded to Professor Brian Evans.  The title of Reader was 
awarded to Mr Justin Carter.   
 
Academic Council congratulated Professor Evans and Mr Carter on their achievement. 
 
ix. Exhibitions and Conferences 

 
GSA’s Undergraduate Degree Show in June and Postgraduate Degree Show in September were 
a great success. 
 
The Phoenix Bursary exhibition, held in July 2015, was the culmination of the Phoenix Bursary 
programme.  
 
In September 2015, GSA and the Leverhulme International Network of Contemporary Studies 
co-hosted Mackintosh’s Contemporary: the Contemporary, Tradition and History. This 
international symposium was organised by Professor Johnny Rodger in conjunction with 
academics from the Leverhulme Network. 
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Also in September 2015, GSA and CCA Glasgow co-hosted: Material Culture in Action: Practices 
of making, collecting and re-enacting art & design. This two day international conference was 
organised by Dr Frances Robertson and Elodie Roy with support from the Design History 
Society. 
 
x. Notable Developments in Schools 

 
Academic Council noted the following developments: 
 

 Worked continued towards the re-organisation of the Digital Design School into the School 
of Visualisation and Simulation.  It was anticipated that the School would deliver 
undergraduate programmes, currently under development, from 2017.   

 The School of Design had put forward proposals for a postgraduate MDes Silversmithing 
and Jewellery programme.  The programme proposal was approved by the Executive Group 
in September 2015 and would be considered by the University’s Academic Standards 
Committee on 2 October 2015. 

 The provision formerly provided by the Forum for Critical Inquiry, would, from 2015/16, be 
delivered with oversight from the Schools of Fine Art, and Design.  Subsequently, the School 
of Fine Art formed the department of Art Context and Theory, headed by Dr Sarah Smith, 
and the School of Design formed the department of Design History and Context, headed by 
Mr Nicholas Oddy. 
 

xi. Marketing and Communication 
 

The Marketing and Communications team collected the Best Marketing and Communication 
Team Award at the Times Higher Education Leadership and Management Awards in June 2015.  
This success continued in July, when the Marketing team were awarded two prizes at the 
prestigious HEIST Awards including the top prize, Marketing Department of the Year. 

 
1516.06 Report from the Head of Research [AC/30Sep15/A6] 
 
 Academic Council received the report in Paper AC/30Sep15/A6 and the Head of Research 

highlighted the following items: 
 

i. REF2014 Analysis and Insight 
 
Professor Paul Greenhalgh, Chair of REF2014 Subpanel D34 ‘Art and Design’, visited GSA in 
September 2015 and provided candid feedback on the REF process, GSA’s performance in 
audit, pointers for impact, and thoughts on the shape of REF2020.  
 
The Head of Research reported that Professor Greenhalgh had indicated that Impact would 
feature more prominently in REF2020, which would be positive for GSA.  GSA were advised to 
be more confident about using double weighting and that it would be beneficial if one or two 
members of GSA academic staff were nominated to act as panel members. 
 
Following Professor Greenhalgh’s visit, the Research Office would organise a series of 
information and discussion sessions in Schools on quality criteria for REF audit, for Outputs and 
Impact.  
 
ii. Annual Research Plans 
 
In August 2015, academic staff received the draft pro forma for the Annual Research Plan, 
which would form a core component of the Activity Planning model. Academic Council 
members were invited to provide feedback to the Head of Research on the pro forma element 
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of Activity Planning until the end of October 2015, after which point the pro forma would be 
embedded into RADAR.  

[Action: Members of Academic Council] 
 
The first, formal submission of ARPs for peer review will be conducted to a deadline in March 
2016 to be confirmed, with staff being able to access the RADAR final version of the ARP from 
January 2016.  
 
iii.  Funding Successes 
 
In addition to the projects outlined in Paper AC/30Sep15/A6, there was a good breadth of 
projects from across GSA which fed into AHRC priority areas which had been successful in 
attracting funding. 

 
 iv. Doctoral Activity 
 

In working toward the 25% target increase in PGR students, GSA has instigated a new 
approach in 2015/16 to developing PGR cohort study with the Creative Campus in the 
Highlands and Islands. The Creative Futures Partnership between the Institute of Design 
Innovation and Highlands and Islands Enterprise would allocate bursaries for a cohort of 
approximately five PhD students to start in January 2016.  

 
 v. Lunchtime Research Seminars 
 

The Research Office would establish a series of lunchtime research seminars for 2015/16. The 
series would receive contributions from GSA researchers and groups, research office staff, 
from visitors as well as GSA PGR students. The intention was for the series to dovetail with 
Schools’ events already in development and the Head of Research highlighted that the 
intention was to support, where possible, with funding for hospitality.  
 
vi.  Staffing 
 
Ms Phyllis Mullan had moved from Research and Doctoral Studies to a promoted post in GSA 
Estates. The Head of Research reported that the post would be filled in due course, and in the 
interim, asked that members be patient with PGR administration staff. 
 
Dr Robin Burgess would leave GSA at the end of September2015. GSA would recruit a new 
Research Information Coordinator in the autumn. 
 
Ms Nicola Siminson, as Institutional Repository and Records Manager, would move back to 
Research from mid-October and would play a key role in GSA’s preparations for REF2020, 
maintaining responsibilities for the institution’s records management. 
 

1516.07 GSA Activity Planning: Teaching Norms [AC/30Sep15/A7] 
 
 The Head of Research provided a brief outline of Paper AC/30Sep15/A7 which was an updated 

version of the paper which had been considered at Undergraduate and Postgraduate 
Committee on 2 September 2015. 

 
The Head of Research reported that all Schools had provided academic staff nominations for 
the subgroup that would be responsible for the production of the Activity Planning Teaching 
Norms.  
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1516.08 Report from the Registrar and Secretary [AC/30Sep15/A8] 
 
 Academic Council received the report from the Registrar and Secretary [AC/30Sep15/A8].  The 

following items were highlighted: 
 

i. Memorandum of Agreement with the University of Glasgow 
 
GSA is proposing that the approach should be one that sets the current Memorandum of 
Agreement aside and establishes a new agreement that recognises the strategic partnership 
and the maturity of the existing relationship. The new agreement should also include detailed 
individual agreements for each joint programme as annexes to the main agreement.  It was 
anticipated that the work on the individual agreements for each joint programme would be 
completed by December 2015. 
 
In terms of the current Memorandum of Agreement, GSA and the University have agreed a 
further extension until August 2016.  It was confirmed that the fee structure would not change 
during this extension.   
 
An update on progress would be offered to Academic Council in December 2015. 
   [Action: Registrar and Secretary] 
 
ii. Policy and Governance Department 
 
Management and responsibility for Quality Assurance and Academic Standards moved to the 
Policy and Governance department on 1 September 2015.  Janet Allison was appointed as 
Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar) who, together with Lisa Davidson, Senior 
Policy Officer, would provide continuity in these areas. 

 
iii. Academic Council Representative on Board of Governors 
 
In summer 2015, nominations were invited from GSA academic members of Academic Council 
to act as the Academic Council Representative on the Board of Governors.  Professor Ken Neil, 
who had previously been the Academic Council representative, agreed to stand again.  There 
were no other nominations received and therefore no election was required.  Professor Neil 
would act as Academic Council Representative on the Board of Governors for the forthcoming 
three sessions. 

 
 iv. Programme Proposals 
 

A Programme Proposal for an MDes Silversmithing and Jewellery was approved in-principle by 
the Executive Group on 7 September 2015.  The Programme Proposal was submitted to 
Academic Standards Committee in October 2015 for consideration and approval.  Subsequent 
to approval by Academic Standards Committee, the School of Design would develop the 
Programme Approval documentation and seek academic approval through the normal route in 
Term 2 of session 2015/16. 

 
v. Periodic Review 
 
The Deputy Head of the School of Design was leading preparations for the School of Design’s 
Periodic Review, the event for which would place on 24 and 25 February 2016. 
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vi. Structure of the Academic Session 
 
The Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar), in conjunction with senior academic 
staff from across GSA, would continue to review and shape the academic session in 2015/16 
with a view to further changes being agreed for 2016/17 onwards. 
 
An update on progress would be offered to Academic Council in December 2015. 
   [Action: Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar)] 
 

1516.09 Digital Design Studio – Complaint Report [AC/30Sep15/A9] 
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 

 
1516.10 Report from the Head of Learning and Teaching [AC/30Sep15/A10] 
 

Academic Council received the report from the Head of Learning and Teaching 
[AC/30Sep15/A10].  The following items were highlighted: 
 
i. NSS and PTES Results 

 
An initial report was submitted to Undergraduate and Postgraduate Committee in September 
2015 regarding GSA’s NSS and PTES performance for session 2014/15.  Action plans would be 
developed with Programme Leaders and a reconfigured Enhancement of Learning & Teaching 
Working Group.   

 
ii. Student Transitions Enhancement Theme 
 
The second year of the QAA Enhancement Theme Student Transitions had been initiated.   GSA 
would establish a group with representation from each School exemplifying activities around 
Transitions Through GSA and how they enhance these.  In addition, the Academic 
Development team, in conjunction with Q-Art, are planning a nationwide symposium on 
Transitions Out of Art School in spring 2016 as part of the institutional approach to the 
enhancement themes.  An update on progress would be offered to Academic Council in 
December 2015. 
   [Action: Head of Learning and Teaching] 

 
iii. Widening Participation 
 
The department of Widening Participation had successfully supported Schools to exceed GSA’s 
Outcome Agreement Target of WP students for 2015/16 (63 students against a target of 60). 
 

1516.11 ELIR 2014 – Follow-Up Report [AC/30Sep15/A11] 
 

The Head of Learning and Teaching confirmed that GSA’s ELIR 2014 Follow-up Report to QAA 
Scotland was submitted on 24 August 2015. 
 

In early October 2015, QAA Scotland would provide comment and feedback on the report to 
the Head of Learning and Teaching, and, subsequent to minor adjustment, the final version 
would be published on the QAA website in due course.   
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1516.12 Update on NSS and PTES Results [AC/30Sep15/A12] 
 

Academic Council received the report from the Head of Learning and Teaching regarding the 
NSS and PTES Results [AC/30Sep15/A12].   
 
Academic Council noted that, although there had been a 2% rise in overall satisfaction in 
2014/15, in comparison with the UK and Scottish sector, both the NSS and the PTES results 
suggested that GSA still had significant shortfalls in student satisfaction, specifically within the 
areas of Organisation and Management and Learning Resources. 
 
The Head of Learning and Teaching reported that in terms of student satisfaction in the NSS 
rankings, GSA ranked 26th out of 30 in the Small Specialist Institution rankings.  In comparison 
with these institutions, GSA was in the lowest quartile for Assessment and Feedback and 
Learning Resources and in the second lowest quartile for Teaching, Academic Support, 
Personal Development and Overall Satisfaction. 
 
The Head of Learning and Teaching reported it had been agreed at Undergraduate and 
Postgraduate Committee on 2 September, that the ELIR Team would be reconstituted as the 
Enhancement of Learning and Teaching Working Group to provide a forum for developing a 
cross-GSA approach to managing information.  
 
The Head of Learning Resources highlighted that Undergraduate and Postgraduate Committee had 
also agreed that staff from professional support services would be able to make a valuable 
contribution to the consideration of solutions and their input to should be sought.  The Head of 
Learning and Teaching confirmed that input from professional support services would be welcome 

and that there would be representation from relevant areas as appropriate on the Enhancement of 
Learning & Teaching Working Group. 

[Action: Head of Learning and Teaching] 

 
 The Head of Learning and Teaching advised that Ipsos MORI, who design and execute the 

National Student Survey, were reviewing the questions with a view to making adjustments for 
the 2016 survey, which would impact on how institutions would be able to analysis 
comparative data from previous sessions.   Further, the Head of Learning and Teaching would 
seek clarification from Ipsos MORI regarding whether they used different algorithms for Small 
Specialist Institutions, as this might impact on SSI scores in comparison with larger HEIs. 

 
1516.13 Learning and Teaching Enhancement Strategy [AC/30Sep15/A13] 
 
 Academic Council received the update on the progress of the development of the Learning and 

Teaching Enhancement Strategy, detailed in Paper AC/30Sep15/A13.   
 
 The Head of Learning and Teaching reported that the five workshops that had been held in 

Glasgow and one in GSA Singapore had been well attended and generated useful concepts and 
ideas which would help shape the context of the Learning and Teaching Enhancement Strategy 
brief and GSA’s ambitions for future enhancement to learning and teaching. 

 
 The Head of Learning and Teaching emphasised that the Learning and Teaching Enhancement 

Strategy also had an external audience which included the governing, regulatory and funding 
bodies and that this would be taken into account in the development of the strategy. 

 
 It was anticipated that the draft Learning and Teaching Enhancement Strategy would be 

presented to Academic Council, via Boards of Studies and Undergraduate and Postgraduate 
Committee, in December 2015 for comment and feedback. 

[Action: Head of Learning and Teaching] 
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1516.14 Schedule for Collaborative Provision Policies on UK and Overseas Articulation 
 
 The Head of Learning and Teaching confirmed that the UK and Overseas Articulation policies, 

with associated pro formas, would be presented to Boards of Studies, Undergraduate and 
Postgraduate Committee and Academic Council for consideration and approval in Term 1 of 
2015/16.  Concurrently, articulation agreements for one UK and Overseas collaboration would 
also be progressing through the normal committee-approval route.  The Committee agreed 
that these agreements would require to be adjusted in line with any feedback received on the 
policy and pro formas. 

[Action: Head of Learning and Teaching] 
 
1516.15 Any Other Business 
 
 There was no other business. 
 
 
PART B  ITEMS FOR REPORT OR APPROVAL 
 
1516.16 Minutes from Undergraduate and Postgraduate Committee of 2 September 2015 

[AC/30Sep15/B1] 
 
 Academic Council noted the minutes from the Undergraduate and Postgraduate Committee 

meeting of 2 September 2015. 
 
1516.17 Update regarding Destination of Leavers in Higher Education Survey [UPC/2Sep15/6.2] 
 
 Academic Council noted the update provided in Paper UPC/2Sep15/6.2 regarding GSA results 

in the Destination of Leavers in Higher Education Survey. 
 
1516.18 Reporting of the Award of Readerships and Personal Professorships [UPC/2Sep15/8] 
 
 Academic Council noted the reporting of the award of Readerships and Personal 

Professorships in Paper UPC/2Sep15/8. 
 
1516.19 GSA Singapore/SIT Partnership Review: Action Plan [UPC/2Sep15/11] 
 
  Academic Council noted the GSA Singapore/SIT Partnership Review Action Plan, developed in 

response to the conditions and recommendations set by the Review Panel in February 2015. 
 
1516.20 Mackintosh School of Architecture: Periodic Review Action Plan [UPC/2Sep15/12] 
 
  Academic Council noted the Mackintosh School of Architecture’s action plan developed in 

response to the recommendations made by the Periodic Review Panel in February 2015. 
 
1516.21 Mackintosh School of Architecture Interim Report on Revised Exchange Arrangements 

Implemented in Session 2013/14 [UPC/2Sep15/13] 
 
  Academic Council noted the Mackintosh School of Architecture’s interim report on the revised 

exchange arrangements which were implemented in session 2013/14. 
 
1516.22 Addition to the Annual Programme Report Template [AC/30Sep15/B8] 
 
  Academic Council considered and approved the additions to the Annual Report Template, 

detailed in Paper AC/30Sep15/B8. 
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1516.23 External Examiner Nomination, Dr Nicolette Mackovicky [UPC/2Sep15/16.1] 
 

Academic Council approved and ratified the recommendation that the University of Glasgow 
appoint Dr Mackovicky as External Examiner for the BDes/MEDes Product Design programme. 

  [Action: Academic Registry] 
 
1516.24 External Examiner Nomination, Professor Jo Stockham [UPC/2Sep15/16.2] 
 

Academic Council approved and ratified the recommendation that the University of Glasgow 
appoint Professor Stockham as External Examiner for the MLitt in Fine Art Practice programme. 

  [Action: Academic Registry] 
 
1516.25  Programme Amendment and Course Approval and Amendment Group: Report of the 

meeting of 16 September 2015 [AC/30Sep15/B10] 
 
 Academic Council noted the report from the Programme Amendment and Course Approval and 

Amendment Group meeting of 16 September 2015. 
 
1516.26  MSc Visualisation: Minor Course Amendments [PACAAG/16Sept15/1.1] 
 

Academic Council approved the amendments set out in Paper PACAAG/16Sept15/1.1, which 
would apply from session 2015/16. 

 [Action: Academic Registry] 
 
1516.27  MDes Interior Design: Minor Programme and Course Amendments [PACAAG/16Sept15/1.2] 
 

Academic Council approved the amendments set out in Paper PACAAG/16Sept15/1.2, which 
would apply from session 2015/16. 

 [Action: Academic Registry] 
 
1516.28  BA (Hons) Communication Design (GSA Singapore): Minor Course Amendments 

[PACAAG/16Sept15/1.3] 
 

Academic Council approved the amendments set out in Paper PACAAG/16Sept15/1.3, which 
would apply from session 2015/16. 

 [Action: Academic Registry] 
 
1516.29 Date of Next Meeting 
 
  Wednesday 9 December 2015, Principal Seminar Room 1, Ground Floor, Reid Building 
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THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
BUSINESS AND ESTATES COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes:  3rd November 2015 (Website version)  
 
Present: Ms Muriel Gray  Chair, Board of Governors (Chair) 
  Mr Douglas Brown  Lay Governor   
  Professor Tom Inns  Director, GSA 

Mr Eliot Leviten             Director of Finance and Resources 
Ms Eleanor McAllister  Lay Governor 
Mr Lewis Prosser  President, Students’ Association 
Ms Christa Reekie  Lay Governor 
Mr Ken Ross   Lay Governor 
   

Attending: Ms Janet Allison  Head of Policy and Governance 
Ms Sandi Galbraith  Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 
Mr David Miller  Estates Development (for item 8) 
Mr Mike Quigley  Head of Estates (for item 8) 
Mr Alistair Storey  Head of Finance 
Mr John Martin  Assistant Secretary to the Board  

    
 
1. Apologies for Absence  

 
Sir Muir Russell, Dr Craig Williamson 
 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 
 None. 
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 31st August 2015 were approved. 
 

4. Action Points 
 

The Committee noted its list of Action Points (Paper 4).  
 

5. Annual Report and Accounts 2014/15 
 
A draft version of the Annual Report and Accounts for 2014/15 had been circulated, 
together with a covering paper (Paper 5). Some textual content was still to be added, but 
the figures were complete. The surplus shown (£2,444k) was substantial, but this largely 
reflected the inclusion (as required by external auditors) of an insurance payment from AXA 
Art in relation to the Mackintosh Building fire. Without this payment, the surplus would be 
£44k. This underlying surplus was less than anticipated, for reasons outlined in the 
accompanying paper.  
 
As explained in the paper, some fire-related expenditure (£535k) made during the year 
would not be met by insurers and would instead be met by the GSA Development Trust. 
The funds transfer from the Trust could not, however, be made in the 2014/15 financial year 
and would therefore be shown as a credit to GSA income in 2015/16. 
 
 
 

………../ 
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Transactions relating to the School’s activities in Singapore were shown under 
‘turnover’, but were otherwise absorbed within the overall accounts. The accounts relating 
to the Centre for Digital Documentation and Visualisation (CDDV) were also included – 
members were reminded that CDDV was a joint venture created to undertake projects 
involving Historic Environment Scotland and the Digital Design Studio.  
 
Subject to addition of final content (which would be circulated to the Committee) and 
scrutiny by the Audit Committee, the Committee recommended to the Board of Governors 
that the Annual Report and Accounts for 2014/15 be approved. 

 
6. Estates Development Update 
  

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 
 

7. Tuition Fees and Residential Accommodation Fees 2016/17 
 
 A paper had been circulated which contained proposed tuition fees for 2016/17 (for those 

courses where the School had discretion to set fee levels) and proposed student 
accommodation charges for 2016/17. As outlined in the paper, the increase in tuition fees 
had been benchmarked against equivalent institutions.  

 
 The President of the Students’ Association indicated that he felt that the residential fees 

were significantly higher than could be found in the private rental sector, but accepted that 
the fees compared favourably with rates for student residences in neighboring HEIs and 
private providers such as Unite. It was noted that the School’s new (leased) residence at 
Blythswood House was close to being fully occupied, although the Committee agreed that it 
would be useful for a breakdown of occupancy by category of student (e.g. country of 
origin, year of study) to be provided. 

[Action: ESL] 
 
 It was clarified that the tuition fee deposits paid by some categories of student were 

designed to ensure that acceptance of offers of places on courses were genuine, so that 
the School’s student population would not be unduly affected by ‘no-shows’. 

 
 The Committee approved the School’s tuition fees and student residence fees for 2016/17, 
as set out in the circulated paper.  

 
 
8. Estates Options Appraisal  
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 

 
9. Glasgow School of Art Enterprises (GSAE Ltd) 
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 

 
10. Report from the Students’ Association 

 
The President of the Students’ Association introduced his report (Paper 10). The 
Association had enjoyed a successful Freshers’ Week, including effective liaison with the 
Association’s equivalent body at the Royal Conservatoire. A loan repayment schedule had 
been agreed by the Association and the School. An unfortunate communication breakdown 
regarding a fire drill had caused some embarrassment and potential loss of income for the 
Association and steps were being taken to prevent a recurrence.  
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The President’s report included a budget request from the Association’s sports section, 
which was continuing to grow. The Committee agreed that a grant of £14,150 be made to 
the Association for support of sports clubs in 2015/16. 

 
11. Management Accounts to 30th September 2015 
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 

 
12. Cash Flow Forecast to February 2017 
 
 The Committee noted the latest Cash Flow Forecast (Paper 12). 
  
13. Dates of Remaining Meetings 2015/16 
 

Thursday 4th February 2016 at 14.00 hours 
Wednesday 18th May 2016 at 14.00 hours 

 
 
 
 
 
 JM 
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BoG/08.12.15/Paper B4.3 
 
THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
MACKINTOSH RESTORATION COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes:  4th November 2015  

 
Present: Ms Eleanor McAllister  Lay Governor (Chair) 
  Mr Douglas Brown  Lay Governor 
  Ms Liz Davidson  Senior Project Manager, GSA 
  Ms Muriel Gray  Chair, Board of Governors 
  Professor Tom Inns  Director, GSA 
  Mr Eliot Leviten             Director of Finance and Resources 
  Professor Chris Platt  Head, School of Architecture 

Mr Lewis Prosser  President, Students’ Association 
Ms Christa Reekie  Lay Governor (attending via teleconference) 

 
Attending: Ms Sandi Galbraith  Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 
  Mr Ranald MacInnes   Historic Environment Scotland 

Ms Alison Stevenson  Head of Learning Resources  
Mr John Martin  Assistant Secretary to the Board 
  
 

1. Apologies 
 

Peter Trowles, Mackintosh Curator, GSA 
 
2. Declarations of Interest 
 
 None. 
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting 

 
 The Minutes of the meeting held on 10th September 2015 were approved. 
 
4. Decontamination, East Side 
 

Decontamination works on the east side of the Mackintosh Building were now 
complete. There had been concern regarding the condition of some inaccessible 
ducts and a separate specialist company had been engaged to carry out an 
inspection. A formal result was awaited, but initial indications were that the ducts 
were clear of hazardous contaminants. Not surprisingly, carbon/soot deposits, some 
of which were of historic origin, were found to be present. A methodology for cleaning 
these - probably by pressurised air being forced through each of the ducts in turn - 
would be explored. 
 

5. Mackintosh Restoration Update Report 
 
 The Senior Project Manager introduced her update paper (Paper 5) and drew 

attention to the following points: 
 

 the ‘multiworks’ contract (including scaffolding, temporary roofing and salvage 
works) had now concluded, but Taylor and Fraser would remain on site (and 
continue with further clearance work) until the next phase of works commenced.  
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 among the major questions under consideration was the harling (render) at the 
rear of the Mackintosh Building. One suggestion was that the entire area be 
treated with a thin layer of insulation prior to application of a new layer of harling. 
This approach would still not be ideal visually, however, and would also be 
expensive. An alternative approach would be simply to repair the existing harling, 
while monitoring the availability of an improved technique which was also being 
considered by the National Trust for Scotland in the context of the renovation of 
Mackintosh’s Hill House. This innovation was not likely to be available for several 
years, at which time the School might consider a separate project for the rear of 
the Mackintosh Building.  

 

 Historic Environment Scotland were being consulted as appropriate in relation to 
the restoration process, including any possible departures from previous 
specifications of the building, e.g. the size of the lift shaft and the possible re-
design of the ‘Professors’ Studio’ area. 

 

 various one-off events had been taking place in the building, which were being 
coordinated and risk assessed through the internal Project Manager’s office. 

 

 the internal Project Managers would shortly move their office into the Mackintosh 
Building.  

 

 Page and Park had made some adjustments to their team working on the 
restoration project and were adjusting some of their production information onto a 
CAD format due to time delays in obtaining an accurate dimensional BIM model 
from the commercial company appointed to this task.  This remained an area of 
considerable concern to the project managers, as so much time and effort of the 
design team had been invested in delivering the project through this approach, 
rather than through more conventional survey and drawing methodology. 
 

6. Project Programme 
 
 Version ‘G’ of the project programme had been circulated (Paper 7) and version ‘H’ 

was tabled at the meeting. The Design Team had expressed concern regarding the 
projected completion date in July 2018, but it was anticipated that some of the major 
decisions still to be taken regarding the scope of the restoration were likely to result 
in both cost and time savings.  

 
 Alongside the programme would be a parallel process of securing the necessary 

statutory consents, e.g. in relation to the Planning or Listed Building implications of 
such possibilities as double glazing or a change to the dimensions of the building’s lift 
shaft. Development of the fire prevention strategy for the building was also underway, 
with meetings having already taken place with the Fire Service and Building Control. 

 
 A final check for asbestos in the building would shortly take place in areas previously 

undisturbed by either the fire or recent pro-active examination of spaces.   
 
7. Consultation with Staff and Students 
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 
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8. Insurance 
 

 The School had submitted the initial overall project costing (as discussed at the 
previous meeting) to insurers, as recommended by the School’s loss assessors 
(Harris Balcombe). A response was awaited. 
 
 In addition to its own analysis of the initial costing, the School was maintaining an 
assessment of possible breakdown of costs into broad categories: 
 

 Reinstatement costs to be met by insurers; 
 

 Consequential costs related to work on undamaged parts of the building in  
order to meet public authority ‘requirements’ - also to be met by insurers; 

 

 Costs to be met by the School, e.g. from donated funds. 
 

One possible response from insurers would be the offer of an early full and final 
settlement. This would have some advantages, but would only be acceptable if the 
School was confident that all reasonable insurable costs were being met and this 
provided some cover for risk. 

 
9. Fundraising 
 

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of commercial 
confidentiality. 

 
10. Research and Events 
 
 The Committee noted an update on various research projects and proposals relating 

to the restoration project (Paper 10), prepared by the Mackintosh Research Fellow 
(Robyne Calvert). One of the proposed projects under development – a Digital 
Research Atlas – aimed to create a far-reaching depository of all the information 
discovered, donated and already existing about Mackintosh and the School, and 
could form the basis of a suggested ‘Mackintosh Research Centre’ – one of the 
suggestions that came out of the consultation exercise and also proposed under the 
recent R.E.F. inspection of the GSA.   

 
 A possible third Symposium on the restoration was under consideration, possibly in 

April 2016.  
 
11. Press Coverage 
 
 The Committee noted a tabled summary of recent press coverage.  
  
12. Dates of Remaining Meetings 2015/16 

 
 Monday 7th December 2015  1.30pm 

Wednesday 13th January 2016  2.00pm 
Tuesday  2nd February 2016  1.30pm 
Wednesday  9th March 2016  11.00am 
Monday     18th April 2016   1.30pm 
Wednesday  11th May 2016  1.30pm 
Wednesday  8th June 2016   1.30pm 
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THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes:  10

th
 November 2015 

 
Present: Mrs Linda McTavish  Lay Governor (Chair) 
  Mr John Ayers   Technical Staff Representative 

Ms Kerry Aylin Staff Governor 
Dr Nicky Bird UCU Representative 
Ms Liz Calderwood Administrative Staff Representative 
Ms Lesley Coyle Deputy Head of Human Resources 
Mr David Dalziel Head of Human Resources 
Ms Sandi Galbraith Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 
Mr Craig Laurie  Unite Representative 
Mr Dennis McCormick Maintenance Staff representative 
Ms Shona Paul Academic Staff representative 
Ms Julie Ramage Academic Staff representative 
Professor Johnny Rodger EIS Representative 
Dr Craig Williamson  Registrar 
 

Attending: Mr John Martin  Assistant Secretary to the Board 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

Ms Muriel Gray, Professor Tom Inns, Ms Kathy Molloy, Ms Sally Stewart. 
 

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting 
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8th September 2015 were approved.  
 
3.   Staff Development 
 

The Head of HR and Deputy Director of Finance and Resources had prepared a draft paper 
on Staff Development at GSA, which would be considered by the Registrar and the Director of 
Finance and Resources. 

 
4. Action Points 
 

 The Committee noted its list of Action Points (Paper 4).   
 

5. I-Trent 
 
 Further to the Committee’s previous discussions, it was reported that pilot test sites had been 

identified and training was being provided to users. Among the sites were Registry and the 
Library. Full implementation of I-Trent was scheduled for early 2016, although it would be 
important to ensure that integration with the School’s ‘active directory’ was robust prior to full 
launch of the system.  
 

6. Recruitment Policy 
 
The Committee considered a draft Recruitment Policy (Paper 5). This was the first time such 
a comprehensive policy had been available on the recruitment process and the Committee 
welcomed this development. Several points arose in discussion: 
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 The HR Department recognised that staff development in support of the policy was vital 
and this would be arranged as soon as the policy was finalised and approved. Among the 
subjects to be covered in staff development sessions would be the role of ‘Recruiting 
Manager’ in appointments, interview skills, and updates on UKVI requirements and 
procedures (which would soon include requirements arising from ‘PREVENT’ anti-
terrorism legislation). 
 

 The fact that the Recruiting Manager was responsible for submission of interview short 
lists was simply a technical system requirement and it should be made clear that this 
chronology did not imply that the Recruiting Manager should disregard the views of other 
panel members. 

 

 It was confirmed that UKVI requirements applied to conference speakers, regardless of 
whether they were paid or unpaid. The administrative burden in such cases should not be 
onerous and the HR Department could offer assistance. 

 

 It was noted that there was a limit on the length of contract which should be offered to 
Visiting Staff. Periods of employment longer than this limit should be viewed in terms of a 
full contract of employment, which would then automatically entitle postholders to pension 
provision, staff development etc. 

 

 As discussed at previous meetings, care should be taken when deciding the point on the 
salary scale to be offered to successful candidates. There were justifiable reasons why the 
bottom point of the scale might not be appropriate, but it was important that negotiation by 
some candidates did not impact negatively on the School’s work towards reducing the 
gender gap in salaries. It was suggested that case studies relating to this question might 
be included in staff development sessions.  

 

 It was confirmed that the Recruitment Policy did not apply to the appointment of External 
Examiners, who were subject to a separate process (presently under review) in 
collaboration with the University of Glasgow (the degree-awarding authority).  

 
Subject to minor corrections and clarifications arising from the Committee’s discussion, it was 
agreed to recommend to the Board of Governors that the Recruitment Policy be approved.  
 

7. Staff Disclosure Check Policy and Procedures (Vulnerable Groups) 
 

 A policy and procedure update in relation to Disclosure Scotland procedures had been 
circulated with the title ‘Protecting Vulnerable Groups Policy’, but it was suggested that this 
document be retitled ‘Staff Disclosure Check Policy and Procedures’ to prevent confusion with 
the School’s existing Child Protection policy and procedures. 
 
The staff roles defined as ‘regulated work’ (and thus requiring a check through Disclosure 
Scotland) were specified in the policy, although this list would be regularly reviewed. It was 
noted that research-awarding bodies sometimes asked for evidence of staff having been 
checked, although such requests were sometimes not seen as necessary by Disclosure 
Scotland itself. The position of staff based in ‘satellite’ locations (e.g. Forres) would be borne 
in mind, although in some cases (Singapore), staff would be outwith the scope of UK 
legislation. The Estates Department would consider the position of contractors, while bearing 
in mind that the policy and procedures only applied to staff whose role included working with 
vulnerable groups as an integral part of their role. The position of students working as 
wardens in halls of residence would be considered.  
 
It would be important for newly-appointed staff to be checked if their roles include regulated 
work, rather than rely on checks obtained in previous employment, in order that the School 
might gain awareness of any recent factors which might give cause for concern. Similarly,  
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temporary staff in such areas as Continuing Education would be re-checked when 
reappointed after a period of absence. 
 
Subject to the above change in title and other minor amendments being made, it was agreed 
to recommend to the Board of Governors that the Staff Disclosure Check Policy and 
Procedures be approved. 

 
8. Activity Planning 
 

The Committee noted an update from the Head of HR on the work of the Activity Planning 
Working Group, consisting of three circulated papers: 

 
.1 Summary of Feedback and Actions (Paper 7.1)  
 

Considerable further consultation had taken place, which was outlined in detail in this 
paper. One of the questions mentioned – the relative attention being paid to ‘Teaching 
and Scholarship’ by comparison with ‘Teaching and Research’ and ‘Research’ – had 
been discussed further since preparation of the paper.  
 

.2 Draft Policy Version 4 (Paper 7.2) 
 
.3 Draft Guidance Version 4 (Paper 7.3) 
 
There would now be additional rounds of consultation and further drafts of the Policy and 
Guidance documents were due to be available before Christmas 2015.  

 
9. National Pay Negotiations: update 
 
 The Committee noted the latest further update from UCEA (dated 20th October 2015) on the 

national pay negotiations for 2015/16 (Paper 8). Four of the five participating trade unions had 
now accepted the employers’ pay offer, which consisted of an increase of 1% for most points 
on the pay spine, but with larger increases for staff placed on the first eight points of the 
spine, together with agreed actions on pay equality. The union still in dispute was the EIS 
(ULA), which would hold a ballot on possible strike action, although it was unlikely that this 
ballot would take place before the end of the calendar year.  

 
 Given that EIS was one of the School’s recognised unions, the School’s Executive had 

considered the UCEA recommendation regarding implementation of the pay award, taking 
into account the actions of other HEIs. It was felt to be unfair to the majority of staff to delay 
implementation until resolution of the position of EIS, and the pay award would therefore be 
implemented in November 2015, backdated to August 2015.  

 
10.  Staff Governor Elections 
 
 Elections had recently been held for the posts of Staff Governor (Academic Staff) and Staff 

Governor (Support Staff). As outlined in Paper 9, several points had arisen during the election 
process: 

 

 Electorate: in recent years, the School’s rule had been that only staff on permanent 
contracts could vote in elections or, for that matter, stand as candidates. It was being 
suggested that this rule disenfranchised staff on fixed-term contracts, many of whom were 
employed by the School for lengthy periods. There was no suggestion that extending the 
right to stand as a candidate, or vote, to temporary staff would distort the electoral process 
in any way and the Committee recommended to the Board of Governors that the right to 
stand as a candidate, or to be included in the electorate, for future elections of Staff 
Governors and staff representatives on the HR Committee, should include all staff holding 
contracts of employment with the School at the time of the election(s).  
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 Campaigning: it was possible to envisage a situation where the School’s noticeboards and 
email system would be overloaded if candidates in elections were to campaign in support 
of their candidature. It was recommended to the Board of Governors that candidates’ 
written statements in support of their candidature should be the only use of the School’s 
media channels during elections of Staff Governors and staff representatives on the HR 
Committee. 
 

 Staff with more than one contract: it had transpired during the recent election that one 
member of staff met the criteria to vote in both elections, i.e. he held simultaneous part-
time contracts as both an academic and a technician. It was recommended to the Board of 
Governors that staff in this position should in future be required to choose which election 
they wished to take part in, i.e. staff should not be allowed to vote in more than one 
election when elections were being simultaneously held to appoint differing categories of 
staff representative to the same body.  

 

 ‘Support staff’ name: some staff had suggested that ‘support staff’ was not the best name 
to describe the non-academic staff electorate. There was no ideal alternative, but the 
Committee agreed that the term ‘Professional Support Services’ be used in future.  

 
11.  Dates of Remaining Meetings 2015/16 
 

Tuesday 23rd February 2016 at noon 
Tuesday 10th May 2016 at noon 

 
 
 
JM 
 
 
 
Attached:  Recruitment Policy 

Staff Disclosure Check Policy and Procedures 
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1. Purpose and Scope 
 
1.1 The process of recruitment and selection must be fair, systematic, efficient and 

effective, ensuring equality of opportunity. 

Our approach will be to ensure GSA effectively employs people with the appropriate 
skills and at the appropriate time. No job applicant or employee will receive less 
favourable treatment because of their race, sex, religion or belief, disability, marital 
or civil partnership status, age, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, or caring responsibilities, or will be disadvantaged by conditions or 
requirements which cannot be justified. 

It is the responsibility of each Executive Group member/Head of Department to 
ensure that this policy is carefully followed within their area/department. All 
Executive Group members/Heads of Department should make members of their 
staff aware of the obligation to familiarise themselves with and follow this policy. 

1.2 Appointments must be made in accordance with this policy and must, therefore, be 
subject to advertisement and interview. Requests to waive the requirement to 
advertise an appointment in exceptional circumstances may be considered (see: 
Section 2.1 – Vacancy Approval Process).   

1.3 When employing temporary or casual staff on a short-term basis, the principles of 
good practice outlined in this policy should be followed. In summary, these are that 
selection must be on the basis of appropriate criteria and merit and that a record of 
the process and decision must be kept.  (see: Appendix 4) 

 
2. Recruitment and Selection Procedure 

2.1  Vacancy Approval Process - Authority to Appoint   

The Recruiting Manager1 should seek formal authorisation to fill a vacancy before 
commencing the recruitment and selection process by completing an Authority to Appoint 
(ATA) form (see: Appendix 1).   

Prior to progressing with the ATA form, consideration should be given both to the 
requirement to fill the vacancy and to identify any changes to job content. At this stage, the 
Finance Office should be consulted in respect of each School or department’s available 
budget.  

Recruiting Managers are advised to consider the following questions:  

• Is it a direct replacement or a new post required? 

                                                           
1 The Recruiting Manager is the post holder who will line manage the occupier of the vacant post 

100 of 182



November 2015 3 

• Does the work carried out by the previous jobholder need to continue to be 
undertaken? 

• Re-configuration of post - should any of the work required be re-allocated? 
• Could the job be carried out under different working arrangements e.g. part-time, 

term-time only or job-share? 
• Is the vacancy a potential redeployment opportunity for any staff facing 

redundancy? (check with HR) 
• Do any anticipated future changes suggest that a temporary fixed term position 

could be objectively justified? 

HR will assign the appropriate member of HR staff to manage the vacancy in partnership 
with the Recruiting Manager.  The HR staff member will advise on elements such as salary, 
hours, contract length and probation period. 

The Recruiting Manager should ensure that the ATA form is authorised by the relevant Head 
of Department/Head of School, Finance and the relevant Executive Group member.   

Once this approval has been obtained, the Recruiting Manager should submit the ATA form 
to the designated member of HR staff who will submit the request to the next available 
Executive Group meeting for approval.  Forms without all necessary approvals will not be 
submitted to the Executive Group for consideration.  It is the responsibility of the Recruiting 
Manager to ensure that all approvals are in place and evidenced to HR. 

The above process should also be adhered to when proposing any contractual changes in 
relation to existing staff (i.e. increase in hours, extension to fixed term contracts). 

Final approval for ATA will be by the Executive Group.  Fully completed recruitment 
paperwork forms must be submitted to HR one week prior to Executive Group meeting 
date.  Dates of scheduled Executive Group meetings can be obtained from HR.  The ATA will 
not go forward for Executive Group approval until the job description and grade for the role 
has been finalised (see section 2.2). 

2.2 Job Description and Advert 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for providing both the job description and advert for 
the vacant post. Standard templates are available for this purpose to download and 
guidance and support will be provided by the designated member of HR staff in the 
production of these documents. 

The job description should be produced or updated and must clearly and accurately reflect 
the duties and responsibilities of the post.  The person specification section should clearly 
state the essential and desirable criteria in terms of skills, aptitudes, knowledge, 
qualifications and experience required to competently undertake the role and how this will 
be judged (e.g. application form, interview, assessment etc.).   
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Care must be taken to ensure that the job description and person specification accurately 
reflect the job requirements and that no potential applicant could be disadvantaged by any 
condition which cannot be justified, as each applicant will be assessed against the criteria 
within the job description and person specification. 

Generic role descriptors are available for the following roles:  Lecturer, Technician, 
Administrative Officer and Library Assistant.  Guidance will be provided by HR on the use of 
these generic descriptors. 

For replacement posts, a copy of the existing job description can be obtained from HR. 

The designated member of HR staff will review the job description. Where the vacant post 
has changed significantly since the last time the post was advertised or if it is a new post, 
then the role will require to be evaluated through job evaluation (HERA), prior to 
advertising, to determine the grade.   HR will also advise on the appropriate type of contract 
depending on the nature of the role. 

For high profile roles the Recruiting Manager may be required to consult the Marketing 
department regarding the published materials for the vacancy and this should be factored 
into the recruitment timeline by the Recruiting Manager. 

2.3 Panel Selection 
 

Panel composition must be agreed by the Recruiting Manager and their line manager 
(normally an Executive Group member). The Recruiting Manager will usually be the panel 
convenor, unless their line manager is present on the panel. Their line manager would then 
be the panel convenor.  Due regard should be given to selecting panel members who have 
undertaken appropriate training in recruitment and selection.   The panel should generally 
consist of 3-5 members, depending on the seniority/grade of the role.  Best practice is that 
there should be a gender balance on the panel, and normally no panel members should be 
of a lower grade than that of the role advertised.  Normally for grade 5 and above, a 
member of the HR team will be part of the panel. 
 
For senior academic roles the Director and Head of Research, or their nominees, must also 
be invited to be a panel member.  For all senior roles, it is also good practice to have a 
representative from another academic/support area within GSA, as well as external 
representation from an appropriate peer institution. 
 
2.4 Publishing the vacancy 

Once all documentation is finalised and approved, HR will proceed to publish the vacancy.  
All vacancies must be advertised and posts advertised as temporary must be re-advertised if 
the role later translates to permanent. 
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As a minimum, all vacancies will be advertised on the GSA online recruitment system 
https://gsa.engageats.co.uk/ and on jobs.ac.uk.  The designated member of HR staff can 
advise on alternative recruitment sources should this be considered appropriate.  

In line with UK Visas and Immigration requirements, all vacancies should be advertised for a 
minimum of four weeks.  There will be instances where this does not apply.  Further 
guidance can be sought from HR in this respect.  

Due regard will be given to accessibility and appropriateness of sites or publications being 
used for advertising.  HR will advise on these issues also. 

3. Selection process  
 
3.1       Online Recruitment System (Engage) 

Once the advert has been published, the designated member of HR staff will issue the 
interview panel members with access, login details and user manual for the online 
recruitment system (Engage).  This will allow the panel members access to view applications 
as soon as they are submitted.   

3.2 Selecting Applicants for Interview - Shortlisting process 

The selection criteria will be taken from the person specification of the job description, and 
the designated member of HR staff will upload this onto the online recruitment system. 

Shortlisting should be carried out by all panel members after the closing date and the panel 
may meet to discuss and agree a list of preferred candidates for interview based on the 
shortlisting outcomes.  All applications must be considered both fairly and objectively in line 
with the assessment criteria for the post, ensuring no applicant could be disadvantaged by 
any condition which cannot be reasonably justified.  

Each applicant should be scored/assessed against the essential/desirable selection criteria 
and the panel should record any comments and make recommendations, as follows: 
“Schedule for Interview”, “Schedule for On Hold” or “Schedule for Regret”. 

The Recruiting Manager will be assigned the role of panel convenor on the online system.  
The convenor will be able to view the other panel members’ recommendations following 
the shortlisting process, and should submit their recommendations last, as this will generate 
the final recommendation for the candidates. The short list should be finalised within one 
week of the closing date and the Recruiting Manager should make arrangements to agree 
final shortlist with panel members before making the final online submission.   

Once shortlisting is completed, the Recruiting Manager should record the outcomes on 
Engage and then make contact with the designated HR staff member to discuss next steps in 
relation to shortlisting outcomes.  
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The Recruiting Manager is responsible for ensuring that written feedback is supplied to 
candidates who have requested it.  Further guidance on providing feedback should be 
sought from HR. 

3.3  Selection and Interview 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for determining interview arrangements in 
conjunction with HR.  Consideration should be given to any additional selection methods 
which may be appropriate depending on the nature and grade of the role (for example 
presentation or practical tests).  Due regard must be given to the practical arrangements of 
the interview process to ensure there will be no disadvantage for any candidates. Access to 
facilities, design and format for any additional selection exercises must also be considered.  

Where candidates have advised of a requirement for any reasonable adjustments to be 
made to assist them with the interview process, these adjustments must be taken into 
account. 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for finalising the interview questions, which should 
correspond with the essential and desirable competencies required for the role in line with 
the job description and person specification. 

Selection methods and interview questions must be composed in a manner that does not, 
intentionally or unintentionally, advantage or disadvantage a particular candidate or group 
of candidates and questions must be fair to all candidates. Practical tests or presentations 
must only test the skills/knowledge for the role as per the job description/person 
specification and be appropriate for the level of role being recruited for. The objective of the 
presentation/test and skills to be measured must be absolutely clear and scoring must be 
identified and agreed with the designated member of HR prior to use. 

In this regard, the interview questions and assessment criteria in relation to any 
presentations or practical tests should be sent to the designated member of HR staff for 
review prior to interview, who will discuss any suggested amendments with the Recruiting 
Manager. The designated member of HR staff will then add the interview questions to the 
Interview Assessment Form, which the panel must use to record candidates responses. 

Ideally, candidates must be given at least one week notice of interview. More notice may be 
required if candidates reside outside the UK. 

There may also be circumstances where a medium such as Skype/video link is more 
appropriate than conducting the interview in person - the HR department will provide 
further guidance in this regard. 

It may also be appropriate to invite involvement of other team members in the selection 
process by way of departmental orientation for candidates.  In this situation a member of 
staff should be nominated to provide informal feedback to the interview panel. 
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If any further information is to be issued to candidates to aid them at interview stage, the 
Recruiting Manager should pass this information to the HR department prior to the 
candidates being invited to interview.  

3.4  Panel Member Preparation  

Before the interview, the panel members should prepare for the interview by familiarising 
themselves with the job description and person specification, the criteria being assessed 
and the short-listed applications.  (Please note:  copies of all relevant paperwork will be 
provided by HR on the day of interviews.  Panel members are at liberty to print copies 
directly from Engage should they wish to do so beforehand, provided that the hard copies 
are securely returned to HR for disposal immediately following interviews.) 

The Recruiting Manager as convenor will have responsibility for managing the interview 
process and ensuring that each panel member completes the Interview Assessment Form 
during and immediately following the interviews. The interview scoring and interview notes 
will support the final decision regarding the interview outcome.  

The Recruiting Manager should ensure that all forms are securely returned to HR 
immediately following the interviews. 

4.0  Appointment Process 

Following completion of the selection process, with a successful candidate having been 
identified, the Recruiting Manager will confirm interview outcomes to the designated 
member of HR staff, who will confirm whether any references are outstanding.  At this stage 
the Recruiting Manager should also discuss with HR the terms of the offer being made. 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for contacting the successful candidate to orally 
inform them that they have been successful and make an oral offer of employment. If 
employment references have not been taken up at this stage, any oral offer is subject to 
receipt of satisfactory references. 

Salary will normally be assigned at the first point on the grade for the role.  Should the 
individual’s current salary be higher than the first point of the relevant grade, a higher point 
may be considered.  Any salary offers made above the first point of the grade must be 
approved by a senior member of HR staff.  

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for contacting successful candidates to inform them 
of the interview outcome, ideally by telephone.  HR will inform unsuccessful external 
candidates by following up the outcome of interview with written confirmation.  Where 
feedback is sought by unsuccessful candidates, the Recruiting Manager will be responsible 
for providing this in writing.  This feedback should be both constructive and succinct – 
further guidance can be sought from HR in this regard. 
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Where an internal member of staff has applied for a role, and is unsuccessful at either 
selection or interview stage, the Recruiting Manager is responsible for meeting with the 
applicant to discuss the outcome of their application, as a professional courtesy. 

The completed Interview Assessment forms, in addition to other paperwork used in the 
selection process must be returned to the designated member of HR staff and this will be 
held securely for at least six months. Please note that candidates can request access to all 
information in relation to the recruitment process under the Data Protection Act 1998, 
including any notes taken.  

4.1.1 Successful Candidate and Pre-employment checks 

The Recruiting Manager must contact the designated member of HR staff to progress the 
written offer of employment and next steps.  All offers of employment will be subject to 
eligibility to work in the UK and receipt of satisfactory references. Once start date and salary 
have been agreed verbally with the candidate, the Recruiting Manager should liaise with HR 
who will prepare a written offer of employment.  The Recruiting Manager is responsible for 
ensuring that suitable desk space and equipment are available on or before the start date. 

Right to Work  

In accordance with the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006, any successful 
candidate must be able to demonstrate their eligibility to undertake employment in the UK. 

Failure to conduct the appropriate checks resulting in the employment of someone who is 
not entitled to undertake the work in question is a criminal offence and will result in 
significant consequences for GSA. Prospective employees must provide original 
documentation to prove their identity and right to work in the UK and all checks will be 
undertaken by HR in advance of the start date and any visa requirements identified. 

Please note that where permission to work in the UK is required, the start date of the 
prospective employee could be delayed by up to two months.  An individual may not start 
work at GSA until clearance is granted and verified. 

Further guidance on permission to work in the UK can be found in Appendix 5.  

Employment References  

Candidates are asked to provide the names and addresses of two referees, one of whom 
must be the current or most recent employer. Academic referees are also acceptable where 
an employment reference cannot be provided. References will be requested and reviewed 
by the designated member of HR staff, and thereafter progressed to the panel for 
consideration.  
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Qualifications 

Relevant qualification certificates are requested by HR in advance of individuals starting 
work, and copies are retained in their personal file. 

Protection of Vulnerable Groups (PVG) 

Recruiting Managers must discuss with HR any posts which will involve working with 
children and/or protected adults to ensure that appropriate Protection of Vulnerable 
Groups Scheme membership checks are undertaken prior to that person starting work.  A 
list of those roles at GSA eligible for registration under the PVG Scheme can be provided by 
HR. 

5. Recruiting staff in Singapore 

This policy and procedure also applies to the recruitment of posts in Singapore.  As soon as 
the panel has decided on the successful candidate, the Recruiting Manager should liaise 
with the appropriate member of HR staff for guidance.  Should the successful applicant not 
be a resident of Singapore, HR will apply for a work permit on behalf of GSA. 

Please note that where permission to work in Singapore is required, the start date of the 
prospective employee could be delayed by up to two months.  

6. The Glasgow School of Art is committed to the following objectives: 
 
a) Training  

Training will be made available to all staff who are likely to be involved in the 
recruitment and selection process, underpinned by the principles of equality and 
diversity. 

b) Retention of records 

All applications submitted to the on-line recruitment system, together with feedback 
from the shortlisting process and the interview assessment form will be retained for 6 
months following date of interview. All information relating to unsuccessful applicants 
will be removed after this period. Information relating to the person appointed to the 
post will be transferred into their personal file. Under the Data Protection Act 1998, 
candidates can request all information pertaining to themselves in relation to 
recruitment processes, including any notes taken.  

All other material/printed copies of applications should be securely returned to HR for 
disposal.  
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c) Monitoring and Review  

The HR Department will monitor the quality, transparency and consistency of all 
recruitment and selection practices and processes and work towards continuous 
improvement. 

To ensure that this policy is operating effectively, GSA will maintain records and produce 
statistical reports on the equal opportunities data provided by applicants.  

d) Questions  

Clarification on the terms or operation of this Policy & Procedure may be obtained from 
a member of the HR Department.  

 

7. Appendices 

Appendix I  Authority to Appoint/Alter Staffing Form 

Appendix II Staff Recruitment: FAQ’s 

Appendix III Recruitment Process Map 

Appendix IV Visiting Staff Guidelines 

Appendix V UKVI Policy and Procedure 

Appendix VI UKVI Process Map 

Appendix VII Recruitment of Ex-offenders Policy 
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 SECTION 1: TO BE COMPLETED BY RECRUITING MANAGER 

 
TYPE OF REQUEST: 

☐ New appointment    ☐Replacement post       ☐ Extension to contract       ☐Increase in FTE  
 

POSITION DETAILS 

GRADE FTE 

  

WORK PATTERN (1 full day = 7 hours) 

Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday Sunday 

       

RECRUITING MANAGER  DEPARTMENT 

  

TYPE OF CONTRACT 

Permanent   ☐    Fixed Term    ☐   

JOB TITLE EXECUTIVE GROUP AREA 

  

BUSINESS CASE 

Please provide a detailed explanation of the reason(s) why you are putting forward this request: 
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IF FIXED TERM  

Reason for being fixed term  

Duration of contract  

EXTENSION TO CONTRACT ☐Yes       ☐ No 

If yes, please state duration:   

INCREASE IN HOURS ☐Yes       ☐ No 

Increased FTE   

Duration of increase  

IF REPLACEMENT POST:  

Present Post 
Holder Leaving 

☐ 
Date: 

 

Name: 

 

Comment: 

If replacement, confirm the FTE  

If temporary cover, please state type  ☐Maternity   ☐Secondment   ☐Illness  

 
Signed:  ------------------------------------------             --------------------------------------------     
 Recruiting Manager     Head of Department/School 
 
Signed:  ------------------------------------------             Date: ----------------- 
 Executive Group Member   

  SECTION 2 : TO BE COMPLETED BY FINANCE 
Estimated Cost of Post (£)  

Funds Available (£)  

Source of Funding  

Cost Centre/Nominal code   

Is the post research funded? ☐Yes         ☐No 

Comments  

 

 

 

 

 
Signed: ---------------------------------------------------  Date: -------------------------   
                  Head of Finance/Management Accountant/Deputy 
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                  Director of Finance and Resources  
 

Signed: ------------------------------------------------------ Date: -------------------------- 
                 Human Resources   
 
Signed: ------------------------------------------------------ Date: -------------------------- 
                 Head of Research (if applicable)   
 
DATE OF EXECUTIVE GROUP MEETING: ------------------------ 
    
     

 
POST EXECUTIVE MEETING  
TO BE COMPLETED BY HUMAN RESOURCES 
Approved by Executive Group  ☐Yes           ☐No 

Job Description  ☐Yes           ☐No 

Job Advert  ☐Yes           ☐No 

Grade  ☐Yes           ☐No 

Type of Contract  ☐HE2000   ☐Support 

Is this opportunity suitable to be considered for 
redeployment for an existing member of staff? 

 

Comments 

 

 

 

GLAARP (if applicable)   

 
Signed: ------------------------------------------------------ Date: -------------------------- 
                  Human Resources     
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Appendix II 

Staff Recruitment - FAQs   

Who is the Recruiting Manager?  

The Recruiting Manager is the person who has management responsibility for ensuring that the 
vacancy is filled and will take ownership of the recruitment process, working in partnership with the 
designated member of HR staff. 

Who is the designated member of HR? 

When the Recruiting Manager contacts HR, the appropriate team member will be designated to 
support the Recruiting Manager with the recruitment process and manage the vacancy in 
partnership with the Recruiting Manager: 

• Grades 1 -7: Assistant HR Officer and HR Officer 
• Grades 8 and above: Senior HR Officer 

How do I start the process to recruit a new member of staff? 

The Recruiting Manager should consider whether there is a need to fill the vacancy as per section 2.1 
of the procedure. Where it is considered there is a need to fill the vacancy, the approval should be 
obtained through completing the Authority to Appoint (ATA) form. 

What is the approval process? 

The Recruiting Manager should ensure the ATA form is approved by the Head of Dept/Head of 
School, Finance and the relevant Executive Group member. The relevant Executive Group member is 
the senior staff member who represents the department on the Executive Group. The Recruiting 
Manager should then submit the ATA to HR to be forwarded for Executive Group approval which is 
the final approval stage.  

When does the Executive Group meet? 

The Executive Group generally meet every 2 weeks.  

How will I be informed if my ATA has been approved by the Executive Group? 

The designated member of HR staff will contact you to confirm if your ATA has been approved. 

What if my ATA has not been approved by Executive Group? 

It is the responsibility of the Recruiting Manager’s department’s representative on the Executive 
Group to inform the Recruiting Manager if an ATA has not been approved and the reasons for this. 

Whose responsibility is it to provide the Job Description and Advert for the post? 

It is the Recruiting Manager’s responsibility to provide both the job description and advert for the 
post. HR can provide generic role descriptors for some roles which may assist and guidance on the 
use of these.  There are also templates for job description and adverts which are downloadable. 
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How will I ensure Job evaluation takes place if required? 

Where the post is new, or there have been significant changes to the role (if required), the job 
description will require to be evaluated through HERA job evaluation to determine grade.  The 
Recruiting Manager must discuss this with the designated member of HR staff who will ensure the 
post is evaluated as necessary. 

What documents have to be finalised before I can advertise a vacancy? 

ATA approved by Executive Group; job description; job evaluation outcome for the role; and advert. 

Where will the vacancy be advertised? 

The designated member of HR staff will arrange to advertise the vacancy on gsa.ac.uk, jobs.ac.uk 
and post via twitter. HR will advise on alternative recruitment sources where appropriate. 

How long should a vacancy be advertised for? 

In line with UK Visas and Immigration requirements, all vacancies should be advertised for a 
minimum of 4 weeks. Where a post is not at a level (appropriate skill required and salary level as per 
UKVI guidance) which would allow GSA to apply for Certificate of Sponsorship for a non-EEA resident 
(see UKVI guidelines), it would usually be advertised for 2 weeks. The designated member of HR 
staff will provide guidance.  

What other information do I to need to provide my designated HR contact at this stage? 

The Recruiting Manager should also confirm the interview panel members and the proposed 
interview date. Shortlisting should be completed within one week of the vacancy closing date and 
candidates are required to be given at least one week’s of interview, therefore these timescales 
should be factored in when determining the interview date. 

Who is responsible for identifying the interview panel and how should the panel be represented? 

The interview panel composition must be agreed by the Recruiting Manager and their line manager 
(normally an Executive Group member). The Recruiting Manager will usually be the panel convenor 
on the day of interview, unless their line manager is present on the panel. Their line manager would 
then be the panel convenor.  Due regard should be given to selecting panel members who have 
undertaken appropriate training in recruitment and selection.   The panel should generally consist of 
3-5 members, depending on the seniority/grade of the role.  Best practice is that there should be a 
gender balance on the panel, and normally no panel members should be of a lower grade than that 
of the role advertised.  Normally for grade 5 and above, a member of the HR team will be part of the 
panel. 

For senior academic roles the Director and Head of Research, or their nominees, must also be invited 
to be a panel member.  For all senior roles, it is also good practice to have a representative from 
another academic/support area within GSA, as well as external representation from an appropriate 
peer institution. 
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What is Engage? 

Engage is our on-line recruitment system. Applications are submitted online via Engage and each 
stage of the recruitment process is recorded through Engage. 

How do I access Engage? 

The designated member of HR staff will issue panel members with log in details and user guide for 
Engage. Panel members can therefore view applications as soon as they are submitted. 

What is the shortlisting process? 

The shortlisting process is where all applications are assessed against the selection criteria by each 
member of the selection panel, and will inform which applicants meet the criteria and will therefore 
be invited for interview. 

What will the selection criteria be? 

The selection criteria will be taken from the person specification section of the job description. The 
designated member of HR staff will upload the selection criteria onto Engage to allow the 
shortlisting process to take place.  

Who is responsible for carrying out shortlisting? 

Shortlisting will be carried out by all panel members on Engage within one week of the post closing 
date. All applications must be considered fairly and objectively and scored against the selection 
criteria. The Recruiting Manager will be recorded as the panel convenor. The panel convenor should 
submit their recommendations last as this will generate the final shortlisting outcome for each 
applicant.  

When should shortlisting be carried out? 

The shortlisting should be finalised within one week of the post closing date. 

What is the next stage following shortlisting? 

Once the panel have completed shortlisting and confirmed those applicants who will proceed to 
interview via Engage, they should notify the designated member of HR staff. 

How are applicants informed of their application outcome following shortlisting? 

The designated member of HR staff will notify the applicants via Engage whether they have been 
scheduled for interview or scheduled for regret.  

Who is responsible for preparing interview questions? 

Interview questions should be prepared by the Recruiting Manager and should correspond to 
gaining evidence of the candidate’s abilities for the post in line with the selection criteria.  The 
questions should not disadvantage any particular candidate or group of candidates.  

Can other selection methods as well as interview be used? 
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Yes, additional selection methods such as a presentation to the panel or written exercise may be 
included as part of the selection process. Details of any additional selection method must be 
provided to allow clear instructions to be issued to the candidates. 

How much notice of interview should candidates be given? 

Candidates should be provided with at least one week’s notice of interview.  

How are interview timeslots allocated? 

The Recruiting Manager should advise the designated member of HR staff of the interview schedule 
(the amount of time to be allocated for each interview), taking into account the use of any additional 
selection methods. The designated member of HR staff will include the timeslots for interview to 
candidates through Engage and candidates will book their preferred interview slot online.  

What if a candidate is unable to make the interview date, should I offer an alternative? 

Whilst it is good practice to offer an alternative interview where possible, the Recruiting Manager 
should determine on a case by case basis whether this can be accommodated. This is likely to be 
dependent on the number of candidates who have confirmed attendance and the availability of the 
interview panel to reconvene. The designated member of HR staff can provide further guidance.  

Who will arrange the room booking and catering for interviews? 

The designated member of HR staff will arrange catering and room booking where appropriate. 

As a panel member, how should I prepare for interview? 

Panel members should review the job description, the criteria being assessed and the short-listed 
applications prior to interview. 

What will be included in the interview pack and when will I receive it? 

The designated member of HR staff will prepare the interview pack which will include interview 
schedule (times candidates have confirmed they will attend); copies of the application forms; 
interview assessment forms for each candidate including interview questions; presentation 
assessment form where required; and any references received. A pack will be provided for each 
panel member and will be made available on the day of the interviews by the designated member of 
HR staff. Interview panel members can print copies of applications from Engage for review in 
advance should they wish. 

Who will undertake interview candidate meeting and greeting? 

The Recruiting Manager will be responsible for meeting and greeting interview candidates. If for any 
reason this is not practical, the designated member of HR staff may assist. Access to buildings and 
candidate waiting areas should be given consideration.  

What is the interview assessment? 

Each interview panel member should score each candidate individually via the interview assessment 
form. Once scoring is completed for each candidate, and after all the interviews are concluded, a 
discussion should take place and consensus reached between the panel members to identify the 
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order of preference for selecting the successful candidate - the candidate who has achieved the 
highest combined score. 

What if no appointable candidate was identified? 

Seek advice from the designated member of HR staff regarding options which may include re-
advertising the post and considering other publications if appropriate.  

Who should notify the successful candidate of the interview outcome? 

The Recruiting Manager should contact the designated member of HR staff for the candidate’s 
telephone number then call the successful candidate to verbally offer the post; subject to receipt of 
two satisfactory references and permission to work in UK. 

Who should notify unsuccessful candidates of the interview outcome? 

The Recruiting Manager should also contact unsuccessful candidates to inform them of the interview 
outcome and provide verbal feedback which should be constructive and succinct. The Recruiting 
Manager may wish to confirm that the successful candidate is happy to accept the verbal offer 
before contacting the unsuccessful candidates, in case there is any need to offer a reserve candidate 
the post, should the successful candidate decide not to accept the verbal offer. 

Following confirmation from the Recruiting Manager that each of the unsuccessful candidates has 
been verbally informed of their interview outcome, the designated member of HR staff will follow up 
with an e-mail via Engage to confirm that they have been unsuccessful at interview.   

Who is responsible for providing feedback following interview? 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for providing feedback following interview. This should be 
verbal feedback, by telephone, and should be constructive and succinct. Guidance will be provided 
from the designated member of HR staff, if required. 

What should I do with the completed Interview Assessment Forms? 

The Recruiting Manager is responsible for ensuring all completed Interview Assessment forms, in 
addition to other paperwork used in the selection process, are returned to the designated member 
of HR staff and these will be held securely for at least 6 months. Please note that candidates can 
request access to all information in relation to the recruitment process under the Data Protection 
Act 1998, including any notes taken.  

Who is responsible for requesting references? 

The designated member of HR staff is responsible for requesting references. Where details of 
employment referees have been provided by candidates and permission given that contact can be 
made prior to offer of appointment, these will be requested in advance of interview and provided to 
the panel where available. 

What if an existing staff member applies for a post?  

Where a staff member is unsuccessful at either shortlisting or interview stage, the Recruiting 
Manager should meet with the applicant to discuss the outcome of their application. 
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Following acceptance of the oral offer of employment, what is the next stage in the appointment 
process? 

The oral offer of employment is subject to 2 satisfactory references, permission to work in the UK 
and qualifications check. When the designated member of HR staff receives the references, these 
will be forwarded to the Recruiting Manager for confirmation that they are satisfactory. Guidance 
will be provided from the designated member of HR staff. Following receipt of 2 satisfactory 
references, the Recruiting Manager should contact the successful candidate and agree a suitable 
start date. The Recruiting Manager should then notify the designated member of HR of the agreed 
start date and at this stage, the designated member of HR staff will issue a written offer and 
contract.  

What will the successful candidate’s salary on appointment be? 

The starting salary will normally be the first point on the grade for the post. Should the successful 
candidate’s current salary be higher than the first point of the relevant grade, a higher point may be 
considered. Guidance must be sought from the designated member of HR staff where this is the case 
before any offer is made.   

When is an interview via Skype appropriate as an alternative to attending in person? 

Candidates can request to be interviewed using Skype rather than attending in person as this is an 
option when applications are submitted via Engage. The interview panel may also offer interview via 
Skype if the candidate has difficulty attending in person. Further guidance will be provided from the 
designated member of HR staff. 
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Appendix III 

 

118 of 182



November 2015 21 

Appendix IV 

Visiting Staff – Guidelines 

1. Purpose and Scope 
 

In line with employment legislation and best practice, it has been agreed that these arrangements 
will operate in future for the group of casual staff previously known as Visiting Lecturers (VLs).  Due 
to the wide range of academic and support activity which this group includes, in future the term 
Visiting Staff will replace VL, with an appropriate title assigned, according to the role.  Appropriate 
variations to the title may be made to more accurately reflect the nature of the role, e.g. Visiting 
Tutor, Visiting Teaching Assistant, etc.   

Key to this new set of arrangements are the requirements laid out by the Home Office in relation to 
workers from outside the European Economic Area (migrant workers), following the introduction of 
the points-based immigration system.  These requirements are set out under Arrangements for 
International Visiting Staff section and are further detailed in Appendix III.  

2. Who are Visiting Staff? 
 

The term Visiting Staff applies solely to non-contracted, hourly paid, casual staff.  It is recognised 
that there will be a variety of circumstances where GSA may engage Visiting Staff and it is envisaged 
that they will undertake short-term activity in response to short-term or unpredictable demands, or 
to meet the regular need for occasional days of input.  

It is expected that Visiting Staff will be engaged in a variety of activity which includes the following 
(not an exhaustive list): 

• To provide small scale specialist input to courses; 
• To provide input to courses from current practitioners; 
• To cover elements of others’ role while they are engaged in other activities; 
• To deliver short courses; 
• To cover short term sickness or other unpredictable absences. 

 

Usually Visiting Staff should not be engaged in assessment, unless core contributors, directly 
involved in curriculum delivery. 

If the worker you are engaging is self-employed and will invoice for their services, they should not be 
considered to be Visiting Staff.  Please refer to Employment Status Guidelines (see Appendix III). 

3. How often can I engage Visiting Staff? 
 

Visiting Staff can be engaged as required up to, but not exceeding 12 weeks in any twelve-month 
period.  Anyone expected to be engaged over this threshold should not be considered as a casual 
member of staff and should be issued with a contract of employment (please see Appendix I). 
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4. How do I engage Visiting Staff? 
 

Authority to engage Visiting Staff remains delegated to Heads of School/Department (or equivalent), 
or their nominees, who may engage non-contracted Visiting Staff directly out with the School’s 
Recruitment and Selection procedure.  The frequency and duration of their engagement, however, 
must not exceed the above threshold.  While such occasional roles need not be subject to 
advertising, line managers are required to comply with equal opportunities policy and ensure all 
Visiting Staff are interviewed, and provide at least one satisfactory reference. 

Those engaging Visiting Staff should contact Payroll for a Visiting Staff pack.   

5. How do I determine rate of pay? 
 

By providing HR with a role description (please see Appendix II), departments will be advised as to 
the appropriate rate of pay to be applied.  HR will compare the role description to generic role 
profiles and match the role to an appropriate grade. The Visiting Staff member will then be paid at 
an hourly rate based on the grade allocated.  Occasionally spot rates may be appropriate for Visiting 
Staff.    

The School expects that Visiting Staff will be paid at the minimum point of any comparable grade 
although a higher placing may be agreed in recognition of previous relevant experience.  Subject to 
role requirements, the Visiting Staff rate will be in complete compensation for all associated duties 
including preparatory or development work.   

6. How do I pay Visiting Staff? 
 

GSA is no longer able to process ‘one-off’ payments for those individuals who only undertake work 
on one occasion.  This means that all visiting staff must be logged on to the GSA payroll. 

In advance of the person being engaged, the line manager must complete a VS1 form and forward to 
HR, along with role description, for approval.  This ensures that the correct rate of pay is established 
in advance and that HR are able to advise on any permission to work issues (see:  Arrangements for 
International Visiting Staff). 

Timesheets should then be submitted to Payroll once the work has been undertaken.  If Payroll staff 
cannot match the timesheets to a pre-approved VS1 Form, they will not be in a position to process 
payment. 

If the individual is self-employed or working for a company, please see Appendix III – Employment 
Status Guidelines. 

7. Arrangements for International Visiting Staff 
 

As outlined above there are certain requirements that must be adhered to in relation to Visiting Staff 
who are not residents of the European Economic Area (EEA), known as migrant workers.  As a 
licensed sponsor, the School has the ability to issue a ‘Certificate of Sponsorship’ (under Tier 5 of the 
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Points Based Immigration System) to anyone wishing to enter the UK to undertake work of a 
temporary nature, for anywhere up to twelve months. 

There are also various visa options available to those visiting the UK for short-term work and 
guidance in this respect should be sought from HR before inviting anyone to the UK to undertake 
work.  It is likely that a visitor will be prevented from entering the UK by the UK Borders Agency if 
they do not have the relevant clearance.  

It is absolutely essential that the School adheres strictly to the requirements set out by the Home 
Office and must complete relevant right to work checks before commencement of work.  Roles and 
responsibilities in this respect are summarised in Appendix III – International Visiting Staff 
Guidelines. 

8. What if I need to engage a member of staff for more than 12 weeks? 
 

Should you need to engage an individual for more than twelve weeks, the vacancy should be 
progressed in line with the procedure outlined in the Staff Recruitment Policy and Procedure.  In 
short, the vacancy will need to be approved and advertised (see Appendix I). 

9. Protection of Vulnerable Groups (PVG) 
 

Line Managers must discuss with HR any posts which will involve working with children and / or 
protected adults to ensure that appropriate Protection of Vulnerable Groups Scheme membership 
checks are undertaken prior to that person starting work.  A list of those roles at GSA eligible for 
registration under the PVG Scheme can be provided by HR. 
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Appendix I 

 

Description Requirement Process 

 

Visiting Staff 

 

 

Casual member of staff required: 

 

• To engage in short term activity (as 
outlined on Page 1) 

 

AND 

 

• Anticipated to be engaged for less than 
twelve weeks over a twelve month period 

 

 

• Role Description (Appendix II) to be completed and passed to 
HR for allocation of rate of pay, unless previously allocated, 
and VS1 form completed and sent to HR 

• Individual identified and interviewed by Head of School/Dept. 
(or nominee)  

• Individual to be asked to complete and return all information 
required (all relevant forms available from Payroll/HR) before 
work commences, including those documents outlined in 
International Visiting Staff Guidelines.  If migrant worker, 
individual must also complete steps outlined in 
International Visiting Staff Guidelines (Appendix III) 

• Individual paid hourly and timesheets to be submitted for 
hours worked 

 

 

Contracted staff 

 

Short-term member of staff required: 

• To engage in medium to long term activity  
 

AND 

• Expected to be required for more than 
twelve weeks within a twelve month period 

 

 

• Process for appointing must be undertaken in line with the 
Staff Recruitment Policy and Procedure. 
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Department [Division / Faculty / School] 

 

Role Code Role Title 

 

Responsible to Responsible for 

 

Role purpose 

 

Principal duties or key objectives 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

 

 

Activities Examples of role requirements 

1    Communication 

 

 

 

 

2    Teamwork and Motivation  
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3    Liaison and Networking  

 

 

4    Service Delivery  

 

 

5    Decision Making P and O  

 

 

6    Planning and Organising Resources  

 

 

7    Initiative and Problem Solving  

 

 

8    Analysis and Research  

 

 

9    Sensory and Physical Demands  

 

 

10  Work Environment  

 

 

11  Pastoral Care and Welfare  
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12  Team Development  

 

 

13  Teaching and Learning Support   

 

 

14  Knowledge and Experience 

 

 

Any other significant activities not listed above? 
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International Visiting Staff – Guidelines 

In 2009 the new Points Based Immigration System (PBS) was introduced by the Home Office (UKBA).  
Under the new system, anyone looking to come to the UK to work will need to pass a points-based 
assessment before they are given permission to enter or remain in the UK.  The number of points 
awarded for visiting staff will depend on whether a Certificate of Sponsorship has been issued by 
GSA (see below) and whether the individual is able to demonstrate the ability to support themselves 
financially for the duration of the visit.     

The PBS only covers migrants from outside the European Economic Area (EEA) and Switzerland.  EU 
citizens are not affected. 

This document summarises the roles and responsibilities of all interested parties when engaging 
visiting staff, in light of the UKBA requirements. 

GSA 

Under the PBS GSA must issue a Certificate of Sponsorship to anyone from outside of the EEA, 
known as a migrant worker, wishing to enter the UK to undertake work.  In doing so GSA is offering a 
guarantee to the Home Office that the worker is: 

• seeking entry to the UK to work or perform in the relevant sector; 
• not intending to base themselves in business in the UK; 
• posing no threat to the resident labour force; and 
• willing to comply with the conditions of the permission to stay and leave the UK when it 

expires. 

As the sponsor, GSA must fulfil the following requirements: 

1. Record keeping duties: 

• a photocopy or electronic copy of each sponsored migrant’s passport or UK immigration 
status document showing his/her entitlement to work; 

• each sponsored migrant’s contact details (UK residential address, telephone number and 
mobile telephone number); 

• a copy of the ID card which is being introduced this year for foreign nationals. 
 

2. Reporting duties:   

GSA must report the following information or events to the UKBA within strict specified timescales: - 

• if a migrant worker does not turn up for their first day at work; 
• if the migrant worker is absent from work for more than 10 working days without 

reasonable granted permission; 
• if the migrant’s employment ends (includes if they resign or are dismissed); 
• any significant changes to the migrant’s circumstances, e.g. change of job, or salary; 
• if the School suspects that the migrant is breaching the conditions of their leave; 
• if the School suspects the migrant is engaging in terrorism or any other criminal activity. 
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3. Complying with the law: 

To ensure that we are complying with immigration laws, GSA is also required to fulfil the following 
duties: 

• not to employ a migrant if the conditions on the migrant’s leave (or the migrant’s lack of 
leave) mean that s/he is not allowed to undertake the work in question; 

• only to issue certificates of sponsorship to migrants who, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, will meet the requirements of the tier or category of the PBS under which the 
certificate is issued, and are likely to comply with the conditions of their permission to enter 
or stay in the UK. 

Recruiting Managers 

In order to ensure that GSA is able to fulfil the obligations outlined above, it is essential that 
Recruiting Managers follow these steps, without exception: 

a) Ensure that HR has been informed of the intention to engage the visiting staff member, 
including an outline of the nature and duration of the assignment, so that a Certificate of 
Sponsorship can be issued.  The visitor should also be referred to HR so that all relevant 
information can be obtained (see below); 

b) Ensure that the Visiting Staff member attends the Payroll Office with a copy of his/her 
passport  with a view to completing the necessary paperwork (see below Forms to be 
Completed section), before commencement of work; 

c) Ensure that HR have been alerted immediately should any of the events outlined in 2. above 
occur. 

Visiting Staff 

Having agreed to undertake the work outlined by the Recruiting Manager, the visiting staff member 
must, without exception: 

a) Contact the relevant member of the HR department with the following information: 
• a brief career summary or current CV; 
• length of intended visit, including dates, and any activities planned not related to the 

GSA; 
• a declaration that the conditions of permission to stay are fully understood and will 

be adhered to. 

b) Attend the Payroll Office upon arrival at GSA to provide a copy of his/her passport and ID 
card and to complete all relevant forms (see below Forms to be Completed section), before 
commencement of work. 

c) Ensure that the Recruiting Manager is alerted, without delay, should he/she: 
• be unable to attend work when scheduled to do so; 
• make any changes to his/her contact details (i.e. address, telephone number) during 

the period of engagement; 
• not intend to complete the work assignment and/or be planning to alter the agreed 

end date. 
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Forms to be Completed 

The following forms must be completed by Visiting Staff upon their arrival at GSA and before 
commencement of work: 

• Personal Details/Equal Opportunities Monitoring;  
• Bank Details; 
• Disclosure Scotland Declaration; 
• P46 (Inland Revenue). 

It is absolutely essential that the procedures outlined within this document are adhered to 
without exception.  Failure to do so could lead to GSA’s Sponsorship License being revoked by the 
UKBA, the implications being that GSA would no longer be able to employ international staff or 
recruit international students. 

If you require any further guidance when engaging international staff please contact the HR 
Department on 0141 353 4463 or hr@gsa.ac.uk. 
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Employment Status Guidelines 

Determining Employment Status   

The Glasgow School of Art is required to ensure that payments to individuals who provide a service 
to the School are treated appropriately in respect of personal tax and national insurance deductions. 

The following information is about employment status, a term we use to mean whether an 
individual is employed or self-employed.  It will help you check that employment status is correct. 

Employment status is not a matter of choice and is based on the terms and conditions of the 
agreement an individual has with who they engage in work for.  

In most cases employment status will be straightforward.  In general terms, you are employed if you 
work for someone and don’t have the risks of running the business.  You are self-employed if you are 
in business for yourself and are responsible for the success or failure of that business. 

To help determine the employment status of an individual, they should answer the following 
questions.  If they have more than one job the same questions apply for each job: 

Employed – if you answer yes to most of the questions you are likely to be employed: 

 •  Do you have to do the work yourself? 
 •  Can someone tell you where to work, when to work, how to work or what to do? 
 •  Can someone move you from task to task? 
 •  Do you have to work a set number of hours? 
 •  Are you paid a regular wage or salary? 
 •  Can you get overtime pay or bonus payments? 

•  Are you responsible for managing anyone else engaged by the person or company that   
you are working for? 
 

Self-employed – if you answer yes to one or more of the questions you are likely to be self-
employed: 

 •   Can you hire someone to do the work, or take on helpers at your own expense? 
• Can you decide where to provide the services of the job, when to work, how to work and 

what to do? 
 •   Can you make a loss as well as a profit? 
 •   Do you agree to do a job for a fixed price regardless of how long the job may take? 
 
If you can’t answer yes to any of the above questions, you are likely to be self-employed if you can 
answer yes to most of the following questions: 

 •  Do you risk your own money? 
•  Do you provide the main items of equipment (not the tools that many employees provide 
for themselves) needed to do the job? 
•  Do you regularly work for a number of different people and require business set up in 
order to do so? 
•  Do you have to correct unsatisfactory work in your own time and at your own expense? 
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The HMRC  Employment Status Indicator (ESI) tool enables GSA to check the employment status of 
an individual or group of workers – that is whether they are employed or self-employed for tax, 
National Insurance contributions(NIC’s) or VAT purposes. 
 
The engager and worker should complete HMRC Employment Status Indicator (ESI) prior to the first 
engagement.  For workers undertaking work in multiple departments, this must be completed each 
time.  Please see: www.hmrc.gov.uk/calcs/esi.htm 
 
Employment status affects the type of tax and NICs paid by an individual and how it is paid.  If they 
are employed the employer will collect tax & NICs from their pay and pay it to HMRC.  If they are 
self-employed they will be responsible for completing a tax return each year and paying the amount 
of tax owed directly to HMRC. 
 
In order to be treated as self-employed you must be registered with HMRC and completion and 
return of above ESI questionnaire and result confirming ‘self-employed’ must be returned with any 
invoices submitted.  The invoice must also detail the UTR number issued by the Inland Revenue. 
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 VISITING STAFF FORM  
Please forward this form to HR before commencement of work  

Please note: Payroll will be unable to process payment unless this form has been provided to HR in advance. 
 If you require any guidance at all, please advise a member of the HR Team.   

Name of visitor:  

Role:  

Department:  

Right to work in the UK?:   
FOR ALL VISITORS: PLEASE ENCLOSE A SCANNED COPY OF VISITOR’S I.D 

(Passport, driving license, or birth certificate. If individual is not a resident of the European 
Economic Area, a scan of their Visa must also be included.) 

 
By ticking one of the boxes below, you confirm that you have physically checked the 

attached form of I.D: 

YES                                                    NO             (See International Staff guidelines) 

 

Working pattern/hours: 

 

 

 

Start Date:  End Date: 

Will the visiting staff member be working with people under 18 and/or vulnerable adults?        

YES                        (If yes, please contact HR to ensure PVG is obtained prior to commencement of work.)                 

NO 

 

Generic Profile Match: 
(please tick one box having referred to 
Visiting Staff generic profiles) 

 

1. Visiting Lecturer/Tutor                              2.      Continuing Education Tutor 

3.     Life Model                                                     4.      External Examiner 

5.     Administration Asst.                                   6.      Shelving Asst. 

7.      Exhibitions Asst.                                          8.      Technician.                                     

9.      Match does not apply                                                                                          
(please complete section below)                               

Allocated Rate of Pay: 
(please see applicable rates in relation 
to above allocation) 

£            per hour 

 
Match does not apply 
Please give a brief outline of the reasons for applying a negotiated fee: 
 
 
 
 
 
Line Manager        __________________________        ________________________        ______________ 
Authorisation  Name       Signed    Date 
 
HR  ___________________________    ________________________ ______________ 
Authorisation Name       Signed    Date   
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Appendix V 

UK Visas and Immigration Policy & Procedure 

1.  Purpose and Scope 

This policy establishes The Glasgow School of Art’s (GSA) approach to Home Office visa and 
immigration compliance.  UK Government and Home Office policies (see section 13.1) are not 
superseded by this policy. 

In order to recruit non EEA nationals to work in the UK, GSA must hold valid Tier 2 and Tier 5 
Sponsor Licences which are issued and approved by the Home Office under the direction of the UK 
Government. 

GSA must apply for Tier 2 and Tier 5 licences every four years and must ensure compliance with 
Government legislation and that the responsibilities of being a sponsor are being upheld. Moreover, 
it must be able to provide evidence of compliance if requested to do so by the Home Office by way 
of a visit or audit and failure to do so can result in the immediate suspension or revocation of the 
licence. 

2. 1 Types of visa 

(a)   Tier 2 - Long term employment (see section 3) 

The Tier 2 immigration route allows GSA to apply for a certificate of sponsorship (CoS) for non EEA 
skilled workers to undertake positions of employment at GSA which cannot be filled by a ‘settled’ 
worker.  A ‘settled’ worker is an individual with leave to remain in the UK.    

(b)   Tier 5 - Short term employment (see section 4) 

The Tier 5 immigration route allows GSA to sponsor non EEA temporary workers to fulfil short term 
contracts/engagements in the UK. GSA has a licence to sponsor workers under the Creative and 
sporting route which is intended for creative artists, sports persons and entertainers to come to the 
UK to fulfil short term contracts/engagements. 

(c) Business Visitors (see section 12) 

There is an additional route for certain migrants in the creative sector who will be visiting the UK for 
one month or less, which allows them to undertake certain permitted paid engagements. If a 
migrant in the creative sector does not need to be in the UK for more than one month, they may 
wish to check whether the visitor route will better meet their needs. 

(d) Other 

There may be occasions when non EEA residents have individually obtained the right to work in the 
UK (e.g. student visa, spousal visa).   

2.2 Application 

In all circumstances, as soon as the Recruiting Manager decides that they intend to make an offer of 
work (paid or unpaid) to a non EEA resident, they must liaise with an appropriate member of HR 
staff for guidance in the first instance. If a non EEA resident does not have permission to work in 
the UK, they cannot undertake any work (paid or unpaid) at GSA under any circumstances. 

All tier 2 and tier 5 CoS applications will be made by an appropriate member of HR staff, on behalf of 
GSA. 
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3. Long term employment (Tier 2) 

GSA can apply for a certificate of sponsorship on behalf of an individual provided: - 

• The position is at the appropriate skill level, which for the majority of roles is degree level; 
• A resident labour market test has been completed (the post has been advertised for a 

minimum of four weeks using at least two national advertising sources), or the position is a 
skilled job where there is a shortage of workers in the UK (as defined by the UKVI Shortage 
Occupation list); 

• The position is paid at an appropriate salary level (current minimum is £20,800); 
• The individual meets the required level of English as determined by the Home Office; 
• The individual can demonstrate that they have a minimum of £945 in savings, which has 

been in their bank account for ninety days before the application. 

3.1 Length of stay 

An individual can reside and work in the UK with a Tier 2 (General) visa for a maximum of five years 
and fourteen days, or the time given on their certificate of sponsorship plus one month, whichever is 
shorter. 

An individual must start their employment with GSA no more than 14 days before the start date on 
their CoS.   

They must register with the police if the total stay in the UK will be more than 6 months and they are 
a national of a country listed in Appendix 2 of the Immigration Rules. 

3.2 Terms and conditions 

An individual can: 

• work for their sponsor in the job described in their certificate of sponsorship; 
• do a second job in the same sector and at the same level as their main job for up to 20 

hours per week; 
• do a job which has a shortage of workers in the UK for up to 20 hours per week; 
• do voluntary work; 
• study as long as it doesn’t interfere with the job they are sponsored for; 
• travel abroad and return to the UK; 
• bring family members with them. 

An individual cannot: 

• own more than 10% of their sponsor’s shares (unless they earn more than £155,300 a 
year); 

• get public funds; 
• start working before they get their visa 
• apply for a second job until they’ve started working for their sponsor; 

 

4 Short term employment (Tier 5) 

GSA can apply for a certificate of sponsorship on behalf of an individual provided: - 

• they’ve been offered work as a sports person or creative worker; 
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• The individual has a minimum of £945 in savings - this is to prove they can support 
themselves. They must have had this in their bank account for 90 days before they 
apply. 

4.1 Length of stay 

An individual can reside and work in the UK with a Tier 5 visa for a maximum of up to 12 months, or 
the time given in their certificate of sponsorship plus up to 28 days, whichever is shorter. 

An individual must start their employment in GSA no more than 14 days before the start date on 
their certificate of sponsorship. 

4.2 Terms and conditions 

An individual can: 

• study (for some courses they’ll need an Academic Technology Approval Scheme 
certificate); 

• work for their sponsor in the job described in their certificate of sponsorship; 
• do a second job in the same sector and at the same level as their main job for up to 20 

hours per week; 
• do a job on the shortage occupation list for up to 20 hours per week; 
• bring their family. 

An individual cannot: 

• get public funds; 
• start their own business. 

 

5. Documents an individual must provide 

• a current passport; 
• a current visa (if switching categories); 
• qualification certificates; 
• bank statements showing proof of a minimum £945 in savings continuously over the last 90 

days; 
• proof that they meet the English requirement (Tier 2 only); 
• Tuberculosis test results if the individual is from a country where they need to take the test 

(See section 13.1) 
 

6. Application 

Once the appropriate member of HR staff has received notification from UKVI that a CoS application 
has been successful, they will contact the individual and provide them with a CoS number. A CoS 
number is a reference number which holds information about the job and their personal details.  
The individual will use this number to apply for their visa. 

HR will prepare an Offer of Employment to the individual, as they will also require this in order to 
apply for their visa.  The offer is subject to the satisfactory confirmation of their entitlement to work 
in the UK, and will state that a start date is to be confirmed. Please note that where permission to 
work in the UK is required, the start date of the prospective employee could be delayed by up to two 
months.  HR will provide necessary updates to the line manger throughout the process.   
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Should a CoS application be denied by UKVI for any reason, then GSA cannot proceed with the 
employment of the individual. 

7. Fees 

GSA will pay for the CoS, but the individual will pay for their visa.  The individual will also have to pay 
a health surcharge (see section 13.1). The cost of the visa depends on individual circumstance, and 
an appropriate member of HR staff will be able to advise which one of the below is applicable in 
each case: 

 

8. Commencement of Employment 

8.1 On commencement of employment, the Line Manger must ensure that the staff member 
reports to HR on their first day.  An appropriate member of HR staff will identify and check the 
validity of the following original documents of all Tier 2 and Tier 5 sponsored employees: 

• Passport; 
• Visa; 
• Qualifications. 
 

A copy of the above documentation will be kept with the migrant’s contact details (UK residential 
address, home and mobile telephone numbers) on the employee file for audit purposes. 
 
8.2 In circumstances where Tier 5 sponsored employees are not subject to the normal 
recruitment process, they must also provide HR with: - 

• A brief career summary or current CV; 
• Details of length of intended visit including dates and any activities planned which are not 

related to GSA; 
• A declaration that the conditions of permission to stay are fully understood and will be 

adhered to. 

9. Line Manger Responsibilities 

The Line Manger must also ensure the migrant is fully aware of their responsibilities as a sponsored, 
migrant worker and follow GSA attendance management procedures at all times. Adequate records 
of all authorised absences and annual leave should be submitted and retained for audit purposes. 

  Apply (outside 
the UK) 

Extend or switch in the 
UK 

Extend or switch in person in the UK 
(premium service) 

Tier 2 General (up to 3 
years) 

£564 £651 £1,051 

Tier 2 General (up to 3 
years) - shortage 
occupation 

£428 £428 £828 

Tier 2 General (more 
than 3 years) 

£1,128 £1,302 £1,702 

Tier 2 General (more 
than 3 years) - shortage 
occupation 

£856 £856 £1,256 

Tier 5 
 

£225 
 

£225 
 

£625 
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The Line Manger must advise HR immediately if the migrant worker: - 

• Does not turn up for their first day of work; 
• Is absent from work for more than 10 working days without reasonable granted permission; 
• Employment ends; 
• Has significant changes to their circumstances (e.g. change of job or salary); 
• Is suspected of breaching the conditions of their leave or engaging in terrorism or any other 

criminal activity. 

10. Migrant Worker (Employee) Responsibilities 

The migrant worker must, without exception: - 

• Liaise with HR prior to any job offer being made to ensure adequate information is provided 
for a sponsorship application; 

• Report to HR with the original documentation listed above (see section 8.1); 
• Follow GSA attendance management procedures by telephoning their line manager on the 

first day of any sickness absence and seeking authorisation in advance of any annual or 
business leave; 

• Inform HR of any change to their contact details as soon as the change occurs; 
• Inform their line manager and HR in writing of any intention to resign from employment at 

GSA. 

11. Sponsor Duties 

Tier 2 and Tier 5 sponsored employees are subject to standard employee attendance requirements 
which satisfy the visa requirements.  

HR are required to report the following information to the Home Office via the Sponsor 
Management System (SMS): - 

• The sponsored migrant does not turn up for their first day of work; 
• If a sponsored migrant’s contract of employment is terminated; 
• If a sponsored migrant is absent from work for more than 10 consecutive working days 

without permission; 
• If sponsorship of the migrant is ceased for any other reason; 
• There are significant changes to the sponsored migrant’s circumstances (e.g. a promotion or 

change in job title or core duties, change of salary, change in location or contract is 
shortened); 

• The migrant’s employment is affected by Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) or a similar provision being triggered; 

• Any information which suggests that the sponsored migrant is breaching conditions of their 
leave; 

• Where a migrant is suspected of engaging in terrorism or other criminal activity, information 
should be provided to the police; 

• Details of any third party or intermediary whether in the UK or abroad that has assisted in 
the recruitment; 
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• Any significant changes to the business e.g. cease trading, merge or are subject to a take-
over, or become insolvent or enter administration. 

12. Visitors (Paid Engagement Visa’s) 

Individuals’ can apply for a Permitted Paid Engagement visa to do specified work at GSA if they: 

• are 18 or over; 
• are visiting the UK for less than 1 month; 
• will leave the UK at the end of their visit; 
• have enough money without help from public funds to support and house themselves; 
• can pay for their return or onward journey. 

An individual must apply for a Permitted Paid Engagement visa online themselves before them come 
to the UK.  They will need a formal invitation from GSA in order to apply.  This will be provided by 
the line manager, under the guidance of an appropriate member of HR staff.   

An individual can apply for a visa up to 3 months before their date of travel to the UK.  They should 
get a decision on their visa application within 3 weeks.  The cost of the visa is £85, and will be paid 
for by the individual. 

12.1 Terms and conditions 

An individual can: 

• be a student examiner or assessor; 
• take part in selection panels for the education, arts or research organisation they’re invited 

by as a highly qualified academic; 
• give lectures at a higher education institution, as long as it’s not a part-time or full-time role 
• take part in arts, entertainment or sporting activities including broadcasting; 
• take part in fashion modeling assignments; 
• do minor activities related to their work or business overseas, e.g. meetings. 

An individual cannot: 

• do specific paid work unrelated to their main job or area of expertise at home or sell 
merchandise, other than what’s allowed by their visa; 

• extend this visa or switch to another visa; 
• live in the UK for extended periods; 
• get public funds;  
• study - except for 30 days of incidental study; 
• marry or register a civil partnership, or give notice of marriage or civil partnership; 
• bring family members (‘dependents’) with them on their application - they must apply 

separately. 

12.2 Commencement of employment 

On commencement of employment, the Line Manger must ensure that the visitor reports to HR on 
their first day.  An appropriate member of HR staff will identify and check the validity of their 
passport and visa.  A copy of the above documentation will be kept on file for audit purposes. 
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13. Questions 

Clarification on the terms or operation of this Policy and Procedure may be obtained from a member 
of the HR Department.  

13.1 Useful links: 

• UKVI website: https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/uk-visas-and-immigration 
• Policy and Law: www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/policyandlaw 
• Tier 2: https://www.gov.uk/tier-2-general 
• Tier 5: https://www.gov.uk/tier-5-temporary-worker-creative-and-sporting-visa 
• Visitors: https://www.gov.uk/permitted-paid-engagement-visa 
• TB Test: https://www.gov.uk/tb-test-visa/overview 
• Healthcare Surcharge: https://www.gov.uk/healthcare-immigration-application/pay 
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Appendix I 

Countries in the EU and EEA 
The European Union (EU) is an economic and political union of 28 countries. It operates an internal 
(or single) market which allows free movement of goods, capital, services and people between 
member states. 

EU countries 

The EU countries are: 

• Austria 
• Belgium 
• Bulgaria 
• Croatia 
• Republic of Cyprus 
• Czech Republic 
• Denmark  
• Estonia 
• Finland 
• France 
• Germany 
• Greece 
• Hungary  
• Ireland 
• Italy 
• Latvia 
• Lithuania 
• Luxembourg 
• Malta 
• Netherlands  
• Poland 
• Portugal 
• Romania 
• Slovakia 
• Slovenia 
• Spain 
• Sweden  
• UK 

The European Economic Area (EEA) 

The EEA includes EU countries and also Iceland, Liechtenstein and Norway. It allows them to be part 
of the EU’s single market. 

Switzerland is neither an EU or EEA member but is part of the single market - this means Swiss 
nationals have the same rights to live and work in the UK as other EEA nationals. 
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Appendix VI 
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Appendix VII 

POLICY ON THE RECRUITMENT OF EX-OFFENDERS 
 

Policy Statement  
 

1. The Code of Practice (“the Code”) is published by Scottish Ministers under section 122 of Part V 
of The Police Act 1997 (“the 1997 Act”).  The Code identifies obligations which registered 
bodies, counter signatories and other recipients of disclosure information issued under the 
1997 Act and the Protection of Vulnerable Groups (Scotland) Act 2007 (“the 2007 Act”).  

 
2. The Glasgow School of Art (GSA) complies with the Code, the 1997 and 2007 Acts regarding the 

treatment of individuals who are subject to Disclosure Scotland checks. GSA undertakes not to 
discriminate unfairly against the subject of a disclosure on the basis of conviction or other 
information revealed.  

 
3. GSA will provide a copy of this policy and the Code to anyone who asks to see it.  
 
4. GSA is committed to equality of opportunity, to following fair practices and to providing a 

service which is free from unfair and unlawful discrimination.  The School ensures that no 
applicant or member of staff is subject to less favourable treatment on the grounds of offending 
background. GSA actively promotes the right mix of talent, skills and potential and welcome 
applications from a wide range of candidates, including those with criminal records. The 
selection of candidates for interview will be based on skills, qualifications and experience.  

 
5. GSA will use a Disclosure Scotland check only where this is considered proportionate and 

relevant to the particular position or type of regulated work. This will be based on a thorough 
risk assessment of the position or work and having considered the relevant legislation which 
determines whether or not a Standard or Enhanced Disclosure under the 1997 Act or a Scheme 
Record under the 2007 Act is applicable.  

 
6. Where a disclosure application or request is deemed necessary, individuals will be made aware 

that the position or work will be subject to a Disclosure Scotland check and that the nature of 
the position or work entitles us to ask about spent and unspent convictions.  

 
7. GSA will ask individuals to complete a criminal record self-declaration form as part of the 

application process and will stress to individuals that they should be honest in their response. 
This form will be returned under separate, confidential cover, to the HR department within our 
organisation and we guarantee that this form will only be seen by those who need to see it as 
part of the decision-making process. 

 
8. At interview, or under separate discussion, GSA undertakes to ensure an open and measured 

discussion on the subject of any offences or other matters that might be considered relevant for 
the position or work concerned.  

 
9. GSA undertakes to discuss any matter revealed in a certificate1 issued under the 1997 Act or a 

Scheme Record issued under the 2007 Act with the subject of that disclosure before a decision 
is made.  

 
10.  GSA ensures that all those who are involved in the decision making process have been suitably 

trained to identify and assess the relevance and circumstances of disclosure information and to  
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ensure that they have received appropriate guidance and training about providing work for ex-
offenders.  
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The Protecting Vulnerable Groups (PVG) Scheme was introduced by the Scottish Government to replace 
the enhanced Disclosure Scotland arrangements for people who work with children and adults at risk.  
Disclosure Scotland remains the regulating body. 
 
The PVG Scheme ensures that those who have regular contact with vulnerable groups through the 
workplace do not have a history of inappropriate behaviour.  It excludes people who are known to be 
unsuitable, on the basis of past behaviour, from working with children and/or protected adults. 
 
The aim of the PVG Scheme is to:- 
 

• help ensure that those who have regular contact with children and protected adults through 
paid and unpaid work do not have a known history of harmful behaviour; 

• be quick and easy to use, reducing the need for PVG Scheme members to complete a detailed 
application every time disclosure check is required; 

• strike a balance between proportionate protection and robust regulation making it easier for 
employers to determine who they should check to protect their client group. 

 
This document sets out the School’s policy on the protection of vulnerable groups. 
 
 

2. DEFINITIONS 

For the purposes of the Policy, the following definitions will apply: 

Child 
An individual under the age of 18 years old 
 
Protected Adult 
A person aged 16 or over, who receives one or more type of health, care or welfare service, whether 
regularly or for a short period of time 
 
Regulated work  
Activities undertaken by employees who are specifically employed in caring for, supervising or advising children 
and/or protected adults. 
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3. ASSESSING REGULATED WORK 

 

3.1 Identifying Regulated Work 

Work is regulated if the day to day activities include working with an individual or groups of individuals under 
the age of 18, or protected adults, carrying out the following activities: 

• Caring for children or protected adults 

• Teaching, instructing, training or supervising children or protected adults 

• Being in sole charge of children or protected adults 

• Unsupervised contact with children 

• Providing advice or guidance to children or protected adults which relates to physical or emotional well-
being, education or training 

• Moderating a public electronic interactive communication service which is intended for the use wholly 
or mainly of children 

• Providing or working for an organisation which provides care home services exclusively or mainly for 
children 

• Providing or working for an organisation that provides and independent health care service exclusively 
or mainly for children 

• Work on any part of a day care premises at times when children are being looked after 

• Being a host parent 

 

3.2 Exceptions to Regulated Work – Incidental Test 

The scope of regulated work is narrowed by the incidental test.  Some, but not all, activities with 
children and protected adults are excluded from being regulated work if the activity is occurring 
incidentally to working with individuals who are not children or protected adults.  For example, a 
Lecturer who teaches undergraduate and postgraduate students; Lectures are aimed at the student 
group as a whole but may include some children in first year undergraduate classes.  Despite the fact 
that some children attend GSA, teaching them is incidental to the teaching of adults and therefore 
Lecturers are not considered to be doing regulated work with children. 
 
Conversely, a staff member whose specific job is to look after the welfare of first year students (as 
opposed to students in general) may be doing regulated work with children as his/her work is 
deliberately targeted at a group containing a significant number of children.  An example would be the 
role of Level One Design Coordinator. 
 
In the case of regulated work with protected adults the same principle would apply; however there will 
be very few HE employees undertaking regulated work in this context.  Again, regulated work involves 
supervising, caring for, assisting and/or being in sole charge of protected adults and, as with children, 
this work must be the main focus of the job and not incidental to carrying out these tasks for all 
students. 
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Very few staff working for HE institutions would fall into this category.  One example may be a Welfare 
Officer or Counsellor with a specific remit to provide support, assistance, advice or counselling to 
individuals with particular needs. 
 
Those roles at GSA that are currently considered to be regulated work, and therefore eligible for PVG 
Scheme membership, are listed in Appendix 1.  This is not an exhaustive list and the HR Department can 
provide further guidance in this respect. 
 

 
4. RECRUITMENT 
 
The School will require individuals to whom regulated work is being offered to become PVG Scheme 
members.  When an individual is required to join the PVG Scheme because they are undertaking 
regulated work as part of their employment, the School will countersign the application and pay the 
required fee. 
 
When an application is received by Disclosure Scotland they will check that the individual is not barred 
from undertaking regulated work by searching for vetting information from a range of sources 1.  If no 
relevant information is found a unique record of scheme membership will be created and the individual 
will become a member of the PVG Scheme.  A Scheme record is issued to the individual as well as to the 
counter signatory. 
 
If an individual considers the information recorded on the Scheme Record to be inaccurate then he/she 
can request a review of information from Disclosure Scotland but this must be undertaken within 3 
months of the date of the scheme record being issued.  Disclosure Scotland can provide more detailed 
information on the process should there be a dispute regarding accuracy.  If the record is subsequently 
amended then a new Scheme Record will be issued.  
 
Where an advertised post involves regulated work, it will be stated within the job description for the 
role that PVG Scheme membership is a requirement and must be attained before employment 
commences.  If a successful applicant is already a member of the PVG Scheme, the School will apply to 
Disclosure Scotland for a Scheme record update. 

 

It is an offence for an organization to either offer regulated work to someone who is barred or to fail to 
remove someone from regulated work if notified that they are barred.  The School is entitled to use all 
vetting information to inform recruitment or retention decisions and will refuse to recruit or continue to 
employ an individual to do regulated work if they refuse to consent to PVG Scheme membership 
without reasonable grounds to do so 

 

5. RETROSPECTIVE CHECKING AND RE-CHECKING 

 

The PVG Act required that all staff at GSA who were undertaking regulated work obtain PVG Scheme 
membership by February 2015.   

Those who were checked retrospectively,  as well as new staff who have been entered into the Scheme, 
will be required to undergo further checks every two years from the date membership commenced.  
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Scheme updates should also be undertaken for any hourly-paid staff engaged in regulated work every 
time they are re-engaged (e.g. Continuing Education summer Tutors).  

 

6. NOTIFICATION OF CHANGES 

 

The PVG Act requires members of the Scheme to notify Disclosure Scotland of any change of name, 
gender, home address, telephone contact number or email address within three months of the change 
taking effect.   
 
Any PVG member who leaves the School’s employment and is no longer doing regulated work should 
apply directly to Disclosure Scotland to leave the Scheme.  Disclosure Scotland will seek confirmation of 
this from the School.  When an individual remains employed but ceases to do regulated work for the 
School, it is the School’s responsibility to de-register interest in that individual directly with Disclosure 
Scotland.   
 
If an individual subsequently wishes to return to regulated work at the School or any other employer 
then he/she will require to undertake the full initial application process again.  
 
 
7. HANDLING, USE, STORAGE AND RETENTION OF INFORMATION 

 

The School will only use PVG or Disclosure information for the purpose for which it has been requested 
and provided – to determine suitability for work.  The information provided by an individual will not be 
used or disclosed in a manner incompatible with this purpose, although an individual may share their 
own disclosure record with another organisation should they choose to do so. 

The School will not retain Disclosure Scotland certificates.  The relevant details will be logged 
electronically and the paper copies securely destroyed immediately after logging.  The information is 
contained in a password-protected file which is only accessible to authorised and named individuals who 
are entitled to see such information in the course of their duties or responsibilities.   

 

8. MAKING A REFERRAL 

 

If information arises about an individual who is undertaking regulated work that indicates that they 
may be unsuitable, the School is required to pass this information to Disclosure Scotland.   

The School must make a referral under the following circumstances: 

• An individual undertaking regulated work has done something to harm2 a child or protected 
adult (which does not need to have taken place in the workplace or be connected to their work 
in any way); 

AND 

• The impact is of such a serious nature that the School has (or would) permanently remove that 
individual from regulated work.   
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If appropriate the School may also involve the police but this should not replace the process of making a 
referral to Disclosure Scotland. 

The grounds of referral for those doing regulated work with children and/or protected adults are: 

• They have harmed a child or protected adult, or; 

• Placed a child or protected adult at risk of harm3, or; 

• Engaged in inappropriate conduct involving pornography, or; 

• Engaged in inappropriate conduct of a sexual nature involving a child or protected adult, or; 

• Given inappropriate medical treatment to a child or protected adult. 

 

The information required by Disclosure to be included in a referral is based on what information is held 
by the School and does not require that the School make any further or wider enquiries. 

 

The information required for referral includes: 

• Identity details of the individual; 

• Details of the referral ground(s); 

• Contact details for the relevant GSA contact; 

• Details of the regulated work undertaken by the individual; 

• Details of any relationship between the child or protected adult involved; 

• Details of any action taken by the School to date. 

 
On receipt of this information Disclosure Scotland will undertake an assessment process. If the person is 
a PVG member then any organisation that has requested a disclosure record in respect of the individual 
for regulated work will be notified, along with any appropriate regulatory body.  
 
An individual is not barred by Disclosure Scotland from doing regulated work when they are under 
consideration for listing. In such circumstances a meeting will be held with the individual and risk 
assessment undertaken and, if considered appropriate, an individual may be removed from part or all of 
their duties during this period.  
 
The Disclosure Scotland referral process is a separate process from any formal Disciplinary procedures 
and the School may, if it considers it appropriate, progress formal disciplinary procedures at any time 
during the referral process, prior to any listing decision being taken by Disclosure Scotland.  
 
If the outcome of the consideration process is that the individual is to be prevented from undertaking 
regulated work then the School will be legally required to remove the individual from such work.  
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Appendix 1 

 

WP Project Manager School children contact 
WP Project Tutor School children contact 
Con Ed Tutor (Children's classes) School children contact 
Head of Widening Participation School children contact 
Learning Support and Dev. Tutor Vulnerable adult contact 
Lecturer (MSA, Stage 1) Student contact 
Level One Design Coordinator Student contact 
Stage Leader (MSA, Stage 1) Student contact 
Student Counsellor Vulnerable adult contact 
Student Residence Manager Student contact 
Student Welfare Advisor Vulnerable adult contact 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                      
1 Convictions and cautions held on central UK records; sex offenders register; non conviction information 
held by police force; prescribed civil orders 
2 Harm includes physical harm, psychological harm or unlawful conduct 
3 Risk of harm includes attempting to harm another; attempting to get someone else to harm another; 
encouraging someone to harm themselves; conduct otherwise causing, or likely to cause, another to be 
harmed 
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BoG/08.12.15/Paper B4.5 
 
THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
MUSEUM AND ARCHIVE COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes:  9th October 2015  
 
Present:  Professor Alison Yarrington Lay Governor (Chair) 
 Ms Polly Christie Recovery Project Lead  
 Mr Simon Green Historic Environment Scotland 
 Ms Sarah MacKinnon Project Manager, GSA  
 Professor Ken Neil Head of Research, GSA 
 Ms Victoria Peters Archivist, University of Strathclyde 
 Mr Lewis Prosser President, Students’ Association, GSA 
 Ms Cathie Randall General Manager, GSAE 
 Dr Evelyn Silber Former Director, Hunterian Museum & Art Gallery 
 Ms Alison Stevenson Head of Learning Resources, GSA 
 Mr Peter Trowles  Curator, GSA 
 Dr Sabine Wieber Lecturer in History of Art, University of Glasgow 
         
Attending:  Mr John Martin   Assistant Secretary to the Board 
  
1. Welcome and apologies for absence 

 
The Committee welcomed Lewis Prosser, incoming president of the Students’ 
Association. Apologies were received from Jenny Brownrigg, Liz Davidson and Susannah 
Waters. (While Liz Davidson or Sarah Mackinnon would be attending meetings to advise 
on the Mackintosh Restoration Project, it was hoped that Mike Quigley, Head of Estates, 
would also continue to attend meetings or send written reports on Estates matters 
relevant to the Committee’s discussions).  
 

2. Remit, Membership and Procedures 2015/16 
 

A draft Remit, Membership and Procedures for 2015/16 had been circulated. Two 
amendments were proposed: 
 
i) It was agreed that, exceptionally, Simon Green of Historic Environment Scotland 

be appointed for a third three-year term of membership of the Committee. 
 

ii) It was also agreed that Polly Christie, ACC Recovery and Project Lead, be co-
opted to membership of the Committee.  

 
 Subject to these amendments, the Committee recommended to the Board of Governors 

that its Remit, Membership and Procedures for 2015/16 be approved. 
 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 15th May 2015 were approved.  
 

4. Mackintosh Restoration Committee 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of the Mackintosh Restoration Committee (MRC) held on 15th 

September 2015 had been circulated, as had a paper from the Head of Learning 
Resources on issues relating to the return of the Archives and Collections service to the 
restored Mackintosh Building (an updated version of which was tabled at the meeting).  
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The remainder of this minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds 
of commercial confidentiality. 

 
5. Mackintosh Library 
 
 The Committee noted a paper from the Head of Learning Resources, entitled ‘Mackintosh 

Library – What should it be used for?’  
 
6. Collection 
 
 A report on the Recovery Project had been circulated. Among the items reported was the 

recent move of Museum and Archive staff to the Whisky Bond building. A significant 
proportion of the School’s collection would also be moved to the Whisky Bond by mid-
October. A number of outreach activities were taking place, including conference 
presentations and journal articles.  

 
 A budget had been submitted (a summary of which had been circulated to the 

Committee) for continuing works, including conservation, repackaging and digitisation. It 
was hoped that this budget (which included staffing costs) would be met from insurance 
monies, though additional funding might then be sought from other sources.  

 
 It was suggested that the School might seek to establish a connection with the imminent 

restoration of the Willow Tearooms on Sauchiehall Street, and it was agreed that Ken 
Neil, Polly Christie and Liz Davidson would meet to consider all possible links involving 
those responsible for both restoration of the Mackintosh Building and restoration and 
preservation of the School’s collection. 

 [Action: KN/PC/LD] 
7. Museums Galleries Scotland: Recognition Status 
 
 A summary of the School’s case for continuing recognition (following the Mackintosh 

Building fire) as a “Recognised Collection” by Museums Galleries Scotland (MSG) had 
been circulated. It was now understood that this application had been successful. 

 
8. Research Project Report: New Wave 
 
 A report had been circulated on the recent research project New Wave: Materials, 

Methods and Mediums, Glasgow School of Art 1970-1986. This had been a successful 
and well-received project.  

  
9. Archives and Collections: Exhibitions and Loans 
 
 A report on Exhibitions and Loans had been circulated. There were no new loan requests 

to report, although it was likely that a request might be forthcoming from the Dunoon 
Burgh Hall in relation to a set of Bob Stewart ceramic tiles. These tiles had been salvaged 
by GSA from a demolished school, and Dunoon Burgh Hall was now considering 
displaying the tiles as part of an imminent restoration. Given that the School was unlikely 
to be able to display the tiles permanently, the Committee agreed that they be de-
accessioned and donated to Dunoon Burgh Hall if a suitable formal request was received.  

 
10. ACC Acquisitions 
 
 The Committee noted a summary of acquisitions by the Archives and Collections Centre.  
 
11.  Mackintosh Restoration Project: Archives 
 
 It was clear that the Mackintosh Restoration Project would generate a major archive, 

much of which would be in digital form. It would be important for these materials to be 
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well handled and advice would be sought from external experts, e.g. Historic Environment 
Scotland. 

 
12. Dates of Future Meetings 
  
 Friday 20th November 2015 at 1.00pm 
 Friday 5th February 2016 at 1.00pm 
 Friday 20th May 2016 at 1.00pm  

 
 
 
 

 
JM 
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BoG/08.12.15/Paper B4.6 
 
THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
MUSEUM AND ARCHIVE COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes:  20th November 2015  
 
Present:  Professor Alison Yarrington Lay Governor (Chair) 
 Ms Polly Christie Recovery Project Lead  
 Ms Liz Davidson   Senior Project Manager, GSA  
 Professor Ken Neil Head of Research, GSA 
 Ms Victoria Peters Archivist, University of Strathclyde 
 Dr Evelyn Silber Former Director, Hunterian Museum & Art Gallery 
 Ms Alison Stevenson Head of Learning Resources, GSA 
 Mr Peter Trowles  Curator, GSA 
 Ms Susannah Waters  Archivist, GSA 
         
Attending:  Ms Talitha Kotze   Exhibitions Assistant, GSA (for item 2) 
 Mr John Martin   Assistant Secretary to the Board 
  
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
Mr Simon Green, Mr Lewis Prosser, Mr Mike Quigley, Ms Cathie Randall, Dr Sabine 
Wieber  
 

2. Exhibitions Update 
 
 The Committee welcomed Talitha Kotze (representing Jenny Brownrigg), who provided 

an update on the activities of the Exhibitions department. Following the present Grace 
Ndiritu exhibition, forthcoming exhibitions would include those by Rachel Lowther (based 
on research in the GSA Archives on WW1 materials) and Serena Korda. These 
exhibitions would all be accompanied by associated events and also involved invigilator 
training.  

 
 It was noted that the Exhibitions department had amassed a sizeable archive of 

interesting materials over the past 25 years, some of which had recently been passed to 
Archives, with more (including digital material) to follow.  

 
3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 9th October 2015 were approved.  
 

4. Co-ordination of Mackintosh-related Developments 
 
 Further to the discussion at the previous meeting, Professor Neil had met with Polly 

Christie, Sarah McKinnon and Robyne Calvert, to consider possible collaboration with 
external Mackintosh-related projects. While the Mackintosh Restoration project perhaps 
stood alone, the Archives/Collections and Research areas would continue to explore 
possible wider collaborations and, indeed, Robyne Calvert was already seeking funding 
for a major project which would involve linkages with other Mackintosh-related 
developments. It was noted that various Mackintosh sites, including the Willow Tearooms, 
Hill House and Queen’s Cross Church, were likely to be approaching some of the same 
donors as the Mackintosh Building restoration project and that ‘donor fatigue’ might be a 
problem.  
 

 
…………../ 
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5.  Collections  
 
.1 Report from Recovery Project Lead 
 

The Committee noted the report from Polly Christie. In addition to budgetary 
matters (see also .2 below), the report outlined various activities. One possibility 
mentioned in the report was a television documentary on the restoration of the 
Mackintosh Library lights.  
 
It was suggested that all involved in Mackintosh Building restoration and recovery 
activities would benefit from a more straightforward and direct link to details of 
their activities from the home page on the GSA website.  
 

.2 Consultation Meeting with Academic Staff 
 
  

This minute has been withdrawn from the website version on grounds of 
commercial confidentiality. 

 
6. Spaces 
 

.1 Mackintosh Restoration Update 
 

While the minutes of the latest meeting of the Mackintosh Restoration Committee 
(MRC) had not yet been issued, the Senior Project Manager provided an update. 
The ‘multiworks’ contract on the Mackintosh Building was now complete, although  
Taylor and Fraser would remain on site until the next phase of works commenced. 
The early stages of the tender process for the main contractor had begun. An 
initial cost estimate for the entire restoration had been sent to insurers, although 
this estimate was likely to change considerably. As costs and the project budget 
became more firm, the School would need to define costs according to whether 
they would be met by insurers or from funds raised by the School. There remained 
a firm intention for the restoration process to be sufficiently complete in time for 
academic reoccupation of the building in 2018/19, although the design team was 
emphasising that this was a tight timetable. 
 
The remainder of this minute has been withdrawn from the website version on 
grounds of commercial confidentiality. 

 
.2 Formal Opening at Whisky Bond  
 

An event to mark Archives and Collections having decanted to the Whisky Bond 
would be held in January 2016, inclusive of an Open Day. 

 
.3  Report from the Head of Estates 
 
  The Committee noted an update from the Head of Estates. 
 

7. Access Policy 
 
 The Committee noted an updated Access Policy for Archives and Collections.  
 
8. Museum Galleries Scotland: Recognised Collection Status 
 
 The Committee welcomed the formal confirmation from Museum Galleries Scotland 

(MSG) that the Mackintosh Collection would retain its status as a Recognised Collection 
following the Mackintosh Building fire. The MSG letter indicated ‘areas for consideration’, 
including the promotion and future development of the Collection.  
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9. ACC Acquisitions 
 
 The Committee noted a summary of acquisitions by the Archives and Collections Centre.  
  
10. Archives and Collections: Exhibitions and Loans 
 
 A report on Exhibitions and Loans had been circulated. The School had loaned a work by 

Helen Biggar to the ‘Modern Scottish Women: Painters and Sculptors’ exhibition at the 
Scottish National Gallery of Modern Art. 

 
 Further to the discussion at the previous meeting, a formal request from the Dunoon 

Burgh Hall regarding the Bob Stewart ceramic tiles was expected shortly. Contact would 
be made with East Dunbartonshire Council (from whom the tiles had been salvaged) to 
ensure that the Council would have no objection to the tiles being transferred to Dunoon.  

 
11. Dates of Remaining Meetings 2015/16 
  
  Friday 5th February 2016 at 1.00pm 
 Friday 20th May 2016 at 1.00pm  

 
 
 
 

 
JM 
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BoG/08.12.15/Paper B4.7 
 

GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES: 19 November 2015 
 
 

Present:  Dr Janet Brown (Convenor), Ms Janet Allison, Mr John Ayers, , Mr Andrew Kerr, Mr Craig 
Laurie, Mr Brian McDade, Ms Kathy Molloy, Dr Alistair Payne, Professor Christopher Platt, Mr 
Mike Quigley, Professor Johnny Rodger, Mr Ken Ross (Vice Convenor),  Dr Craig Williamson 

 

Attending: Mr Frank Calikes (attending for Dr Paul Chapman), Mr Guillaume Coet, Ms Lesley Coyle 
(attending for Mr David Dalziel), Ms Karena Hansen Nomi (attending for Dr Nicky Bird), Ms 
Barbara Ridley (attending for Professor Irene McAra-McWilliam), Ms Amy Simpson 

 
Secretary:  Ms Amy Moore 
 
Apologies: Dr Nicky Bird, Dr Paul Chapman, Mr David Dalziel, Mr Eliot Leviten, Professor Irene McAra-

McWilliam, Mr Lewis Prosser 
 

 
1516.14 Convenor’s Introduction  

 
The Convenor welcomed the Committee. 

 
 

1516.15 Minutes from Previous Meeting  
 
The Committee approved the minutes from the Occupational Health and Safety Committee 
meeting held on 2 September 2015. 

 
 

1516.16 Matters Arising/ Actions points of last meeting of 2 September  
 
The Convenor reviewed the action points from the meeting of 2 September.  Committee members 
provided updates on items not on the agenda.  

 
 

1516.17 Registrar’s Report 
 
The Registrar reported that there has been good initial progress made on the Health and Safety 
Plan.  However, the Registrar highlighted to the Committee that the emerging the level of support 
required for events and conferences could adversely impact upon achievement of the Health and 
Safety Plan.  The Committee noted that the Registrar had raised this matter with the Executive 
Group, which had undertaken to keep the matter under review.  It was agreed that the Registrar 
would provide an update to the 17 February 2016 meeting of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee. 
 [Action: Registrar] 
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1516.18 P.A.T 2016 and Onwards  

 
The Head of Estates reported on the current arrangements for PAT (Portable Appliance Testing), 
where potential procedural gaps may occur and options for improvement. 
 
The Committee noted the report and agreed that the Director of Finance and Resources should 
raise this with the Executive Group and achieve a resolution.. 

  [Action: Director of Finance and Resources] 
 
 

1516.19 Contract of Employment  
 
The Deputy Head of Human Resources summarised the above detailing that existing staff contracts 
do not explicitly reference Health and Safety.  However, it was referenced within the job 
description and/or role profile.  It was concluded that at this point a change of contract of 
employment for GSA staff was not considered necessary. 
 
 

1516.20 Progress Reports on Planned Delivery 
 

a) Occupational Health and Safety Plan 2015/16   
 

The Health and Safety Officer reported that following the approval of the Occupational Health and 
Safety Plan in October 2015, a significant challenge in delivery remained the balancing of 
competing demands.  It was noted that this challenge was largely owed to the number of events, 
which were often presented at late notice and complex.  To-date the Health and Safety team have 
provided support for sixteen events during 2015/16. 
 
The Health and Safety Officer also provided an update on initial work which has taken place in the 
following areas, 

 
i) Policy: the Student Induction pro forma and associated guidance had been updated with 

assistance from academic staff.  The Health and Safety Team delivered a series of briefing 
sessions supporting the introduction of this material. 

 
ii) Policy: initial work has been carried out on fieldwork, primarily relating to identifying 

benchmarking material within the sector. 
 

iii) Policy: in relation to use of transport, initial work has been carried out to identify 
benchmarking material within the sector and to obtain information on existing procedures 
within GSA for use of vehicles and insurance. 

 
iv) Active Monitoring: the programme for 2015/16 Active Monitoring inspections is scheduled to 

commence at the end of Term 1.  The new location for Archives and Collections was inspected 
in October 2015. 

 
v) Training: sector benchmarking work and internal discussion particularly with the Technical 

Services Department had been completed.  Work has also been carried out on early draft 
formats for the Training Needs Analysis ,with the exercise now targeted for end January 2016.  

 
The Vice Convenor enquired as to who was responsible for the fire risk assessment at Forres.  
The Head of Estates explained that there had previously been visits to Forres to check designs 
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and how to manage the facilities there and that this may have to be managed by a contracted 
company. 
 
The Committee agreed that an update on these arrangements should be provided to the 17 
February 2016  meeting.  

[Action: Head of Estates] 
 
A further discussion was held in relation to travel on GSA business, with particular focus on 
international visits to high risk/threat destinations.  The Deputy Head of Human Resources 
confirmed that there was currently an HR policy which covers staff travel which includes a 
travel risk assessment. 
 
The Head of the Mackintosh School of Architecture highlighted the increasing use and 
importance of fieldwork (local, national, international), as an educational tool.  The Committee 
recognised that as this grows GSA should in due course review the available Health and Safety 
resources to ensure that sufficient support was available to those engaging with such matters. 

 
 
b) Active Monitoring Inspection Programme Schedule 2015/16 
   
The Health and Safety Officer detailed the Active Monitoring Inspection programme for 2015/16, 
with a total of nineteen Active Monitoring Inspections due to be completed during this period .  
Three would be completed during December 2015.  One active monitoring inspection has already 
been completed for Archives and Collection. 

 
c) Fire Risk Assessment Programme Schedule 2015/16  
 
The Head of Estates informed the Committee that fire risk assessments were on schedule for 
2015/16.  To date five fire risk assessments have been complete in the following buildings during 
2015/16. 

 
The Head of Estates noted that fire risk assessment actions would be presented to the Committee 
in future and subsequently sent to the Executive Group, in line with GSA’s reporting policy. 

   [Action: Head of Estates] 
 

Standing Item Reports 
 
 

1516.21 Incident Investigations 
 
No formal investigations have been undertaken during this period. 

 
 

1516.22 Accident Reporting (Summary) 
 
Twenty seven incidents were reported to the Health and Safety team during the period with seven 
incidents involved a minor injury. 
 
There were no incidents reportable under the Reporting of Incidents Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations (RIDDOR) 2013. 
 
A discussion took place in regarding issues relating to fire drills.  The Committee was of the clear 
opinion that fire drills must be carried out to plan, at times reflecting typical occupancy and use and 
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that all staff, students and visitors must evacuate and follow the instructions of fire marshals.  
Limited advance communication to key personnel was recognised as being appropriate in some 
circumstances.   
 
The Committee recommended that the JD Kelly Building should be upgraded to more regular fire 
risk assessment and inspection. 

 [Action: Head of Estates] 
 
The Committee suggested that Health and Safety should consider adopting a similar ticketing 
system to that used by both the Estates and IT departments for the logging of accidents, incidents 
and near misses.  This would be considered by the Health and Safety Officer in due course. 

 
 

1516.23 Active Monitoring Inspection Reports 
 

a) Inspection Programme 2014-15 Second Set of Reporting 
 

The Health and Safety Officer reported on the Inspection Programme 2014/15, which follows on 
from the initial report presented to the July Committee.  It was noted that all active monitoring 
inspections had been completed and reports issued with the exception of Forres (which is due to be 
completed in Term 1 of 2015/6) and 6 Rose Street (to be updated to reflect occupation changes in 
Term 2). 
 
The key themes from the fifteen inspections reported to this meeting were broadly consistent with 
those covered by the initial July report.  Particularly in the following sections of the inspections pro 
forma  
 

 Health and Safety Information (Q1)  

 Induction (Q2)   

 Fire (Q3) 

 First Aid (Q4) 

 Electrical (Q10) 

 Risk Assessment (Q’s 12 (DSE),18(General),19(COSHH),20(Manual Handling) 
 
A list of inspection reports covered by this second report was included as an appendix . 
 
A discussion followed regarding responsibilities for close out of actions within the active monitoring 
reports. The Committee considered that having designated building owners would significantly 
improve closing out actions more efficiently and agreed that the Director of Finance and Resources 
should take a developed proposal regarding this to the Executive Group with a view to resolving 
this matter. 

  [Action: Director of Finance and Resources] 
 

b) AMIP Statistics Paper  
 

The Committee was invited to note the summary of the findings from the fifteen Active Monitoring 
Reports. 

 
c) Active Monitoring Inspection Reports 2014/15 (i –xv) 
 
The Committee was invited to note the fifteen Active Monitoring Reports (i-xv). 

 
d) Active Monitoring Inspection Reports 2015/16 
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The Committee was invited to note the Active Monitoring Report for Archives and collections 
within The Whisky Bond. 

 
1516.24 Fire Risk Assessment Reports (I – v)  2015/16 

 
 The Committee was invited to note the five Fire Risk Assessment Reports (i – v). 

 
The Vice Convenor noted the significant number of High Priority (red) actions within the Fire Risk 
Assessment reports.  The Fire Regulatory Compliance Officer reported that the majority of these 
issues related to management practices likely to be addressed quickly and that issue should reduce 
as staff and student awareness and understanding developed. 
 
The Committee considered that the layout and content of the reports was helpful, particularly the 
inclusion of the Premise Occupational Risk Rating (PORR) table. 
 

 
1516.25 Update on Statutory and Sector Developments  

 
a) Leadership Sector Guidance  

 
The Health and Safety Officer informed the Committee that the new guidance for Higher Education 
Institutions produced by Universities Safety and Health Association (USHA) was formally launched 
on 20 October 2015.  A press release summarising the guidance was included within the papers for 
the meeting.  It was noted that the full guidance document will be submitted to the Executive 
Group for consideration in due course and to the Occupational Health and Safety Committee on 17 
February 2016.  

        [Action: Head of Policy and Governance] 
 

 
b) Health and Safety , Duties of Self Employed Persons  

 
The Health and Safety Officer summarised the Duties of Self Employed Persons in relation to Health 
and Safety detailing changes which came into effect on 1 October 2015 and implement a 2011 
recommendation from Professor Löfstedt’s review of Health and Safety law in the UK. . 

 
The Committee enquired as to where this information would be available to access by staff and 
particularly visiting staff.  It was confirmed that all staff, including visiting staff must be processed 
through Human Resources and receive a full induction.  It was agreed that information on this 
should be incorporated within the visiting staff guidelines. 

 [Action: Head of Human Resources] 
 

1516.26 Review of Studio and Compliance Practice 
 

 The Registrar informed the Committee that good progress was being made on the Studio Review 
Actions. The Committee agreed that this item should remain on the agenda and that all responsible 
persons should provide updates to the Health and Safety Team.  The Health and Safety Officer 
would co-ordinate this matter 
      [Action: Health and Safety Officer] 
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1516.27 Student Guidelines 
  

The Committee were invited to comment on the Student Guidelines – “Do’s & Don’t’s”. There was 
a discussion of the phrase normal hours.  This terminology would remain but the Health and Safety 
Officer would monitor feedback on the guidelines and make necessary adjustments as appropriate. 

 
 The guidelines would be communication in due course and the Health and Safety Officer would 

seek assistance from the Marketing and Communications department in terms of presentation. 
  [Action: Health and Safety Officer] 

  
 

1516.28 Policy Approval 
 
a) Student Induction Checklist  
  
The Committee was asked to approve the Student Induction Checklist. It was noted that the 
induction material did not refer to the terms and conditions which students sign up to particularly 
in relation to potential disciplinary sanction. The Committee’s view was that this would be a useful 
addition to the checklist, guidance and the to the Student “Do’s & Don’ts”. The Committee also 
recommended that a short GSA top level Health and Safety vision summary statement should be 
included in the opening section.    

 
The Committee approved the Student Induction Checklist subject to the above amendments. 

   [Action: Health and Safety Officer] 
 
b) Student Induction Guidance  
  
The Committee was asked to approve the Student Induction Guidance. The Head of Technical 
Support recommended that the phrase “competent technician” in the last sentence in section 4.2 iii 
Electrical Safety should be removed to reflect that such a resource is not currently available from 
the Technical Support Department. 
 
The Committee approved the Student Induction Guidance subject to the amendment above.  

   [Action: Health and Safety Officer] 
 

1516.29 Any Other Business 
 
a) Public Health Guidance 
 
GSA’s approach and arrangements relating to public health advice and wellbeing was discussed.  
This was prompted by a concern about recent public health advice for new students relating to 
vaccination against meningitis.  This broadened out from a concern raised in relation to whether or 
not this public health advice should have prompted GSA to advise that members of staff who were 
under 25 should also be vaccinated. 
  
There was discussion about where information regarding wellbeing and particularly public health 
information for staff and students was held and how it should be communicated. 
 
The Committee agreed that the Head of HR and Head of Student Support and Development should 
discuss this matter and take appropriate action, 

    [Action: Head of HR/Head of Student Support and Development] 
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1516.30 Date of Next Meeting  

 
The next meeting of the Occupational Health and Safety Committee will be held on 17 February 
2016. 
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EXECUTIVE GROUP 
 

1 DECEMBER 2015 
 

REQUIREMENT FOR GSA TO MEET CONSUMER PROTECTION LEGISLATIONS 
 
 
CONTEXT 
 
Following the adoption by the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) of a clear position that consumer 
protection legislation will be actively enforced in the higher education sector, all UK Higher Education 
Providers (HEPs) are focused on reviewing and ensuring the accuracy of information provided to 
prospective applicants, applicants, and student.  By default this also includes the veracity of associated 
processes. 
 
All HEPs must consider the CMA guidance and ensure compliance; making all necessary changes to 
practices, policies, rules and regulations.  The CMA will monitor the sector and commence a review in 
October 2015 to assess compliance with consumer law. 
 
The CMA guidance is attached to this paper.  It is also available at: 
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/428549/HE_providers_-
_advice_on_consumer_protection_law.pdf  
 
 
APPLICABLE LEGISLATION 
 
The following legislation is applicable: 
 

 Consumer Protection from Unfair Trading Regulations 2008 (CPR) 

 Consumer Contracts (Information, Cancellation and Additional Charges) Regulations 2013 (CCR) 

 Unfair Terms in Consumer Contracts Regulations 1999 (UTCCR) 

 Consumer Rights Act 2015 (from October 2015) 
 
Given that most of the above legislation is already in force, HEPs must expedite any necessary changes as 
there is no moratorium on compliance with existing legal requirements. 
 
 
ENFORCING THE LEGISLATION 
 
Action against an HEP can be taken by: 
 

 Law enforcers such, as the Competition and Markets Authority 

 Compliance partners, such as Trading Standards services. 

 HE Sector Bodies, such as the QAA (re Protocol for managing risks to quality). 

 Public Sector Bodies, such as the SPSO (following a student complaint). 

 from individual or groups of impacted parties (e.g. applicants, students). 
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KEY AREAS FOR GSA TO CONSIDER 
 

 Information provision: the requirement to provide clear, accurate, comprehensive and timely 
information to prospective applicants, applicants, and students. 
 

 Terms and conditions: the requirement for terms and conditions that apply to students (etc) to be 
fair and balanced.  HEPs should not rely on terms that could disadvantage students. 
 

 Complaint handling processes and practices: the requirement to ensure that complaint handling 
processes and practices are accessible, clear and fair to students.  

 
 
KEY INFORMATION AT GSA 
 
The following information, which must be accurate and appropriate, is core to GSA meeting its obligations: 
 

 Programme Specifications must be on the GSA website.  This is the case.  However, all Executive 
Group members must ensure that the information provided is correct. 

 

 All other relevant academic and professional service information must be on the GSA website.  
This includes, but is not limited to, facilities, access, charging, and accommodation.  All Executive 
Group members must ensure that this is the case and must ensure that no descriptions of GSA or 
what is available at GSA, in Schools, or from professional services, is inaccurate or misleading, 

 

 The Complaints Procedure is currently available on the GSA website and meets all requirements 
set by CMA.  This is the case. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Based on the CMS summary of requirements it is recommended that GSA take the following action to 
ensure compliance with Consumer Protection Law: 
 

1. All Executive Group members are responsible for ensuring that regarding areas within their remit: 
 

a.  all relevant information is available on the website 
b. that such information is accurate at all times 
c. that any associated processes operate appropriately (e.g. academic selection; non-fee 

charges). 
 [Action: All Executive Group members] 
 

2. The creation of Admissions Terms and Conditions for credit bearing provision, that will be issued to 
applicants at the point of offer.  Registry has undertaken initial work but a GSA-wide group is 
required to ensure that all relevant matters are included, and accurately so.  The proposed group 
is: 

 

 Janet Allison, Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar) - Convenor 

 Head of Research or senior nominee 

 Deputy Heads of Schools (or the Head of School) 

 Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 

 Head of Technical Support 

 Head of Learning Resources 

 Head of Estates 
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 Head of Student Recruitment 

 Head of Professional and Continuing Education 
 
The Registrar, Director of Finance and Resources, and the Director of Marketing, Communications, 
and Strategic Planning will oversee this work and attend as appropriate.  Legal advice will be 
sought, by the Registrar, on the completed terms and conditions. 
 [Action: Executive Group members] 
 
 

3. The creation of Admissions Terms and Conditions for non credit-bearing provision, that will be 
issued to applicants at the point of offer.  This work can be informed by the work above (2) but is 
distinct.  The proposed group is: 

 

 Head of Professional and Continuing Education (Convenor) 

 Deputy Director of Finance and Resources 

 Head of Estates 
 
The Head of Learning and Teaching will oversee this work and attend as appropriate.  Legal advice 
will be sought, by the Head of Learning and Teaching, on the completed terms and conditions. 
 [Action: Head of Learning and Teaching; Director of Finance and Resources] 
 

4. Creation of a fees policy to cover all aspects of deposit payment, payment options, payment 
schedules, a list of fees, protocol for non-payment of fees owed ( e.g. legal proceedings), refunds 
and information on additional fees such as application fees and material costs that may apply 
during the course of study. 
 [Action: Director of Finance and Resources] 
 

5. It is emphasised that all tuition fee and non-tuition fee charges must be explicit and accurate.  
Therefore the separate, on-going, work on additional GSA charges must be completed in order to 
inform the terms and conditions (2 and 3 above) and fees policy (4 above) 
 [Action: Executive Group, with Director of MCSP as Lead] 
 

6. The completed and agreed Terms and Conditions must be easily accessible on the GSA website. 
 [Action: Director of Marketing, Communication and Strategic Planning) 
 

7. Revision of the current offer letter to ensure it provides all information required in relation to CMA 
guidance 
 [Action: Registrar) 
 

ACTION SOUGHT 
 
The Executive Group is invited to: 
 

 consider this paper and review the attached CMA guidance 

  agree and taken forward the recommendations. 
 
 
 
 

Janet Allison Head of Policy and Governance (Deputy Registrar) 
Craig Williamson Registrar and Secretary 
 
25 November 2015 

169 of 182



This page has been left blank



THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS  
8th DECEMBER 2015 
 
THE COUNTER-TERRORISM AND SECURITY ACT 2015 
PREVENT DUTY 
 
Background 
 
Section 26 of the Counter-terrorism and Security Act 2015 places a duty on specified authorities, 
including Higher Education Institutions, to have in the exercise of their functions ‘due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’. This is known as the Prevent duty. 
Statutory guidance on the Prevent duty in Scotland was published in March 2015 and following 
Parliament’s approval of specific guidance for Higher Education Institutions in Scotland the duty 
came into effect on 18th September 2015. 
 
Compliance with the Prevent duty 
 
It is expected that specified authorities, including higher education institutions: 

 Establish mechanisms for understanding the risk of radicalisation 

 Ensure that staff understand the risk and build the capabilities to deal with it 

 Communicate and promote the importance of the duty 

 Ensure that staff implement the duty effectively 
 
In addition Higher Education Institutions must demonstrate: 

 That effective mechanisms are in place to manage the implementation of the statutory duty 

 Productive cooperation with local, sector and national Prevent and counter-terrorism 
arrangements. 

 That procedures and policies are in place and properly followed in the management of 
speakers, events and the use of premises which apply to all staff, students and visitors and 
clearly set out what is required for an event to proceed. It is expected that this will include a 
mechanism for assessing and rating associated risk.  

 Participation in Prevent awareness training and other relevant training developed by or for 
the sector 

 That regard to the Prevent duty is given in the relationship and interaction with student 
unions and societies and that these have due regard for the institutions policies and 
procedures relating to Prevent. 

 That policies relating to the use of IT contain specific reference to the statutory duty. 

 That clear policies and procedures are in place for students and staff working on sensitive or 
extremism related research. 

 That sufficient pastoral support is available to all students. 
 
Sector level activity 
 
The Higher Education Prevent Working Group (HEPWG) was established by the Scottish Universities 
Secretaries Group in February 2015. Reporting to the Secretaries Group its remit is to develop 
guidance to assist Scottish Universities in meeting their statutory duty under the Counter-terrorism 
and Security Act 2015 and to be a forum for sharing good practice in addressing the Prevent duty. 
The Head of the Scottish Preventing Violent Extremism Unit is a member of the Working Group and 
all higher education institutions in Scotland are represented.  
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The Working Group has developed Good Practice Guidance for the sector (extract attached at Annex 
1) and has piloted regional training for key institutional staff which was attended by senior staff from 
GSA. 
 
The HEPWG has agreed to take a common approach to staff training and is working to identify 
appropriate training resources. The group is also seeking to establish a common information sharing 
protocol for use by the sector in meeting the statutory duty. 
 
Progress at GSA 
 
In line with statutory and sector guidance GSA has established a Prevent Group, convened by the 
Registrar. Heads of Schools, the Head of Research, the Head of Policy and Governance and the Head 
of Student Support and Development are core members. Other relevant senior staff and the 
President of the GSA Student Association will be co-opted as appropriate.  It is anticipated that this 
group will meet twice a year for oversight and as required to consider concerns arising.  
 
All Prevent related concerns about individual staff or students will be considered by a sub group of 
the GSA Prevent Group consisting of the Registrar, the Head of Policy and Governance, the Head of 
Student Support and Development and the appropriate Head of School. Where a concern relates to 
a member of staff the Head of Human Resources will be co-opted. Appropriate protocols for raising 
concerns about individuals with the GSA Prevent Group will be put in place. 
 
GSA is currently preparing a detailed implementation plan to ensure compliance with the Prevent 
duty for consideration by the Executive Group in January. 
 
  
The Board of Governors is asked to note the content of this paper. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of Student Support and Development 
November 2015 
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Counter-Terrorism & Security Act 2015 

GOOD 
PRACTICE 
GUIDE
FOR SCOTTISH 
HIGHER EDUCATION  
INSTITUTIONS

Prepared by the Higher Education Prevent Working Group, 
June 2015
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1. Introduction

 1.1  Scottish higher education institutions (HEIs) have a statutory duty, in terms of the Counter-Terrorism &    
   Security Act 2015, ‘to have due regard to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism’. The   
   nature of the statutory duty is explained in Annex 1, which is the statutory guidance issued to accompany the   
   Act.
  
 1.2  It is the responsibility of each HEI to determine what measures it will take to address this statutory duty. This   
   Good Practice Guide has been prepared in order to assist the HEIs in deciding what measures are    
   appropriate and, in doing so, to encourage the adoption of consistent good practice across the Scottish higher   
   education sector, taking account of local needs and of institutional structures and culture.

 1.3  Common to all Scotland’s higher education institutions is a commitment to academic freedom and freedom of   
   expression. Indeed, higher education plays an essential societal role in providing a culture where challenging and  
   controversial views may be expressed. While recognising their responsibility to address the statutory duty, the   
   Scottish HEIs are committed to supporting freedom of expression within the law. 

 1.4  The Good Practice Guide has been compiled by the Higher Education Prevent Working Group, which will keep it  
   under regular ongoing review, informed by examples of good practice from across Scotland. 

2. The Higher Education Prevent Working Group

 2.1  The Higher Education Prevent Working Group was established by the Scottish University Secretaries in February  
   2015. It reports to the Secretaries Group.

 2.2  The Remit of the Working Group is:
 

• To develop guidance to assist the Scottish universities in meeting their statutory duty per the Counter-  
 Terrorism & Security Act 2015; and

• To be a forum for sharing good practice in addressing the statutory duty.

 2.3  Membership of the Working Group is:

• one member from each Scottish HEI, as nominated by the University Secretary or equivalent;

• in addition, four members nominated by AUCSO (the Association of University Chief Security Of cers); and

• the Head of the Scottish Preventing Violent Extremism Unit.

   In addition, representatives of NUS Scotland and UCU Scotland attend the Working Group by invitation.

   The convener of the Working Group is a University Secretary, nominated by the Scottish Secretaries Group.   
   The convener represents the sector as a member of the national multi-agency Prevent sub-group.

 2.4  Annex 2 shows the membership of the HE Prevent Working Group in June 2015, the date on which this Good   
   Practice Guide was published.

3. Managing the Implementation of Good Practice

 3.1  It is essential, in order for the statutory duty to be addressed effectively, that a senior manager in each institution  
   is responsible for implementation, and for observing the Good Practice guidance contained in this document.

 3.2  In each HEI, the University Secretary or equivalent should be responsible for implementation, and also for   
   ensuring that the HEI participates at an appropriate level in local multi-agency CONTEST groups.  S/he will be   
   supported in this role by the institutional member of the HE Prevent Working Group.

 3.3  Each HEI should establish, or identify an existing high-level group (referred to below as the ‘University Prevent   
   Group’) to assume operational responsibility in this area. This will be a small group of senior staff, convened, for   
   example, by the University Secretary, that is responsible for:
   
   3.3.1  maintaining a shared awareness and understanding of the risks of radicalisation within the campus   
    community;

   3.3.2  communicating to relevant staff the requirements and importance of the statutory duty;174 of 182



   3.3.3  ensuring that the statutory duty is addressed effectively; and
   
   3.3.4  making decisions on sensitive matters that may arise in relation to Counter-Terrorism and Security.   
    Examples are:

• deciding what action to take where concerns are raised that a member of the campus community may  
 be being drawn into terrorism; or

• deciding whether to allow a controversial speaker to visit the campus, and on what conditions.

 
 Membership of this group should include: the University Secretary, or equivalent; the HE Prevent WG member, a  
 senior  manager responsibility for campus security and a senior member of academic staff. Other participants should  
 be  co-opted as required for their speci c knowledge. The group will be responsible, through its convener, to the   
 governing body.

4. Guidance on Staff Training

 4.1  The statutory guidance in the Counter-Terrorism & Security Act states that:

• nstitutions should give relevant staff suf cient training to be able to recognise vulnerability to being drawn into  
 terrorism, and be aware of what action to take.’

 4.2  To address this requirement, each HEI will identify those roles within the institution for which training is relevant,   
   and they will make arrangements for the postholders to receive relevant training.  They will be assisted in this   
   by the work of the HE Prevent Working Group, which will organise regional and Scotland-wide training events and  
   make recommendations on suitable training materials.

 4.3  Relevant postholders will fall into two categories:

   4.3.1   Staff who have a management role; either in the provision of welfare advice and support to students,   
     or in the oversight of security on campus.  For those staff, the HE Prevent Working Group will:

• arrange inter-institutional training events, in which all relevant staff will be expected to participate; and

• review available training materials on a continuing basis, and recommend the material that appears   
 best-suited to this group of staff.

   4.3.2   Staff who do not have a management role, but who ought to have a general understanding of the statutory  
     duty and the way in which it impacts on their institution. The HE Prevent Working Group will    
     recommend to HEIs relevant brie ng material, including on-line material, that should be made available to  
     these staff as part of their regular induction and training.

 4.4  Staff referred to in 4.3.2 above will be employed in a range of functions, as: academic advisors, campus security  
   of cers, equality & diversity of cers, events organisers, health & safety of cers, HR managers, interfaith   
   chaplains, IT services of cers, media/communications of cers, student residence managers, student counsellors.  

 4.5  Staff training will include guidance on information sharing (see Section 8 below).

5. Guidance on Safety Online

 5.1  Every HEI must have a policy on the acceptable use of IT facilities and, as a condition of using these facilities, all  
   users must explicitly agree to observe the policy. 

 5.2  The policy should make speci c reference to the institution’s statutory Counter-Terrorism duty.  

 5.3  The IT regulations should state that the HEI may monitor IT use, in order to ensure that this use is compliant with  
   the law and with the University’s acceptable use policy.

 5.4  Where, in the course of monitoring the use of IT facilities, a concern is identi ed regarding access to terrorism-  
   related material by a member of staff or a student, this should be reported to the University Secretary, who should  
   decide on appropriate action in consultation with the members of the University Prevent Group (3.3 above).

 5.5  Web ltering is a tool that may be used as a means of monitoring access, whereby visits to websites that breach  
   policy are logged but access is granted, or as a means of denying access to websites that breach policy.
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  To date, Scottish HEIs have been reluctant to adopt a policy of web ltering, in view of the potential negative impact   
  on  academic research.  It would be advisable for the institution to take its lead in this area from the Higher Education  
  IT Directors in Scotland group (HEIDS), which has kept the topic under review and which, if web ltering were   
  considered appropriate by an HEI, could advise on the most appropriate ltering tool

  If web ltering is applied by the institution, then staff and students must be informed of this. 

 5.6  A member of staff or a student may wish to access terrorism-related material a part of a legitimate piece of   
   academic research.  In this situation, the institution should follow the guidance contained in Universities UK’s   
   guidance on ‘Oversight of security-sensitive research material in UK universities’ (Annex 3). In particular:

• ethical approval for the research must be obtained through the HEI’s established Ethics approval process;

• xplicit approval must also be obtained from the member of staff’s academic line-manager; and

• robust central storage arrangements must be put in place so that the material may be accessed only by   
 the relevant member of academic staff.

6. Guidance on Management of Speakers at Events

 6.1  The statutory guidance requires institutions to have in place policies and procedures for the management of   
   speakers and events.

 6.2  Freedom of speech within the law is fundamental to the work of an institution of higher education. Policies and   
   procedures on the management of speakers and events must recognise this, in the way they are framed and   
   in the way they are implemented. 

 6.3  While upholding the fundamental importance of freedom of speech, institutions may nevertheless require to place  
   conditions on certain speakers or events, or indeed to refuse to allow them on campus. This should be done only  
   in exceptional circumstances, and where the institution, having considered carefully the available    
   information, believes that there is a serious risk that the speaker or event will breach the law and/or will pose a   
   signi cant risk to the wellbeing of students, staff or visitors.

 6.4  Procedures for the management of speakers and events must:

• clarify that the organisers of events are responsible for assisting the institution in addressing its statutory duty;

• establish clearly who has authority for agreeing to the provision of campus accommodation for a speaker or   
 event;

• encompass all activities taking place on the campus, whether organised by institutional managers, by other   
 members of staff, by students, or by a third party;

• include arrangements for managing any institutional events that are run by the institution but housed in   
 external premises;

• include a clear protocol for escalating decisions to senior staff where they are controversial or dif cult;

• require decisions on controversial speakers and events to be made by the University Prevent Group, to be   
 articulated and recorded clearly, and to be made in relation to an established set of criteria;

• address the need to ensure that speakers on campus are not prevented, by aggressive or intimidating   
 behaviour, from communicating with their audience;

• require that the senior manager responsible for campus security should participate in decisions on    
 controversial speakers and events, and should liaise with the Police where appropriate.

• involve effective cooperation with the student union.

 6.5  Through AUCSO (Association of University Chief Security Of cers), HEIs should share their experience in the   
   management of controversial speakers and events. 

 6.6  Annex 4 is UK-wide guidance on external speakers, as prepared by Universities UK. 
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7. Guidance on Provision of Welfare and Pastoral Support

 7.1  All HEIs have a duty of care to their students. They must have early warning systems in place to alert them when  
   students are experiencing dif culties in their student life, and they must ensure that effective sources of advice   
   and support are available when students need help.  

 7.2  Effective advice and support should be provided to students according to their needs, and typically would cover   
   the following areas:

• academic study support;

• health and wellbeing;

• personal counselling;

• nancial advice;

• advice on immigration and visas;

• faith support; 

• support from other students (through student union or association); and

• life in student residences.

 7.3  All staff and students should be made aware that, should they have concerns regarding the wellbeing of a   
   student, they can raise these in con dence with a member of staff. 

 7.4  Staff who are engaged in the provision of advice to students should be made aware that, should they have   
   concerns that a student may be being drawn into terrorism, they should raise these with the University Secretary  
   or equivalent, who will then discuss the concern with the University Prevent Group. 

 7.5  All staff who have a front-line role in providing welfare advice and support to students should be briefed on the   
   institution’s statutory duty as part of their essential training for the role (see 3.2 above).

 7.6  Where the institution provides interfaith facilities there must be clear policies and procedures governing their use.  
   A senior member of staff should be responsible for the management of these facilities.

8. Information Sharing

 8.1  Where a member of the campus community is concerned about the wellbeing of a student or member of staff,   
   s/he may want to share personal information about this person with relevant staff whose role is to provide support  
   in such circumstances. Higher education staff can generally disclose information about a student to    
   enable another member of staff to do their job, in line with the institution’s data protection policies. Whenever in   
   doubt, advice should be taken from the institution’s Data Protection Of cer.

 8.2  Similarly, an institution may wish to share personal information about a student or member of staff with a third   
   party, because of concerns regarding the person’s wellbeing. Decisions to share information with a third party   
   should be taken by the University Prevent Group and in line with the institution’s data protection policies. Again,   
   advice should be taken from the institution’s Data Protection Of cer.

 8.3  With a view to ensuring suitable protection of personal data, the HEIs will seek as a group to establish a formal   
   information sharing protocol with Police Scotland.

9. Guidance on Effective Liaison with Student Unions

 9.1  The counter-terrorism statutory duty does not apply directly to student unions where they are constituted as   
   independent charitable bodies. However, their cooperation with the HEI will be important in helping it address its  
   statutory duty.  

 9.2  Each HEI must be clear with its student union about the duties placed on the institution by the Counter-Terrorism  
   & Security Act, and the assistance it seeks from the student union in addressing its statutory duty.
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 9.3  Particular areas in which institutions should seek cooperation from their student unions are:

   9.3.1   Management of speakers and events. HEIs must ensure that their student unions work in partnership with  
     them in relation to controversial speakers and events. Unions may, as independent charitable bodies, wish  
     to establish their own protocol for making decisions on controversial speakers and events organised by   
     student societies. It is possible though that, where a student union supports a particular speaker or event,  
     the institution may nevertheless be unwilling to allow the event to take place on campus.  

   9.3.1   Provision of welfare and pastoral support. Student unions are often better placed than institutional staff   
    to provide welfare and pastoral support to students. Where in the course of this work, student of cers   
    have concerns that a student may be being drawn into terrorism, they should be encouraged to raise this   
    concern in con dence with the University Secretary or equivalent, who would refer it to the University   
    Prevent Group for consideration.

   9.3.1   Training. Where student union staff or elected of cers are engaged in the provision of welfare and pastoral  
    support, the institution should invite them to attend Prevent training.

10. Ongoing Review of the Good Practice Guide

 10.1  After its initial work in preparing this Good Practice Guide, the HE Prevent Working Group will meet twice per year  
   to address its continuing role as a forum for good practice in addressing the statutory duty.  As part of that role,   
   the Group will regularly review the terms of this Good Practice Guide, and will update it as appropriate to effect   
   improvements and to re ect changing circumstances.

HE Prevent Working Group, 26 June 2015
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BoG 
08.12.15 

Paper B7 
 
 
The Glasgow School of Art 
 
Board of Governors, 8th December 2015 
 
 
Equality Challenge Unit 
 
Governors may be interested in a recent report by the Equality Challenge Unit, entitled 
Governing bodies, equality and diversity in Scottish higher education institutions. 
 
This is a lengthy document, so copies have been sent separately to Governors. The report is 
also available at the following web address:  
 
http://www.ecu.ac.uk/publications/governing-bodies-equality-and-diversity-in-scottish-higher-
education-institutions/ 
 
 
 
 
 
John Martin 
December 2015 
 

179 of 182

http://www.ecu.ac.uk/publications/governing-bodies-equality-and-diversity-in-scottish-higher-education-institutions/
http://www.ecu.ac.uk/publications/governing-bodies-equality-and-diversity-in-scottish-higher-education-institutions/


This page has been left blank



THE GLASGOW SCHOOL OF ART 
 
 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
 

8 December 2015 
 
 

 
Agenda for the Annual General Meeting of the Glasgow School of Art to be held in 
the Reid Building, 167 Renfrew Street, Glasgow on Tuesday 8 December 2015, 
immediately after the conclusion of the Board of Governors meeting on the same 
date. 
 

 
 

        
   
1. To receive the Audited Annual Report and Accounts for year 

ended 31 July 2015* 
 

  
 

 

2. To consider reappointment of the External Auditors   
   
 
 

*As circulated with the Board papers 
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